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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this
announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.

SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL
CORPORATION

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(STOCK CODE: 0981)

ANNOUNCEMENT OF UNAUDITED INTERIM RESULTS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011

HIGHLIGHTS
Financial

e Sales increased by 0.4% from US$720.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010 to US$722.9 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2011, primarily due to increase in wafer shipments.

e The Company’s gross profit was US$119.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to gross profit of US$108.9
million for the six months ended June 30, 2010.

e The Company had a net income attributable to holders of ordinary shares of US$6.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011
compared to a net loss of US$85.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010.

Operational

e The number of wafers the Company shipped decreased by 2.4%, from 945,654 8-inch wafer equivalents to 922,783 8-inch wafer
equivalents, between these two periods.

e This announcement is made pursuant to the disclosure obligations under Rule 13.09(1) of The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as the Company made the press release, reproduced below, on August 29,
2011.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dear Shareholders,

We are very honored to be SMIC’s newly appointed Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. One of our major priorities is to ensure that the
board, management, and all employees are working together cohesively and effectively in best serving our valued customers and maximizing
shareholder value. Our primary target remains unchanged, which is to achieve sustainable profitability while maintaining our momentum in
technology development.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to express sorrow for the loss of our former Chairman Jiang Shang Zhou and sincere gratitude for his
dedication to SMIC. We are also happy to welcome Professor Lawrence Juen-Yee Lau and Mr. Frank Meng to our Board.

During the first half of 2011, China Investment Corporation (or “CIC”) invested $250 million in SMIC, becoming our second largest shareholder.
Following this announcement, Datang, our largest shareholder, also supported us by expressing their intention to exercise its pre-emptive right
by investing additional $58 million for convertible preferred shares and pre-emptive warrants. We welcome our new and existing shareholders
and greatly appreciate their confidence in our future execution. These capital injections will further help SMIC to expand its technology
roadmap and strengthen our foothold as one of the leading foundries globally.

We are aware that some investors may have experienced uncertainty or anxiety due to recent events, and we sincerely apologize on behalf of the
Board, but we also want to reassure you that none of our operations were interrupted. In addition, the management has been working vigorously
in collaborating and in communicating with our customers, suppliers, banks, and investors. We are working to rebuild shareholder value by
focusing on our value-added strengths and opportunities.

Given its crucial role in China’s semiconductor industry with its advanced node foundry capability, SMIC’s position in China provides ample
opportunities, meanwhile, it remains independent and international to capture market share globally, and to grow its value.

We recognize the recent macroeconomic turmoil and the need to be equipped for the worst, so we are preparing for a long industry downturn.
We will work to implement cost reduction and speed up technology and new product development, and we will pay special attention to refining
our mature processes and products. We are determined to achieve company-wide unity and to focus on growth and development; putting in full
effort and solid performance to create concrete results, in order to quickly create a new phase of stability, harmony, and progress.

We appreciate your continued support and trust, as we continue to execute for shareholder value.

Zhang Wenyi Tzu-Yin Chiu
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Shanghai, China
August 29, 2011
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RESULTS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation (the “Company”) would like to announce the
unaudited interim results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries for the six months ended June 30, 2011, and would like to express
their gratitude to the shareholders and their staff for the support of the Company.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

(in US$ thousands, except share data)
(unaudited)

Six months ended June 30,
2011 2010

Cost of sales 603,898 611,170

Oieratini exienses iincome i:

General and administrative 10,494 31,275
Other oieratini income i441 231
Total operating expenses, net 127,005 143,778
estomopermions | awm camy

Other income i exiense i:
Others, net 3,233 i14,709i

Loss from continuing operations before income tax

and eiuiti investment i4,722i i90,203i
Gain iloss i from eiuiti investment 2,094 i 3 14i
Income ilossi from discontinued oierations net of tax effect 14,741 i3,715i

Accretion of interest to noncontrolling interest 658 521

Income (loss) attributable to ordinary shares

— discontinued operations $14,457 $(3,715

— discontinued operations $284 —

— continuini oierations $i 0.00i $i 0.00i
— net income $0.00 $(0.00

N
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— discontinued operations $0.00
— net income $0.00
Weighted average shares used in calculating basic and
diluted earnings (loss) per ordinary share 27,401,260,769
Weighted average shares used in calculating basic and diluted
537,895,272

earnings per Convertible Preferred Share
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

—3-

22,438,779,149
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010

(in US$ thousands, except share data)
(unaudited)

June 30, December 31,
2011 2010

Current assets:

Restricted cash 184,808 161,350

Inventories 196,876 213,404

Total current assets 1,241,781 1,179,102

Plant and equipment, net 2,665,092 2,351,863

Other long-term assets 132,093 119,109

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Accounts payable 448,321 515,577

Short-term borrowings 712,423 372,055

Current portion of long-term debt 251,486 333,459

Long-term liabilities:

Chemsoynoss assem

Long-term debt 182,122 178,596

 omerlmgwmiaics  esm osom

Total long-term liabilities 286,603 294,806

Noncontrolling interest 3,602 39,004

Equity:

Convertible preferred shares 44

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 694 1,092

Total equit; 2,433,544 2,169,538

Net current liabilities 339,264 220,243

o ‘
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (LOSS)

For the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

(in US$ thousands, except share data)
(unaudited)

Common Stock

Share

Exercise of employee stock options 120,931,576

Issuance of warrants

Net Income _

Balance at June 30, 2011 27,454,995,323

Exercise of employee stock options 104,372,868

Net loss —
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4t Quarter (October 1 - December 31)
3" Quarter (July 1 - September 30)
2" Quarter (April 1 - June 30)

1% Quarter (January 1 - March 31)

2010
High Low
4t Quarter (October 1 - December 31) $ 1437 $ 11.74
3 Quarter (July 1 - September 30) $ 1373 § 11.03
2" Quarter (April 1 - June 30) $ 1584 $ 1152
1%t Quarter (January 1 - March 31) $ 1556 $ 13.10

Dividend Policy

We do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock. We anticipate that we will retain all of our future earnings, if any, for the
repayment of our indebtedness and for general corporate purposes, including the development and expansion of our business. Any determination
to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent on then-existing conditions, including our
financial condition and results of operations, contractual restrictions, including restricting covenants contained in our credit facilities, capital
requirements and other factors.

In addition, pursuant to certain covenants governing our senior credit facility and notes, we are subject to certain restrictions on our ability
to pay dividends.

37
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph below shows the cumulative total stockholder return, assuming the investment of $100, for the period beginning on
December 11, 20009, the first trading day of KAR Auction Services' common stock, and ending on December 31, 2011, on each of KAR Auction
Services' common stock, the Standard & Poor's 400 Midcap Index and the Standard and Poor's Smallcap 600 Index. Our stock price
performance shown in the following graph is not indicative of future stock price performance.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return

Base Period

Company/Index 12/11/2009 12/31/2009 12/31/2010 12/31/2011

KAR Auction Services, Inc. $ 100 $ 11463 $ 11471 $ 11222

S&P 400 Midcap Index $ 100 $ 10294 $ 12852  $ 124.54

S&P Smallcap 600 Index $ 100 $ 104.86 $ 131.05 $ 130.85
38
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations," the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto of KAR Auction Services, Inc. and other
financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Selected Financial Data of KAR Auction Services
For the Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007

The following consolidated financial data for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is based on our audited
financial statements. We were incorporated on November 9, 2006, but had no operations in 2006 or for the period of January 1 through April 19,
2007. On April 20, 2007, we consummated a merger agreement with ADESA, Inc. and as part of the related transactions, ADESA and IAA
became, directly or indirectly, our wholly owned subsidiaries.

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 (1)
Operations:
Operating revenues
ADESA $ 10174 $ 10759 $ 10885 $ 11,1234 § 677.7
IAA 700.1 610.4 553.1 550.3 330.1
AFC (2) 168.8 136.3 93.9 102.3 98.3
Total operating revenues $ 18863 $ 18226 $ 17355 $ 17760 $ 1,106.1
Operating expenses (exclusive of depreciation and amortization and
impairment charges) (2) 1,424.6 1,382.5 1,367.8 1,441.3 873.1
Goodwill and other intangibles impairment 164.4
Operating profit (loss) 281.9 268.8 195.3 (12.5) 106.4
Interest expense 143.1 141.4 172.6 215.2 162.3
Income (loss) from continuing operations 90.0 69.6 232 (216.2) (38.3)
Net income (loss) 72.2 69.6 23.2 (216.2) (38.3)
Net income (loss) per share
Basic 0.53 0.52 0.21 (2.02) (0.36)
Diluted 0.52 0.51 0.21 (2.02) (0.36)
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic 136.0 134.9 108.0 106.9 106.7
Diluted 137.8 135.9 108.1 106.9 106.7
At December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Financial Position:
Working capital (3) $ 1770 $ 2879 §$ 299.5 $ 3043 $ 442.1
Total assets 4,779.1 4,525.0 4,251.3 4,157.6 4,530.8
Total debt, net of unamortized debt discount 1,902.8 1,875.7 2,272.9 2,527.4 2,616.7
Total stockholders' equity 1,343.2 1,244.6 1,141.5 750.7 1,013.6
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Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 (1)
Other Financial Data:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 3058 $ 4676 $ 2508 $ 2249 $ 968
Capital expenditures 85.8 78.9 65.6 129.6 62.7
Depreciation and amortization 179.8 171.3 172.4 182.8 126.6
)]

We had no operations prior to the merger transactions on April 20, 2007; as such, this data represents the period from April 20, 2007
through December 31, 2007.

@
Prior to 2011, certain AFC fees collected from customers were netted against cost of services, as well as certain selling, general and
administrative expenses. Such fees included lot check fees, filing fees and postage fees, each of which are charged to and collected
from AFC's customers. Beginning in 2011, these fees were included in revenue with the corresponding costs reflected in their
respective expense categories, resulting in an increase to revenue, as well as an increase to the related expenses for all periods
presented. Prior year amounts have been revised to reflect these changes.

3

Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the "Selected
Financial Data" and the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 and which are subject to certain risks, trends and uncertainties. In particular, statements made in this report on Form 10-K that are not
historical facts (including, but not limited to, expectations, estimates, assumptions and projections regarding the industry, business, future
operating results, potential acquisitions and anticipated cash requirements) may be forward-looking statements. Words such as "should," "may,"
"will," "anticipates," "expects," "intends," "plans," "believes," "seeks," "estimates," and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements.
Such statements, including statements regarding our future growth; anticipated cost savings, revenue increases and capital expenditures; strategic
initiatives, greenfields and acquisitions; our competitive position; and our continued investment in information technology are not guarantees of
future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results projected,
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited
to, those discussed in Item 1A "Risk Factors" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of these factors include:

non non non

fluctuations in consumer demand for and in the supply of used, leased and salvage vehicles and the resulting impact on

auction sales volumes, conversion rates and loan transaction volumes;

trends in new and used vehicle sales and incentives, including wholesale used vehicle pricing;

the ability of consumers to lease or finance the purchase of new and/or used vehicles;

the ability to recover or collect from delinquent or bankrupt customers;

30
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economic conditions including fuel prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rate fluctuations;

trends in the vehicle remarketing industry;

40
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changes in the volume of vehicle production, including capacity reductions at the major original equipment manufacturers;

increases in the number of used and salvage vehicles purchased on virtual auction platforms;

the introduction of new competitors;

laws, regulations and industry standards, including changes in regulations governing the sale of used vehicles, the processing
of salvage vehicles and commercial lending activities;

changes in the market value of vehicles auctioned, including changes in the actual cash value of salvage vehicles;

competitive pricing pressures;

costs associated with the acquisition of businesses or technologies;

litigation developments;

our ability to successfully implement our business strategies or realize expected cost savings and revenue enhancements;

our ability to develop and implement information systems responsive to customer needs;

business development activities, including acquisitions and integration of acquired businesses;

the costs of environmental compliance and/or the imposition of liabilities under environmental laws and regulations;

weather;

general business conditions;

our substantial amount of debt;

restrictive covenants in our debt agreements;

our assumption of the settlement risk for vehicles sold;

any impairment to our goodwill or other intangible assets;
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our self-insurance for certain risks;

any losses of key personnel;

interruptions to service from our workforce;

changes in effective tax rates;

changes to accounting standards; and

other risks described from time to time in our filings with the SEC, including the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to be filed
by us in 2012.

Many of these risk factors are outside of our control, and as such, they involve risks which are not currently known that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those discussed or implied herein. The forward-looking statements in this document are made as of the date on
which they are made and we do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements.

Our future growth depends on a variety of factors, including our ability to increase vehicle sold volumes and loan transaction volumes,
expand our product and service offerings including information systems development, acquire and integrate additional business entities, manage

expansion, control costs in our operations, introduce fee increases, and retain our executive officers and key employees.

41
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Certain initiatives that management considers important to our long-term success include projects involving substantial capital investment in
e-business, information technology, facility relocations and expansions, as well as operating initiatives designed to enhance overall efficiencies,
all of which have significant risks associated with their execution, and could take several years to yield any direct monetary benefits.
Accordingly, we cannot predict whether our growth strategy will be successful. In addition, we cannot predict what portion of overall sales will
be conducted through online auctions or other remarketing methods in the future and what impact this may have on our auction business.

Overview

We provide whole car and salvage auction services in North America. Our business is divided into three reportable business segments, each
of which is an integral part of the vehicle remarketing industry: ADESA Auctions, IAA and AFC.

The ADESA Auctions segment serves an international customer base through online auctions and through 69 whole car
auction facilities in North America, that are developed and strategically located to draw professional sellers and buyers
together and allow the buyers to inspect and compare vehicles remotely or in person. Online auctions include OPENLANE,
a leader in internet-based remarketing solutions, and allow the Company to offer vehicles for sale from any location.
Vehicles at ADESA's auctions are typically sold by commercial fleet operators, financial institutions, rental car companies,
used vehicle dealers and vehicle manufacturers and their captive finance companies to franchised and independent used
vehicle dealers. ADESA also provides value-added ancillary services including inspections, storage, transportation,

reconditioning and titling and other administrative services.

The IAA segment consisted of salvage vehicle auctions and related services provided at 159 sites in North America at
December 31, 2011. The salvage auctions facilitate the remarketing of damaged or low value vehicles designated as total
losses by insurance companies and charity donation vehicles, as well as recovered stolen (or theft) vehicles. The salvage
auction business specializes in providing services such as transportation, titling, salvage recovery and claims settlement

administrative services.

The AFC segment provides short-term, inventory-secured financing, known as floorplan financing, primarily to independent
used vehicle dealers. At December 31, 2011, AFC conducted business at 103 locations in North America.

The holding company is maintained separately from the three reportable segments and includes expenses associated with the corporate
office, such as salaries, benefits, and travel costs for our management team, certain human resources, information technology and accounting
costs, and certain insurance, treasury, legal and risk management costs. Holding company interest expense includes the interest expense incurred
on the corporate debt structure. Intercompany charges relate primarily to interest on intercompany debt or receivables and certain information
technology costs allocated by the holding company.

Industry Outlook and Trends
Whole Car

In 2010 and 2011, the North American whole car auction industry experienced supply shortages as a result of the impacts felt by the
automotive industry over the last three years, including volatility in new vehicle sales, lease originations and repossessions. The supply shortages
resulted in a decline in whole car auction volume compared to prior years. Used vehicles sold in North America through whole car auctions were
9.1 million, 8.4 million and an estimated 7.7 million (excluding approximately 0.3 million used vehicles sold by OPENLANE in 2011) in 2009,
2010, and 2011, respectively. The supply
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shortages and resulting decline in industry auction volumes reflect a reduction in units sold by institutional consignors. This reduction has been
partially offset by an increase in dealer consignment units sold in 2010 and 2011.

Other reasons for the decline in industry volumes, which may also impact future volumes include:

A decline in new car sales from 17.0 million in 2005 to 10.4 million in 2009. Although new car sales have climbed over the
last two years to approximately 12.8 million units in 2011, they are not anticipated to return to 2005 levels for the

foreseeable future.

The drop in total new vehicle sales in 2008 and 2009, coupled with a tightening of consumer credit and changing policies
regarding delinquent loans by the major lenders, resulted in a decline in repossessed vehicles coming to auction.

Lease residuals are currently below wholesale vehicle values. As a result, more vehicles are purchased upstream by the
consumer and the grounding dealer or by dealers in online auctions, prior to the vehicles being transported to a physical

auction.

More dealers are choosing to sell the trade-ins they receive rather than remarket them through whole car auctions. As used
vehicle prices have increased over the last few years, dealers have shifted to sell more used vehicles, which can generate
better margins than new car sales. These dealers can also make money on the used units by providing future maintenance as

well as finance and insurance services.

There was a reduction in the number of lease originations in 2008 and 2009. We believe this decline will continue to
negatively impact the supply of off-lease vehicles available at auction in 2012 and this trend could continue beyond 2012.

Based on the factors discussed above, we estimate that used vehicle auction volumes in North America, including units sold by
OPENLANE, will be approximately 8 million units in 2012, approach 8.4 million units in 2013 and are expected to reach nearly 9 million units
by 2015.

Salvage

Vehicles deemed a total loss by automobile insurance companies represent the largest category of vehicles sold in the salvage vehicle
auction industry. As vehicles become increasingly more complex with additional enhancements, such as airbags and electrical components, they
are more costly to repair following an accident and insurance companies are more likely to declare a damaged vehicle a total loss. The
percentage of claims resulting in total losses is estimated at 13.9% for 2011, down slightly from 2010. There is no central reporting system that
tracks the number of total loss vehicles in any given year which makes estimating industry volumes very difficult.

Automotive Finance

In 2008 and 2009, the overall economy and in particular the automotive finance industries faced pressures, which negatively affected the
used vehicle dealer base. More than 6,300 independent dealers went out of business during 2008 and 2009, representing almost a 15% reduction
in the independent dealer base. Used vehicle dealers experienced a significant decline in sales which resulted in a decrease in consumer auto
loan originations and an increased number of dealers defaulting on their loans, which increased credit losses. In addition, the value of recovered
collateral on defaulted loans was impacted to some degree by the volatility in the vehicle pricing market. To the extent these negative trends
recur, they could have a material adverse impact on AFC's results of operations.

Despite the negative factors and trends that impacted the automotive finance industry in 2008 and 2009, AFC's financial results have
steadily improved since that time. AFC implemented a number of strategic initiatives in 2008 and early 2009 designed to tighten credit standards
and reduce risk and
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exposure in its portfolio of finance receivables. These initiatives have resulted in a substantial ongoing improvement in the aging of the managed
portfolio, which was approximately 99 percent current at December 31, 2011. In addition, AFC's managed portfolio of finance receivables grew
approximately 14 percent from $771.6 million at December 31, 2010 to $883.2 million at December 31, 2011.

Seasonality

The volume of vehicles sold at our auctions generally fluctuates from quarter to quarter. This seasonality is caused by several factors
including weather, the timing of used vehicles available for sale from selling customers, the availability and quality of salvage vehicles,
holidays, and the seasonality of the retail market for used vehicles, which affects the demand side of the auction industry. Used vehicle auction
volumes tend to decline during prolonged periods of winter weather conditions. In addition, mild weather conditions and decreases in traffic
volume can each lead to a decline in the available supply of salvage vehicles because fewer traffic accidents occur, resulting in fewer damaged
vehicles overall. As a result, revenues and operating expenses related to volume will fluctuate accordingly on a quarterly basis. The fourth
calendar quarter typically experiences lower used vehicle auction volume as well as additional costs associated with the holidays and winter
weather.

Sources of Revenues and Expenses

Our revenue is derived from auction fees and related services at our whole car and salvage auctions, and from dealer financing fees and
interest income at AFC. Although auction revenues primarily include the auction services and related fees, our related receivables and payables
include the gross value of the vehicles sold.

Prior to January 1, 2010, AFC's net revenue consisted primarily of securitization income and interest and fee income less provisions for
credit losses. Securitization income was primarily comprised of the gain on sale of finance receivables sold, but also included servicing income,
discount accretion, and any change in the fair value of the retained interest in finance receivables sold. Accounting Standards Update 2009-16

amended ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing, and we adopted the guidance on January 1, 2010. As a result of adopting the guidance, our
consolidated statement of income no longer reflects securitization income, but instead reports interest and fee income, provision for credit losses
and other income associated with our securitized finance receivables, in the same line items in our statement of income as non-securitized
receivables. Interest expense associated with the related obligation is now recorded below operating profit as "Interest expense" in our
consolidated statement of income. Additionally, we no longer record a gain on sale for securitization activity since finance receivables
securitized no longer receive gain on sale treatment.

Prior to 2011, certain AFC fees collected from customers were netted against cost of services, as well as certain selling, general and
administrative expenses. Such fees included lot check fees, filing fees and postage fees, each of which are charged to and collected from AFC's
customers. At December 31, 2011, these fees were included in revenue with the corresponding costs reflected in their respective expense
categories, resulting in an increase to "Other revenue" as well as an increase to the related expenses for prior periods presented.

Our operating expenses consist of cost of services, selling, general and administrative and depreciation and amortization. Cost of services is
composed of payroll and related costs, subcontract services, supplies, insurance, property taxes, utilities, maintenance and lease expense related
to the auction sites and loan offices. Cost of services excludes depreciation and amortization. Selling, general and administrative expenses are
composed of payroll and related costs, sales and marketing, information technology services and professional fees.
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Results of Operations

Overview of Results of KAR Auction Services for the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Year Ended

December 31,
(Dollars in millions except per share amounts) 2011 2010
Revenues
ADESA $ 10174 $ 1,0759
IAA 700.1 610.4
AFC 168.8 136.3
Total revenues 1,886.3 1,822.6
Cost of services™ 1,035.2 1,007.3
Gross profit* 851.1 815.3
Selling, general and administrative 389.4 375.2
Depreciation and amortization 179.8 171.3
Operating profit 281.9 268.8
Interest expense 143.1 141.4
Other income, net 4.7) (2.1)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 53.5 32.7
Income before income taxes 90.0 96.8
Income taxes 17.8 27.2
Net income $ 722 $ 69.6
Net income per share
Basic $ 053 $ 0.52
Diluted $ 052 $ 0.51

Exclusive of depreciation and amortization

For the year ended December 31, 2011, we had revenue of $1,886.3 million compared with revenue of $1,822.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010, an increase of 3%. For a further discussion of revenues, gross profit and selling, general and administrative expenses, see
the segment results discussions below.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased $8.5 million, or 5%, to $179.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with
$171.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase was representative of increased amortization resulting from certain assets
placed in service during 2010 and 2011. In addition, OPENLANE had $3.8 million of depreciation and amortization in the fourth quarter of
2011.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $1.7 million, or 1%, to $143.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with $141.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase in interest expense was primarily the result of the second quarter 2011 recognition of
$14.5 million in additional interest expense related to the settlement and termination of our $650 million notional swap agreement, which was
used to hedge interest payments on Old Term Loan B. Partially offsetting the increase was a decrease in interest expense as a result of
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debt in the fourth quarter of 2010, the prepayments of $450.0 million aggregate principal amount outstanding on our fixed senior notes and
$131.1 million aggregate principal amount outstanding on our senior subordinated notes, and the termination of our $1,144.6 million Old Term
Loan B in the second quarter of 2011.

Other Income

Other income was $4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2010.
In 2011, we reversed contingent consideration of approximately $4.6 million related to certain prior year acquisitions based on revised forecasts
which indicated the unit volumes required during the measurement period in order for the contingent consideration to become payable would not
be met. This increase was partially offset by foreign currency transaction losses for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with foreign
currency transaction gains for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

In May 2011, we terminated our previous credit facility, dated as of April 20, 2007. In addition, in June 2011, we prepaid the
$450.0 million aggregate principal amount outstanding on our fixed senior notes and the $131.1 million aggregate principal amount outstanding
on our senior subordinated notes with proceeds received from New Term Loan B and cash on hand. In the second quarter of 2011, we recorded a
$24.5 million pretax charge representative of the write-off of certain unamortized debt issuance costs associated with our Old Term Loan B. In
the second quarter of 2011, we also recorded a $29.0 million pretax charge representative of the net premiums payable related to the repurchase
of our fixed senior notes and the senior subordinated notes, the write-off of certain unamortized debt issuance costs associated with these notes,
as well as certain expenses related to the prepayment of these notes.

In connection with our initial public offering in 2009, we conducted a cash tender offer for certain of our notes. The tender offer was
oversubscribed and as such, in accordance with the identified priority levels, only a portion of our senior subordinated notes tendered were
accepted for prepayment. In January 2010, we prepaid $225.6 million principal amount of our senior subordinated notes with proceeds received
from our initial public offering and the underwriters option to purchase additional shares. In the first quarter of 2010, we recorded a
$25.3 million pretax charge representative of the net premiums payable related to the repurchase of our senior subordinated notes, the write-off
of certain unamortized debt issuance costs associated with our senior subordinated notes and certain expenses related to the tender offer.

In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2010, we conducted a cash tender offer for certain of our notes. The tender offer was oversubscribed
and as such, in accordance with the identified priority levels, only a portion of our senior subordinated notes tendered were accepted for
prepayment. In December 2010, we prepaid $68.3 million principal amount of our senior subordinated notes with available cash and recorded a
$7.4 million pretax charge representative of the net premiums payable related to the repurchase of our senior subordinated notes, the write-off of
certain unamortized debt issuance costs associated with our senior subordinated notes and certain expenses related to the tender offer.

Income Taxes

We had an effective tax rate of 19.8% for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with 28.1% for the year ended December 31, 2010.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, our effective tax rate of 19.8% benefited from the reversal of $18.6 million in tax reserves for
uncertain tax positions due to the expiration of certain statute of limitations. During the year ended December 31, 2010, our effective rate of
28.1% also benefited from the release of tax reserves for uncertain tax positions due to
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the expiration of certain statute of limitations and the recognition of previously unrecognized deferred tax assets. Excluding the effect of these
items in both years, our effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 would have been 40.2% and 38.3%,
respectively. The change in the tax rate, excluding the effect of discrete items, was primarily attributable to the differences in tax rates in state
and foreign jurisdictions.

ADESA Results
Year Ended
December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010
ADESA revenue $ 10174 $ 1,075.9
Cost of services* 582.3 611.2
Gross profit* 435.1 464.7
Selling, general and administrative 219.6 211.9
Depreciation and amortization 88.1 86.9
Operating profit $ 1274 $ 165.9

Exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Revenue

Revenue from ADESA decreased $58.5 million, or 5%, to $1,017.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with
$1,075.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The decrease in revenue was primarily a result of a 7% decrease in the number of
vehicles sold, partially offset by a 2% increase in revenue per vehicle sold to approximately $585 for the year ended December 31, 2011,
compared to over $570 for the year ended December 31, 2010.

The 2% increase in revenue per vehicle sold was attributable to incremental fee income related to selective fee increases, which resulted in
increased ADESA revenue of approximately $20.1 million. In addition, fluctuations in the Canadian exchange rate resulted in increased ADESA
revenue of approximately $9.6 million, partially offset by decreases in ancillary services, which resulted in decreased ADESA revenue of
approximately $6.5 million.

The total number of used vehicles sold at ADESA decreased 7% for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with the year ended
December 31, 2010, and resulted in a decrease in ADESA revenue of approximately $81.7 million. Excluding OPENLANE, the total number of
used vehicles sold at ADESA decreased 10% for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared with the year ended December 31, 2010. The
decrease in volume sold was attributable to a decline in supplier inventory levels, partially offset by a 13% (excluding OPENLANE) increase in
dealer consignment units sold in 2011 compared with 2010. Online sales volumes for ADESA in 2011 represented approximately 24% of the
total vehicles sold by ADESA, compared with over 20% in 2010. Excluding OPENLANE units sold in the fourth quarter, online sales volumes
for ADESA would have been approximately 22% in 2011.

The used vehicle conversion percentage, calculated as the number of vehicles sold as a percentage of the number of vehicles entered for
sale at our used vehicle auctions, decreased to 60.7% (excluding OPENLANE) for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with 65.0% for
the year ended December 31, 2010. The decrease in conversion rates is representative of a change in the mix of vehicles sold toward more dealer
consignment vehicles, which convert at a lower rate, as dealers have the option of returning vehicles to their stores for retail sale. For the year
ended December 31, 2011, dealer consignment vehicles represented approximately 42% (excluding OPENLANE) of used vehicles sold at
ADESA, an increase from approximately 33% for the year ended December 31, 2010.
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Gross Profit

For the year ended December 31, 2011, gross profit for ADESA decreased $29.6 million, or 6%, to $435.1 million, compared with
$464.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. Gross profit for ADESA was 42.8% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011,
compared with 43.2% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2010. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2011, compared with the year ended December 31, 2010 was primarily the result of the 7% decrease in the number of
vehicles sold and a decrease in conversion rates. Lower conversion rates result in incremental labor associated with handling the same vehicles
more than once.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the ADESA segment increased $7.7 million, or 4%, to $219.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011, compared with $211.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, primarily due to the acquisition of OPENLANE,
which accounted for approximately $10.8 million of the increase and fluctuations in the Canadian exchange rate, partially offset by decreases in
compensation and incentive compensation, as well as a decrease in marketing costs and other miscellaneous expenses.

IAA Results

Year Ended

December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010
IAA revenue $ 7001 $ 6104
Cost of services* 415.3 362.0
Gross profit* 284.8 248.4
Selling, general and administrative 82.3 78.9
Depreciation and amortization 65.8 58.9
Operating profit $ 1367 $ 1106

Exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Revenue

Revenue from IAA increased $89.7 million, or 15%, to $700.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with
$610.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase in revenue was a result of several factors, including an increase in vehicles
sold of approximately 9% for the year ended December 31, 2011. In addition, there was an increase in fee revenue per unit due to an increase in
average selling price for vehicles sold. An increase in the sales of purchased vehicles, in which the entire selling price of the vehicle is recorded
as revenue, has also contributed to the growth in revenue for salvage vehicles sold for the year ended December 31, 2011. Purchased vehicles
represented approximately 5% of total salvage vehicles sold. Online sales volumes for IAA for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
represented approximately half of the total vehicles sold by IAA.

Gross Profit

For the year ended December 31, 2011, gross profit at IAA increased to $284.8 million, or 40.7% of revenue, compared with
$248.4 million, or 40.7% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2010. The gross profit increase was primarily the result of the increase in
revenue. The increase in cost of services was attributable to expenses associated with businesses acquired in the fourth quarter of 2010,
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an increase in compensation expense, increases in yard and auction expenses specifically pertaining to reconditioning, processing and towing
costs related to the increase in volume, as well as an increase in purchased vehicles.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses at IAA increased $3.4 million, or 4%, to $82.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2011,
compared with $78.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses was
attributable to increases in compensation expense, incentive-based compensation expense and professional fees related to information
technology and marketing initiatives, partially offset by decreases in stock-based compensation expense, professional fees related to process
improvement initiatives and severance costs.

AFC Results
Year Ended

December 31,
(Dollars in millions except volumes and per loan amounts) 2011 2010
AFC revenue
Interest and fee income $ 163.7 $ 137.9
Other revenue 11.2 9.6
Provision for credit losses (6.1) (11.2)
Total AFC revenue 168.8 136.3
Cost of services* 37.6 34.1
Gross profit* 131.2 102.2
Selling, general and administrative 22.1 20.6
Depreciation and amortization 24.7 25.0
Operating profit $ 844 § 56.6
Loan transactions 1,064,891 935,578
Revenue per loan transaction $ 159 $ 146

Exclusive of depreciation and amortization

Note: Prior to 2011, certain AFC fees collected from customers were netted against cost of services, as well as certain selling, general and
administrative expenses. Such fees included lot check fees, filing fees and postage fees, each of which are charged to and collected from AFC's
customers. At December 31, 2011, these fees were included in revenue with the corresponding costs reflected in their respective expense
categories, resulting in an increase to "Other revenue" as well as an increase to the related expenses for 2010. For the year ended December 31,
2010 "Other revenue" has been increased by $7.6 million, "Cost of services" has been increased by $5.6 million and "Selling, general and
administrative” has been increased by $2.0 million.

Revenue

For the year ended December 31, 2011, AFC revenue increased $32.5 million, or 24%, to $168.8 million, compared with $136.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase in revenue was the result of a 9% increase in revenue per loan transaction for the year ended
December 31, 2011, compared with the same period in 2010, and a 14% increase in loan transactions to 1,064,891 for the year ended
December 31, 2011. In addition, managed receivables increased to $883.2 million at December 31, 2011 from $771.6 million at December 31,
2010.
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Revenue per loan transaction, which includes both loans paid off and loans curtailed, increased $13, or 9%, primarily as a result of a
decrease in credit losses and related provision, increases in the average portfolio duration and average loan value, and floorplan and other fee
income.

Accounting Standards Update 2009-16 amended ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing, and we adopted the guidance on January 1, 2010. The
guidance eliminated securitization income accounting and resulted in the recording of interest and fee income, provision for credit losses and
interest expense for the finance receivable transactions under the revolving sale agreement. The impact of this guidance on revenue was a net
$1.4 million reduction of revenue for the first quarter of 2010. The elimination of the gain on sale treatment resulted in a reduction of revenue of
$2.8 million, while the reclassification of interest expense resulted in an offsetting $1.4 million increase in revenue.

Gross Profit
For the year ended December 31, 2011, gross profit for the AFC segment increased $29.0 million, or 28%, to $131.2 million, compared
with $102.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, primarily as a result of a 24% increase in revenue, partially offset by a 10% increase

in cost of services. The increase in cost of services was primarily the result of an increase in compensation expense associated with an increase
in the number of employees, as well as an increase in lot audit expenses, partially offset by a decrease in collection expenses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses at AFC increased $1.5 million, or 7%, for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with
the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase was primarily the result of increases in compensation expense, travel costs, postage and
promotion expenses, partially offset by decreases in professional fees and incentive compensation.

Holding Company Results

Year Ended
December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010
Selling, general and administrative $ 654 $ 0638
Depreciation and amortization 1.2 0.5
Operating loss $ (66.6) $ (64.3)

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2011, selling, general and administrative expenses at the holding company increased $1.6 million, or 3%,
to $65.4 million, compared with $63.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, primarily as a result of increases in compensation
expense, professional fees and integration costs (primarily related to the Company's acquisition activity), partially offset by decreases in
stock-based compensation expense, employee benefit costs, incentive compensation and other miscellaneous expenses. Excluding the increase in
professional fees and integration costs associated with acquisitions of $3.5 million, selling, general and administrative costs would have declined
$1.9 million in 2011 as compared with 2010.
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Overview of Results of KAR Auction Services for the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:

Year Ended

December 31,
(Dollars in millions except per share amounts) 2010 2009
Revenues
ADESA $ 1,0759 $ 11,0885
IAA 610.4 553.1
AFC 136.3 93.9
Total revenues 1,822.6 1,735.5
Cost of services* 1,007.3 1,001.5
Gross profit* 815.3 734.0
Selling, general and administrative 375.2 366.3
Depreciation and amortization 171.3 172.4
Operating profit 268.8 195.3
Interest expense 141.4 172.6
Other income, net 2.1 (11.6)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 32.7
Income before income taxes 96.8 343
Income taxes 27.2 11.1
Net income $ 69.6 $ 23.2
Net income per share
Basic $ 052 $ 0.21
Diluted $ 051 $ 0.21

Exclusive of depreciation and amortization

For the year ended December 31, 2010, we had revenue of $1,822.6 million compared with revenue of $1,735.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009, an increase of 5%. For a further discussion of revenues, gross profit and selling, general and administrative expenses, see
the segment results discussions below.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization decreased $1.1 million, or 1%, to $171.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with
$172.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The decrease is representative of certain assets becoming fully depreciated, partially
offset by an increase in 2010 capital spending compared to 2009, as well as an increase in depreciation related to acquired sites.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased $31.2 million, or 18%, to $141.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with $172.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2009. The decrease in interest expense was primarily the result of a $250.0 million prepayment on Old Term
Loan B in the fourth quarter of 2009, a $225.6 million prepayment on the principal amount of the senior subordinated notes in January 2010, a
$28.3 million prepayment on Old Term Loan B in February 2010, a $75.0 million prepayment on Old Term Loan B in November 2010 and a
$68.3 million prepayment on the principal amount of the senior subordinated notes in December 2010. Partially offsetting the decrease was an
increase in interest expense that resulted from the adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2009-16 in 2010. Included in interest expense in
2010 is $7.2 million in AFC interest related to

44



Edgar Filing: SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form 6-K

51

45



Edgar Filing: SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form 6-K

Table of Contents
the securitized finance receivables. Prior to 2010, AFC interest expense was recorded as a reduction of AFC net revenue.
Other Income

Other income was $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with other income of $11.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The change in other income was primarily representative of smaller foreign currency transaction gains for the year ended
December 31, 2010, compared to the year ended December 31, 2009.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

In connection with our initial public offering, we conducted a cash tender offer for certain of our notes. The tender offer was oversubscribed
and as such, in accordance with the identified priority levels, only a portion of the senior subordinated notes tendered were accepted for
prepayment. In January 2010, we prepaid $225.6 million principal amount of the senior subordinated notes with proceeds received from the
initial public offering and the underwriters option to purchase additional shares. In the first quarter of 2010, we recorded a $25.3 million pretax
charge representative of the net premiums payable related to the repurchase of the senior subordinated notes, the write-off of certain unamortized
debt issuance costs associated with our senior subordinated notes and certain expenses related to the tender offer.

In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2010, we conducted a cash tender offer for certain of our notes. The tender offer was oversubscribed
and as such, in accordance with the identified priority levels, only a portion of the senior subordinated notes tendered were accepted for
prepayment. In December 2010, we prepaid $68.3 million principal amount of the senior subordinated notes with available cash and recorded a
$7.4 million pretax charge representative of the net premiums payable related to the repurchase of the senior subordinated notes, the write-off of
certain unamortized debt issuance costs associated with our senior subordinated notes and certain expenses related to the tender offer.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 28.1% for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared with 32.4% for the year ended December 31, 2009.
Excluding the effect of the discrete items, our effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 would have
been 38.3% and 51.8%, respectively. The change in the tax rate, excluding the effect of discrete items, was primarily attributable to the reduction
of expenses permanently nondeductible for tax purposes, the increase in consolidated pre-tax profits and lower tax rates in state and foreign
jurisdictions.
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ADESA Results
Year Ended
December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2010 2009
ADESA revenue $ 10759 $ 1,088.5
Cost of services* 611.2 615.4
Gross profit* 464.7 473.1
Selling, general and administrative 211.9 207.1
Depreciation and amortization 86.9 88.4
Operating profit $ 1659 § 177.6

Exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Revenue

Revenue from ADESA decreased $12.6 million, or 1%, to $1,075.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with
$1,088.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The decrease in revenue was primarily a result of a 7% decrease in the number of
vehicles sold, partially offset by a 6% increase in revenue per vehicle sold to over $570 for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared to
approximately $540 for the year ended December 31, 2009.

The 6% increase in revenue per vehicle sold was attributable to incremental fee income related to higher used vehicle values and selective
fee increases which resulted in increased ADESA revenue of approximately $27.4 million. In addition, fluctuations in the Canadian exchange
rate resulted in increased ADESA revenue of approximately $22.9 million, and increases in ancillary services, such as transportation and other
services, resulted in increased ADESA revenue of approximately $8.3 million.

The total number of used vehicles sold at ADESA decreased 7% for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with the year ended
December 31, 2009 and resulted in a decrease in ADESA revenue of approximately $71.2 million. The decrease in volume sold was attributable
to a decline in supplier inventory levels in 2010 compared to 2009. For the year ended December 31, 2010, as compared with the year ended
December 31, 2009, we estimate that the decline in industry volumes was consistent with the decline experienced at ADESA. Online sales
volumes for ADESA in 2010 represented over 20% of the total vehicles sold by ADESA.

The used vehicle conversion percentage, calculated as the number of vehicles sold as a percentage of the number of vehicles entered for
sale at our used vehicle auctions, decreased to 65.0% for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with 66.9% for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The decrease in conversion rates is representative of a change in the mix of vehicles sold toward more dealer consignment
vehicles, which convert at a lower rate. For the year ended December 31, 2010, dealer consignment vehicles represented approximately 33% of
used vehicles sold at ADESA, an increase from 29% for the year ended December 31, 2009.
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Gross Profit

For the year ended December 31, 2010, gross profit for ADESA decreased $8.4 million, or 2%, to $464.7 million, compared with
$473.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Gross profit for ADESA was 43.2% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2010,
compared with 43.5% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2010, compared with the year ended December 31, 2009 was the result of an increase in ancillary services revenue, which
has a lower gross profit than auction services revenue.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the ADESA segment increased $4.8 million, or 2%, to $211.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010, compared with $207.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, primarily due to an increase in stock-based
compensation, fluctuations in the Canadian exchange rate, an increase in marketing costs, an increase for costs at acquired sites and a net
increase in other miscellaneous expenses. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in incentive compensation and a decrease in
professional fees.

IAA Results

Year Ended

December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2010 2009
IAA revenue $ 6104 $ 553.1
Cost of services* 362.0 352.1
Gross profit* 248.4 201.0
Selling, general and administrative 78.9 65.5
Depreciation and amortization 58.9 58.3
Operating profit $ 1106 $ 772

Exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Revenue

Revenue from IAA increased $57.3 million, or 10%, to $610.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with
$553.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase in revenue was primarily a result of an increase in fee revenue due to an
increase in average selling price for vehicles sold at auction, and to a lesser extent, revenues associated with acquired sites. For the year ended
December 31, 2010, total salvage vehicles sold declined approximately 2%. Online sales volumes for IAA in 2010 represented approximately
half of the total vehicles sold by IAA.

Gross Profit

For the year ended December 31, 2010, gross profit at IAA increased to $248.4 million, or 40.7% of revenue, compared with
$201.0 million, or 36.3% of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2009. The gross profit increase was primarily the result of the increase in
fee revenue due to an increase in average selling price for vehicles sold at auction. Cost of services increased primarily as a result of increases in
incentive compensation based on the performance of IAA, expenses associated with costs at acquired sites and increases in yard and auction
expenses. These increases were partially offset by a reduction in tow costs.
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Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses at IAA increased $13.4 million, or 20%, to $78.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2010, compared with $65.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses was
attributable to increases in stock-based compensation and incentive compensation, as well as increased spending on professional fees and
severance, both related to our process improvement initiatives which were launched in the first quarter of 2010.

AFC Results
Year Ended

December 31,
(Dollars in millions except volumes and per loan amounts) 2010 2009
AFC revenue
Securitization income $ $ 41.7
Interest and fee income 137.9 48.1
Other revenue 9.6 6.2
Provision for credit losses (11.2) 2.1)
Total AFC revenue 136.3 93.9
Cost of services* 34.1 34.0
Gross profit* 102.2 59.9
Selling, general and administrative 20.6 13.3
Depreciation and amortization 25.0 24.7
Operating profit $ 56.6 $ 21.9
Loan transactions 935,578 799,421
Revenue per loan transaction $ 146 $ 117

Exclusive of depreciation and amortization

Note: Prior to 2011, certain AFC fees collected from customers were netted against cost of services, as well as certain selling, general and
administrative expenses. Such fees included lot check fees, filing fees and postage fees, each of which are charged to and collected from AFC's
customers. At December 31, 2011, these fees were included in revenue with the corresponding costs reflected in their respective expense
categories, resulting in an increase to "Other revenue" as well as an increase to the related expenses for 2010 and 2009. For the year ended
December 31, 2010, "Other revenue" has been increased by $7.6 million, "Cost of services" has been increased by $5.6 million and "Selling,
general and administrative" has been increased by $2.0 million. For the year ended December 31, 2009, "Other revenue" has been increased by
$5.9 million, "Cost of services" has been increased by $4.2 million and "Selling, general and administrative" has been increased by $1.7 million.

Revenue

For the year ended December 31, 2010, AFC revenue increased $42.4 million, or 45%, to $136.3 million, compared with $93.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase in revenue was the result of a 25% increase in revenue per loan transaction for the year ended
December 31, 2010, compared with the same period in 2009 and a 17% increase in loan transactions to 935,578 for the year ended December 31,
2010. In addition, managed receivables increased to $771.6 million at December 31, 2010 from $613.0 million at December 31, 2009.

Revenue per loan transaction, which includes both loans paid off and loans curtailed, increased $29, or 25%, primarily as a result of a
decrease in credit losses for both loans held and sold, an
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increase in the average loan value, an increase in floorplan fee income, an increase in interest income and an increase in other income.

Accounting Standards Update 2009-16 amended ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing, and we adopted the new guidance on January 1, 2010.
The new guidance eliminated securitization income accounting and resulted in the recording of interest and fee income and interest expense for
the finance receivable transactions under the revolving sale agreement. The impact of this guidance on revenue was a net $1.4 million reduction
of revenue for the first quarter of 2010. The elimination of the gain on sale treatment resulted in a reduction of revenue of $2.8 million, while the
reclassification of interest expense resulted in an offsetting $1.4 million increase in revenue. Interest expense related to the securitized finance
receivables for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $7.2 million and is included as "Interest expense” on the consolidated statement of
income. Interest expense related to the securitized finance receivables for the year ended December 31, 2009 totaled $4.7 million and was
included in securitization income.

Gross Profit

For the year ended December 31, 2010, gross profit for the AFC segment increased $42.3 million, or 71%, to $102.2 million, compared
with $59.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, primarily as a result of a 45% increase in revenue.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses at AFC increased $7.3 million, or 55%, for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with
the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily the result of increases in incentive compensation expense, salaries and related
employee benefit costs, professional fees and stock-based compensation expense.

Holding Company Results

Year Ended
December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2010 2009
Selling, general and administrative $ 638 $ 804
Depreciation and amortization 0.5 1.0
Operating loss $ (643) $ (Bl4)

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2010, selling, general and administrative expenses at the holding company decreased $16.6 million, or
21%, to $63.8 million, compared with $80.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, primarily as a result of the termination of our
financial advisory fees paid to the Equity Sponsors. We paid the Equity Sponsors a total of $14.0 million in 2009, including $10.5 million of
termination fees in connection with the termination of our ongoing financial advisory fees with each of them. Selling, general and administrative
expenses also decreased as a result of a decrease in stock-based compensation expense related to the KAR LLC and Axle LLC operating units
which are remeasured each reporting period to fair value. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in professional fees and other
expenses.

56

50



Edgar Filing: SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form 6-K

Table of Contents
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We believe that the significant indicators of liquidity for our business are cash on hand, cash flow from operations, working capital and
amounts available under our credit facility. Our principal sources of liquidity consist of cash generated by operations and borrowings under our
revolving credit facility.

December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010
Cash and cash equivalents $ 974 $ 119.1
Restricted cash 8.2 8.6
Working capital 177.0 287.9
Amounts available under credit facility* 181.1 250.0
Cash flow from operations 305.8 467.6

There were related outstanding letters of credit totaling approximately $28.5 million and $29.4 million at December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively, which reduce the amount available for borrowings under the respective credit facilities.

Working Capital

A substantial amount of our working capital is generated from the payments received for services provided. The majority of our working
capital needs are short-term in nature, usually less than a week in duration. Due to the decentralized nature of the business, payments for most
vehicles purchased are received at each auction and branch. Most of the financial institutions place a temporary hold on the availability of the
funds deposited that generally can range up to two business days, resulting in cash in our accounts and on our balance sheet that is unavailable
for use until it is made available by the various financial institutions. There are outstanding checks (book overdrafts) to sellers and vendors
included in current liabilities. Because a portion of these outstanding checks for operations in the U.S. are drawn upon bank accounts at financial
institutions other than the financial institutions that hold the cash, we cannot offset all the cash and the outstanding checks on our balance sheet.

Our available cash, which excludes cash in transit, was $52.7 million at December 31, 2011. Of this amount, approximately $26.8 million
was held by foreign subsidiaries and considered to be permanently reinvested in our non-U.S. businesses. If the funds held by our foreign
subsidiaries were to be repatriated, tax expense would need to be accrued at the U.S. statutory rate, net of any applicable foreign tax credits.
Such foreign tax credits would substantially offset any U.S. taxes that would be due in the event cash held by our foreign subsidiaries was
repatriated.

AFC offers short-term inventory-secured financing, also known as floorplan financing, to used vehicle dealers. Financing is primarily
provided for terms of 30 to 60 days. AFC principally generates its funding through the sale of its receivables. The receivables sold pursuant to
the securitization agreements are accounted for as secured borrowings. For further discussion of AFC's securitization arrangements, see
"Securitization Facilities."

Credit Facilities

On May 19, 2011, we established a new $1.7 billion, six-year senior secured term loan facility ("New Term Loan B") and a new
$250 million, five-year senior secured revolving credit facility, the terms of which are set forth in the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19,
2011 (the "Credit Agreement"). Concurrently with our entry into the Credit Agreement, we terminated our previous credit facility, dated as of
April 20, 2007 (as amended, the "2007 Credit Agreement"). On May 19, 2011, we paid all principal outstanding and interest due under the 2007
Credit Agreement. No early termination penalties were incurred by the Company in connection with the termination of the 2007
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Credit Agreement; however, we incurred a non-cash loss on the extinguishment of Old Term Loan B of $24.5 million representative of the
write-off of certain unamortized debt issuance costs. In addition, we recognized $14.5 million of additional interest expense to settle and
terminate our $650 million notional swap agreement, which was used to hedge interest payments on Old Term Loan B.

The new credit facility is available for letters of credit, working capital and general corporate purposes (including refinancing certain
Existing Indebtedness (as defined in the Credit Agreement)). The Credit Agreement provides that with respect to the new revolving credit
facility, up to $75 million is available for letters of credit and up to $75 million is available for swing line loans. The Credit Agreement also
permits up to $300 million of additional revolving or term loan commitments from one or more of the existing lenders or other lenders (with the
consent of the administrative agent).

New Term Loan B was issued at a discount of $8.5 million. The discount is being amortized to interest expense over the six-year term of
the loan. New Term Loan B is payable in quarterly installments equal to 0.25% of the original aggregate principal amount. Payments
commenced on September 30, 2011, and the balance is payable at maturity. The new credit facility is subject to mandatory prepayments and
reduction in an amount equal to (i) the net proceeds of certain debt offerings, asset sales and certain insurance recovery events; and (ii) for any
fiscal year ending on or after December 31, 2011, any Excess Cash Flow, as defined in the Credit Agreement.

New Term Loan B will bear interest at an adjusted LIBOR rate plus 3.75% (with an adjusted LIBOR rate floor of 1.25% per annum) and
revolving loan borrowings at an adjusted LIBOR rate plus 3.50%; however, for specified types of borrowings, the Company may elect to make
term loan borrowings at a Base Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 2.75% and revolving loan borrowings at a Base Rate plus 2.50%.
The rate on New Term Loan B was 5.0% at December 31, 2011. In addition, if the Company reduces its Consolidated Senior Secured Leverage
Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement), which is based on a net debt calculation, to levels specified in the Credit Agreement, the applicable
interest rate will step down by 25 basis points. The Company will also pay a commitment fee of 50 basis points, payable quarterly, on the
average daily unused amount of the Credit Facility. The fee may step down to 37.5 basis points based on the Company's Consolidated Senior
Secured Leverage Ratio as described above.

On December 31, 2011, $1,691.5 million was outstanding on New Term Loan B and $68.9 million was drawn on the new revolving credit
facility. There were no borrowings under the old revolving credit facility at December 31, 2010. However, there were related outstanding letters
of credit in the aggregate amount of $28.5 million and $29.4 million at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, which reduce
the amount available for borrowings under the respective credit facilities. The Company intends to repay the $68.9 million of outstanding
borrowings under the revolving credit facility within the next twelve months. In addition, our Canadian operations have a C$8 million line of
credit which was undrawn as of December 31, 2011. However, there were related letters of credit outstanding totaling approximately
C$2.2 million at December 31, 2011, which reduce credit available under the Canadian line of credit, but do not affect amounts available for
borrowings under our new revolving credit facility.

The obligations of the Company under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by certain of our domestic subsidiaries (the "Subsidiary
Guarantors") and are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors, including but not limited to:
(a) pledges of and perfected first-priority security interests in 100% of the equity interests of certain of the Company's and the Subsidiary
Guarantors' domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the equity interests of certain of the Company's and the Subsidiary Guarantors' first-tier foreign
subsidiaries and (b) perfected first-priority security interests in substantially all other tangible and intangible assets of the Company and each
Subsidiary Guarantor, subject to certain exceptions.
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The Credit Agreement contains certain restrictive loan covenants, including, among others, a financial covenant requiring that a maximum
consolidated senior secured leverage ratio be satisfied as of the last day of each fiscal quarter if revolving loans are outstanding, and covenants
limiting our ability to incur indebtedness, grant liens, make acquisitions, consummate change of control transactions, dispose of assets, pay
dividends, make capital expenditures, make investments and engage in certain transactions with affiliates. The leverage ratio covenant is based
on consolidated Adjusted EBITDA which is EBITDA (earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization) adjusted
to exclude among other things (a) gains and losses from asset sales; (b) unrealized foreign currency translation gains and losses in respect of
indebtedness; (c) certain non-recurring gains and losses; (d) stock option expense; (e) certain other noncash amounts included in the
determination of net income; (f) management, monitoring, consulting and advisory fees paid to the equity sponsors; (g) charges and revenue
reductions resulting from purchase accounting; (h) unrealized gains and losses on hedge agreements; (i) minority interest; (j) expenses associated
with the consolidation of salvage operations; (k) consulting expenses incurred for cost reduction, operating restructuring and business
improvement efforts; (1) expenses realized upon the termination of employees and the termination or cancellation of leases, software licenses or
other contracts in connection with the operational restructuring and business improvement efforts; (m) expenses incurred in connection with
permitted acquisitions; and (n) any impairment charges or write-offs of intangibles.

Certain covenants contained within the Credit Agreement are critical to an investor's understanding of our financial liquidity, as the failure
to maintain compliance with these covenants could result in a default and allow our lenders to declare all amounts borrowed immediately due
and payable. The maximum consolidated senior secured leverage ratio is required to be met when there are revolving loans outstanding under
our Credit Agreement. The maximum consolidated senior secured leverage ratio cannot exceed 4.25 to 1.0 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter
through September 30, 2012. Beginning with the quarter ending December 31, 2012, the ratio cannot exceed 4.0 to 1.0 and continues to decline
throughout the remaining life of the credit facility until it reaches 2.5 to 1.0 at December 31, 2015. Our maximum consolidated senior secured
leverage ratio was 3.6 to 1.0 at December 31, 2011.

In addition, the indenture governing our floating rate senior notes contains certain financial and operational restrictions that, similar to the
Credit Agreement, limit our ability to pay dividends and other distributions, make certain acquisitions or investments, incur indebtedness, grant
liens and sell assets. The covenants in the Credit Agreement and the indenture governing our floating rate senior notes affect our operating
flexibility by, among other things, restricting our ability to incur expenses and indebtedness that could be used to grow the business, as well as to
fund general corporate purposes. We were in compliance with the covenants in the Credit Agreement and the indenture governing our floating
rate senior notes at December 31, 2011.

We believe our sources of liquidity from our cash and cash equivalents on hand, working capital, cash provided by operating activities, and
availability under our credit facility are sufficient to meet our short and long-term operating needs for the foreseeable future. In addition, we
believe the previously mentioned sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund our capital requirements and debt service payments for the next
twelve months.

Securitization Facilities

AFC sells the majority of its U.S. dollar denominated finance receivables on a revolving basis and without recourse to a wholly owned,
bankruptcy remote, consolidated, special purpose subsidiary ("AFC Funding Corporation"), established for the purpose of purchasing AFC's
finance receivables. A securitization agreement allows for the revolving sale by AFC Funding Corporation to a bank conduit facility of

undivided interests in certain eligible finance receivables subject to committed liquidity.
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On April 26, 2011, AFC and AFC Funding Corporation entered into the Fourth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement
(the "Receivables Purchase Agreement"). The Receivables Purchase Agreement increased AFC Funding's U.S. committed liquidity from
$450 million to $650 million and extended the facility's maturity date from April 20, 2012 to June 30, 2014. In addition, the interest costs for
amounts borrowed increased approximately 0.5% and certain of the covenants and termination events in the Receivables Purchase Agreement
that are tied to the performance of the finance receivables portfolio were modified.

On May 24, 2011, Automotive Finance Canada, Inc. ("AFCI") entered into an Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement
(the "Canadian Receivables Purchase Agreement"). The Canadian Receivables Purchase Agreement increased AFCI's Canadian committed
liquidity from C$75 million to C$100 million and extended the facility's maturity date from April 20, 2012 to June 30, 2014. AFCI's committed
liquidity is provided through a third party conduit (separate from the U.S. conduit).

ASU 2009-16 amended ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing, and we adopted the guidance on January 1, 2010. The guidance specifies that
the finance receivable transactions on or subsequent to January 1, 2010 under our revolving sale agreement be included in our balance sheet.
This resulted in an increase in assets and related obligations in 2010. In addition, the guidance eliminated securitization income accounting and
resulted in the recording of fee and interest income and interest expense for the finance receivable transactions under the revolving sale
agreement.

AFC managed total finance receivables of $883.2 million and $771.6 million at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.
AFC's allowance for losses was $9.0 million and $9.7 million at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, $877.6 million and $763.9 million, respectively, of finance receivables and a cash
reserve of 1 percent of finance receivables securitized serve as security for the $610.3 million and $520.1 million of obligations collateralized by
finance receivables at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively. The amount of the cash reserve depends on circumstances
which are set forth in the securitization agreements. After the occurrence of a termination event, as defined in the U.S. securitization agreement,
the bank conduit facility may, and could, cause the stock of AFC Funding Corporation to be transferred to the bank conduit facility, though as a
practical matter the bank conduit facility would look to the liquidation of the receivables under the transaction documents as their primary
remedy.

Proceeds from the revolving sale of receivables to the bank conduit facility are used to fund new loans to customers. AFC, AFC Funding
Corporation and AFCI must maintain certain financial covenants including, among others, limits on the amount of debt AFC and AFCI can
incur, minimum levels of tangible net worth, and other covenants tied to the performance of the finance receivables portfolio. The securitization
agreements also incorporate the financial covenants of our credit facility. At December 31, 2011, we were in compliance with the covenants in
the securitization agreements.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, as presented herein, are supplemental measures of our performance that are not required by, or presented
in accordance with, generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP. They are not measurements of our financial
performance under GAAP and should not be considered substitutes for net income (loss) or any other performance measures derived in
accordance with GAAP.
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EBITDA is defined as net income (loss), plus interest expense net of interest income, income tax provision (benefit), depreciation and

amortization. Adjusted EBITDA is EBITDA adjusted for the items of income and expense and expected incremental revenue and cost savings,

as described above in the discussion of certain restrictive loan covenants under "Credit Facilities."

Management believes that the inclusion of supplementary adjustments to EBITDA applied in presenting Adjusted EBITDA is appropriate

to provide additional information to investors about one of the principal measures of performance used by our creditors. In addition,
management uses Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate our performance and to evaluate results relative to incentive compensation targets. EBITDA

and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations as analytical tools, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of the results

as reported under GAAP. These measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

The following tables reconcile EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss) for the periods presented:

(Dollars in millions)

Net income (loss)

Add back:

Income taxes

Interest expense, net of interest income
Depreciation and amortization
Intercompany

EBITDA
Adjustments

Adjusted EBITDA

(Dollars in millions)

Net income (loss)

Add back:

Income taxes

Interest expense, net of interest income
Depreciation and amortization
Intercompany

EBITDA
Adjustments

Adjusted EBITDA

ADESA
$ 558

17.9

0.7
88.1
524

214.9
17.3

$ 2322

ADESA
$ 801

43.6

0.9
86.9
423

253.8
16.0

$ 269.8

Year Ended December 31, 2011

TAA
$ 655

36.1

2.1
65.8
383

207.8
39

$ 2117

$

$

AFC Corporate
572 $  (106.3)
29.6 (65.8)
12.0 128.0
24.7 1.2

(14.4) (76.3)
109.1 (119.2)
(7.2) 60.6
1019 §$ (58.6)

Year Ended December 31, 2010

IAA
$ 447

26.7

2.3
589
38.2

170.8
15.2

$ 186.0

AFC Corporate
$ 384 § (93.6)
21.1 (64.2)
7.2 130.9
25.0 0.5
(11.7) (68.8)
80.0 95.2)
0.4) 35.0
$ 796 $ (60.2)
61

Consolidated

$

$

722
17.8

142.8
179.8

412.6
74.6

487.2

Consolidated

$

69.6
272

141.3
171.3

409.4
65.8

475.2
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Certain of our loan covenant calculations utilize financial results for the most recent four consecutive fiscal quarters. The following table
reconciles EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss) for the periods presented:

Three Months Ended Twelve
Months
Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31, December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011
Net income (loss) $ 398 $ (143) $ 322 $ 145 $ 72.2
Add back:
Income taxes 1.0 (6.9) 14.7 9.0 17.8
Interest expense, net of interest
income 33.2 49.6 29.3 30.7 142.8
Depreciation and amortization 44.1 43.6 43.8 48.3 179.8
EBITDA 118.1 72.0 120.0 102.5 412.6
Nonrecurring charges 2.8 16.2 5.8 5.2 30.0
Noncash charges 8.5 46.2 (7.5) 7.1 54.3
AFC interest expense 2.1) 2.3) (2.6) 2.7) .7)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 1273 $ 1321 §$ 1157 $ 1121 $ 487.2
Summary of Cash Flows
Year Ended
December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010
Net cash provided by (used by):
Operating activities $ 3058 $ 4676
Investing activities (419.8) (793.9)
Financing activities 93.0 81.0
Effect of exchange rate on cash 0.7) 0.5
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 21.7) $ (244.8)

Cash flow from operating activities was $305.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with $467.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010. The decrease in operating cash flow was primarily impacted by changes in operating assets and liabilities. The
change in operating assets was driven by the reduction in retained interests in finance receivables sold and a reduction in finance receivables
held for sale in 2010, which resulted from the adoption of ASU 2009-16.

Net cash used by investing activities was $419.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with $793.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010. The change in net cash used by investing activities was primarily the result of the 2010 net increase in finance
receivables held for investment, which resulted from the adoption of ASU 2009-16. The guidance specifies that the finance receivable
transactions on or subsequent to January 1, 2010 under our revolving sale agreement be included in our balance sheet. In addition, we spent
$165.9 million more on acquisitions and $6.9 million more on capital items in 2011 compared with 2010. For a discussion of the Company's
capital expenditures, see "Capital Expenditures" below.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $93.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with $81.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010. The change in net cash provided by financing activities was attributable to the $520.1 million increase in
obligations collateralized by finance receivables in 2010, which resulted from the adoption of ASU 2009-16 as discussed above, partially offset
by payments on debt in 2010, primarily with proceeds from our initial public offering. In
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addition, the change in net cash provided by financing activities was impacted by the 2011 extinguishment of the Old Term Loan B credit
facility, as the proceeds from New Term Loan B, as well as cash on hand, were used to pay all principal outstanding and interest due under the
2007 Credit Agreement and to pay the principal and net premiums related to the repurchase of our fixed senior notes and our senior subordinated
notes.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 approximated $85.8 million and $78.9 million, respectively. Capital
expenditures were funded primarily from internally generated funds. We continue to invest in our core information technology capabilities and
capacity expansion. Capital expenditures are expected to be approximately $90 million for fiscal year 2012. Anticipated expenditures are
primarily attributable to ongoing information system projects, integration of OPENLANE and ADESA information systems, upkeep and
improvements at existing vehicle auction facilities, improvements in information technology systems and infrastructure and expansion and
relocation of existing auction sites that are at capacity. Future capital expenditures could vary substantially based on capital project timing and
the initiation of new information systems projects to support our business strategies.

Acquisitions

In August 2011, ADESA entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") with OPENLANE, Inc.
("OPENLANE"). In October 2011, we completed the acquisition of OPENLANE, which became a wholly owned subsidiary of ADESA.
OPENLANE is a North American online automotive auction company that provides a market for online buyers and sellers of wholesale
vehicles. OPENLANE offers its comprehensive remarketing solutions to auto manufacturers, captive finance companies, lease and daily rental
companies, used vehicle dealers, financial institutions and wholesale auto auctions throughout the United States and Canada.

As aresult of the merger and pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, each outstanding share of OPENLANE common stock and
preferred stock (other than those shares of common stock or preferred stock held by OPENLANE) was converted into the right to receive an
amount in cash as set forth in the Merger Agreement. The value of the cash consideration payable in the merger was $208.4 million plus
approximately $35 million for excess cash on OPENLANE's balance sheet at the closing of the merger. We funded the cash consideration paid
at closing with a combination of approximately $98.4 million of existing cash on-hand and borrowings of approximately $145 million from our
revolving credit facility. We utilized approximately $35 million of acquired cash to immediately repay a portion of the borrowings on the
revolving credit facility. In addition, we entered into operating lease obligations related to various facilities through 2017. Initial annual lease
payments for the various facilities are approximately $1.6 million per year. Financial results for the acquisition have been included in our
consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. In the fourth quarter of 2011, OPENLANE contributed revenue of $16.4 million
and had a net loss of $2.7 million, or $0.02 per diluted share.

During 2011, we completed the acquisitions of a company that auctions heavy machinery, a company that develops satellite-based, GPS
technology for advanced vehicle tracking and a salvage facility. The purchase agreements included contingent payments related to financial
results and business deployments subsequent to the purchase date. The purchased assets included fixed assets, software, inventory, accounts
receivable and other intangible assets. Financial results for each acquisition have been included in our consolidated financial statements from the
date of acquisition.

The aggregate purchase price for the businesses acquired in 2011, net of cash, was approximately $214.0 million, which includes estimated
contingent payments with a present value of $0.4 million. The
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maximum amount of undiscounted contingent payments related to these acquisitions could approximate $0.4 million. The purchase price for the
acquired businesses was allocated to acquired assets and liabilities based upon fair values, including $94.7 million to intangible assets,
representing the fair value of acquired customer relationships, tradenames, software and noncompete agreements, which are being amortized
over their expected useful lives. The acquisitions resulted in aggregate goodwill of $123.6 million. The financial impact of these acquisitions,
including pro forma financial results, was immaterial to the Company's statement of operations.

Some of our acquisitions from prior years include contingent payments related to revenues or unit volumes of certain vehicles sold
subsequent to the purchase dates. We made contingent payments in 2011, 2010 and 2009 totaling approximately $1.8 million, $2.0 million and
$1.6 million, respectively, pursuant to these agreements, which resulted in additional goodwill. In addition, in 2011, we reversed contingent
consideration of approximately $4.6 million related to certain prior year acquisitions based on revised forecasts which indicated the unit volumes
required during the measurement period in order for the contingent consideration to become payable would not be met. The net $4.6 million of
contingent consideration adjustments were recorded to "Other (income) expense, net" in the consolidated statement of income.

Contractual Obligations

The table below sets forth a summary of our contractual debt and operating lease obligations as of December 31, 2011. Some of the figures
included in this table are based on management's estimates and assumptions about these obligations, including their duration, the possibility of
renewal and other factors. Because these estimates and assumptions are necessarily subjective, the obligations we may actually pay in future

periods could vary from those reflected in the table. The following summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2011 (in

millions) :
Payments Due by Period
Less than More than 5

Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3Years 4 -5 Years Years
Long-term debt
New $250 million revolving credit facility(a) $ 689 $ 689 $ $ $
New term loan B(a) 1,691.5 17.0 34.0 34.0 1,606.5
Floating rate senior notes due 2014(a) 150.0 150.0
Capital lease obligations(b) 30.2 12.1 16.7 1.4
Interest payments relating to long-term debt(c) 465.3 93.3 177.3 164.3 30.4
Postretirement benefit payments(d) 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Operating leases(e) 882.8 82.1 149.6 131.0 520.1
Total contractual cash obligations $ 328.1 $ 2735 $ 5277 $ 3308 § 2,157.1
(a)

The table assumes the long-term debt is held to maturity.
(b)

We have entered into capital leases for furniture, fixtures, equipment and software. Future capital lease obligations would change if we

entered into additional capital lease agreements.
©

Interest payments on long-term debt are projected based on the contractual rates of the debt securities. Interest rates for the variable

rate debt instruments were held constant at current rates due to their unpredictable nature.
(d)

Estimated future benefit payments for certain health care and death benefits for the retired employees of Underwriters Salvage
Company, or USC. IAA assumed the obligation in connection with the acquisition of the capital stock of USC in 1994.
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(e)
Operating leases are entered into in the normal course of business. We lease some of our auction facilities, as well as other property
and equipment under operating leases. Some lease agreements contain options to renew the lease or purchase the leased property.
Future operating lease obligations would change if the renewal options were exercised and/or if we entered into additional operating
lease agreements.

Critical Accounting Estimates

In preparing the financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, management must often make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures at the date of the
financial statements and during the reporting period. Some of those judgments can be subjective and complex. Consequently, actual results could
differ from those estimates. Accounting measurements that management believes are most critical to the reported results of our operations and
financial condition include: uncollectible receivables and allowance for credit losses and doubtful accounts, goodwill and long-lived assets,
self-insurance programs, legal proceedings and other loss contingencies and income taxes.

In addition to the critical accounting estimates, there are other items used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
require estimation, but are not deemed critical. Changes in estimates used in these and other items could have a material impact on our financial
statements.

We continually evaluate the accounting policies and estimates used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. In cases where
management estimates are used, they are based on historical experience, information from third-party professionals, and various other
assumptions believed to be reasonable. In addition, our most significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2 and elsewhere in the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, which are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Uncollectible Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses and Doubtful Accounts

We maintain an allowance for credit losses and doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers to make
required payments. The allowances for credit losses and doubtful accounts are based on management's evaluation of the receivables portfolio
under current economic conditions, the volume of the portfolio, overall portfolio credit quality, review of specific collection matters and such
other factors which, in management's judgment, deserve recognition in estimating losses. Specific collection matters can be impacted by the
outcome of negotiations, litigation and bankruptcy proceedings.

Due to the nature of our business, substantially all trade receivables are due from vehicle dealers, salvage buyers, institutional customers
and insurance companies. We generally have possession of vehicles or vehicle titles collateralizing a significant portion of these receivables. At
the auction sites, risk is mitigated through a pre-auction registration process that includes verification of identification, bank accounts, dealer
license status, acceptable credit history, buying history at other auctions and the written acceptance of all of the auction's policies and
procedures.

AFC's allowance for credit losses includes an estimate of losses for finance receivables. AFC controls credit risk through credit approvals,
credit limits, underwriting and collateral management monitoring procedures, which includes holding vehicle titles where permitted.

Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets

When we acquire businesses, the purchase price is allocated to tangible assets and liabilities and identifiable intangible assets acquired. Any
residual purchase price is recorded as goodwill. The
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allocation of the purchase price requires management to make significant estimates in determining the fair values of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, especially with respect to intangible assets. These estimates are based on historical experience and information obtained from
the management of the acquired companies. These estimates can include, but are not limited to, the cash flows that an asset is expected to
generate in the future, the appropriate weighted-average cost of capital, and the cost savings expected to be derived from acquiring an asset.
These estimates are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. In addition, unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which may affect the
accuracy or validity of such estimates.

In accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other, we assess goodwill for impairment at least annually and whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the goodwill may be impaired. Important factors that could trigger an impairment review
include significant under-performance relative to historical or projected future operating results; significant negative industry or economic
trends; and our market valuation relative to our book value. In assessing goodwill, we must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash
flows and earnings, changes in our business strategy and economic conditions affecting market valuations related to the fair values of our three
reporting units (which consist of our three operating and reportable business segments: ADESA Auctions, IAA and AFC). In response to
changes in industry and market conditions, we may be required to strategically realign our resources and consider restructuring, disposing of or
otherwise exiting businesses, which could result in an impairment of goodwill.

The goodwill impairment test is a two-step test. Under the first step, the fair value of each reporting unit is compared with its carrying value
(including goodwill). If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an indication of goodwill impairment exists for the
reporting unit and we must perform step two of the impairment test (measurement). Under step two, an impairment loss is recognized for any
excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit's goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodwill. The implied fair value of goodwill is
determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit in a manner similar to a purchase price allocation, in accordance with ASC 805,

Business Combinations. The residual fair value after this allocation is the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill. Fair value of the
reporting unit is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, step two does
not need to be performed.

We review long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. If
it is determined that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds the total amount of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows from that
asset, we would recognize a loss to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the asset. Management judgment is involved in
both deciding if testing for recovery is necessary and in estimating undiscounted cash flows. Our impairment analysis is based on the current
business strategy, expected growth rates and estimated future economic conditions.

Self-Insurance Programs
We self-insure a portion of employee medical benefits under the terms of our employee health insurance program, as well as a portion of
our automobile, general liability and workers' compensation claims. We have insurance coverage that limits the exposure on individual claims.

We also have insurance coverage that limits the total exposure to overall automobile, general liability and workers' compensation claims. The
cost of the insurance is expensed over the contract periods.

66

60



Edgar Filing: SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

We record an accrual for the claims expense related to our employee medical benefits, automobile, general liability and workers'
compensation claims based upon the expected amount of all such claims. Trends in healthcare costs could have a significant impact on
anticipated claims. If actual claims are higher than anticipated, our accrual might be insufficient to cover the claims costs, which would have an
adverse impact on the operating results in that period.

Legal Proceedings and Other Loss Contingencies

We are subject to the possibility of various legal proceedings and other loss contingencies, many involving litigation incidental to the
business and a variety of environmental laws and regulations. Litigation and other loss contingencies are subject to inherent uncertainties and the
outcomes of such matters are often very difficult to predict and generally are resolved over long periods of time. We consider the likelihood of
loss or the incurrence of a liability, as well as the ability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss, in determining loss contingencies. Estimating
probable losses requires the analysis of multiple possible outcomes that often are dependent on the judgment about potential actions by third
parties. Contingencies are recorded in the consolidated financial statements, or otherwise disclosed, in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies.
We accrue for an estimated loss contingency when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably
estimated. Management regularly evaluates current information available to determine whether accrual amounts should be adjusted. If the
amount of an actual loss is greater than the amount accrued, this could have an adverse impact on our operating results in that period. Legal fees
are expensed as incurred.

Income Taxes

All income tax amounts reflect the use of the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial and income tax reporting purposes.

We operate in multiple tax jurisdictions with different tax rates and must determine the appropriate allocation of income to each of these
jurisdictions. In the normal course of business, we will undergo scheduled reviews by taxing authorities regarding the amount of taxes due.
These reviews include questions regarding the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions.
Tax reviews often require an extended period of time to resolve and may result in income tax adjustments if changes to the allocation are
required between jurisdictions with different tax rates.

We record our tax provision based on existing laws, experience with previous settlement agreements, the status of current IRS (or other
taxing authority) examinations and management's understanding of how the tax authorities view certain relevant industry and commercial
matters. In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, we recognize the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than
not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized.
Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. We establish reserves when we
believe that certain positions may not prevail if challenged by a taxing authority. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and
circumstances.

New Accounting Standards

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2011-08, Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) Testing
Goodwill for Impairment. The new guidance permits an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a
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reporting unit is less than its carrying amount before applying the two-step goodwill impairment model that is currently in place. If it is
determined through the qualitative assessment that a reporting unit's fair value is more likely than not greater than its carrying value, the
remaining impairment steps would be unnecessary. The qualitative assessment is optional, allowing companies to go directly to the quantitative
assessment. The new guidance is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2011; however, early adoption is permitted. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2011-08 will have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) Presentation of Comprehensive Income. The new
guidance requires an entity to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income and the components of other
comprehensive income, either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. ASU
2011-05 eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of equity. In December 2011,

the FASB issued ASU 2011-12, Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in ASU 2011-05, to defer the effective date of the specific requirement to present items that are
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income to net income alongside their respective components of net income and other
comprehensive income. All other provisions of ASU 2011-05 are effective for the first annual reporting period, and interim periods within those
years, beginning after December 15, 2011, and should be applied retrospectively. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2011-05 will have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Foreign Currency

Our foreign currency exposure is limited and arises from transactions denominated in foreign currencies, particularly intercompany loans,
as well as from translation of the results of operations from our Canadian and, to a much lesser extent, Mexican subsidiaries. However,
fluctuations between U.S. and non-U.S. currency values may adversely affect our results of operations and financial position. In addition, there
may be tax inefficiencies in repatriating cash from non-U.S. subsidiaries. To the extent such repatriation is necessary for us to meet our debt
service or other obligations, these tax inefficiencies may adversely affect us. We have not entered into any foreign exchange contracts to hedge
changes in the Canadian or Mexican exchange rates. Canadian currency translation positively affected net income by approximately $1.9 million
and $5.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Currency exposure of our Mexican operations is not material to
the results of operations.

Interest Rates

We are exposed to interest rate risk on borrowings. Accordingly, interest rate fluctuations affect the amount of interest expense we are
obligated to pay. We use interest rate derivative agreements to manage the variability of cash flows to be paid due to interest rate movements on
our variable rate debt. We have designated our interest rate derivatives as cash flow hedges. The earnings impact of the derivatives designated as
cash flow hedges are recorded upon the recognition of the interest related to the hedged debt. Any ineffectiveness in the hedging relationships is
recognized in current earnings. There was no significant ineffectiveness in the years ended December 31, 2011 or 2010.

In August 2011, we purchased three interest rate caps for an aggregate amount of approximately $1.1 million with an aggregate notional
amount of $925 million to manage our exposure to interest rate movements on our variable rate New Term Loan B credit facility when
one-month LIBOR exceeds 1.25%. The interest rate cap agreements each had an effective date of August 16, 2011 and each mature on
August 16, 2013.

In May 2009, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $650 million to manage our exposure to interest
rate movements on our variable rate Old Term Loan B credit facility. The interest rate swap agreement had an effective date of June 30, 2009,
was scheduled to mature on June 30, 2012 and effectively resulted in a fixed LIBOR interest rate of 2.19% on $650 million of the Old Term
Loan B credit facility. In connection with the extinguishment of Old Term Loan B in May 2011, we de-designated our interest rate swap and
entered into a swap termination agreement. We paid $14.5 million to settle and terminate the swap agreement.

The fair values of the interest rate derivatives are based on quoted market prices for similar instruments from commercial banks. As noted
above, our interest rate swap agreement was terminated in May 2011, and our old interest rate cap agreement matured on June 30, 2011. At
December 31, 2011, the aggregate fair value of the three interest rate caps was a $1.0 million asset recorded in "Other assets" on the consolidated
balance sheet. At December 31, 2010, the fair value of the interest rate swap was a $16.6 million unrealized loss recorded in "Other accrued
expenses" on the consolidated balance sheet, and the fair value of the old interest rate cap was a less than $0.1 million asset recorded in "Other
current assets" on the consolidated balance sheet. Unrealized gains or losses on the interest rate derivatives are included as a component of
"Accumulated other comprehensive income." At December 31, 2011, there was a net unrealized gain totaling $0.1 million, net of tax benefits of
less than $0.1 million. We were exposed to credit loss in the event of non-performance by the counterparties; however, non-performance is not
anticipated. We only partially hedged our exposure to interest rate fluctuations on our old variable rate debt. A sensitivity analysis of the impact
on our variable rate debt instruments to a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in short-term rates for the year ended December 31, 2011 would
have resulted in an increase in interest expense of approximately $5.0 million.
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Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed under the supervision of our principal executive
officer and principal financial and accounting officer, and effected by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with U.S. GAAP and include those policies and procedures that:

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and the
dispositions of our assets;

Provide reasonable assurance that our transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations

of our management and Board of Directors; and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial and
accounting officer, we assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, using the criteria set
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control Integrated Framework. Based on
our assessment, we have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2011. During our
assessment, we did not identify any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting.

We have excluded OPENLANE, Inc. from our assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 because it
was acquired on October 3, 2011. The total assets and total revenues of OPENLANE, Inc. represent 5.2% and 0.9%, respectively, of the related
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011. We continue to integrate new acquisitions into
corporate processes. No potential internal control changes due to new acquisitions would be considered material to, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2011, also audited the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 as stated

in their report included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/s/ JAMES P. HALLETT

James P. Hallett

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ ERIC M. LOUGHMILLER

Eric M. Loughmiller
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
KAR Auction Services, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of KAR Auction Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011
and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2011. We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on

criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying management's report on internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements and an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the
consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of KAR
Auction Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
years in the three year period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion,
KAR Auction Services, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by COSO.
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As described in the accompanying management's report on internal control over financial reporting, management has excluded
OPENLANE, Inc. from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 because it was acquired by KAR
Auction Services, Inc. on October 3, 2011. We have also excluded OPENLANE, Inc. from our audit of internal control over financial reporting.
Total assets and total revenues of OPENLANE, Inc. represent 5.2% and 0.9%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement
amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 28, 2012
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KAR Auction Services, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income

(In millions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Operating revenues
ADESA Auction Services $ 10174 $ 10759 $ 11,0885
IAA Salvage Services 700.1 610.4 553.1
AFC 168.8 136.3 93.9
Total operating revenues 1,886.3 1,822.6 1,735.5
Operating expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 1,035.2 1,007.3 1,001.5
Selling, general and administrative 389.4 375.2 366.3
Depreciation and amortization 179.8 171.3 172.4
Total operating expenses 1,604.4 1,553.8 1,540.2
Operating profit 281.9 268.8 195.3
Interest expense 143.1 141.4 172.6
Other (income) expense, net 4.7) 2.1) (11.6)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 53.5 32.7 0
Income before income taxes 90.0 96.8 343
Income taxes 17.8 27.2 11.1
Net income $ 722 $ 69.6 $ 23.2
Net income per share
Basic $ 053 $ 052 $ 0.21
Diluted $ 052 §$ 051 $ 0.21

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

74




Edgar Filing: SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

KAR Auction Services, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In millions)

December 31,

2011 2010
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 974 §$ 119.1
Restricted cash 8.2 8.6
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $6.4 and $6.3 297.4 271.9
Finance receivables, net of allowances 132.7 126.2
Finance receivables securitized, net of allowances 741.5 635.7
Deferred income tax assets 37.5 40.8
Other current assets 58.5 52.4
Total current assets 1,373.2 1,254.7
Other assets
Goodwill 1,679.5 1,554.1
Customer relationships, net of accumulated amortization of $325.8 and $254.3 694.0 712.6
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $139.5 and $98.0 305.9 269.8
Unamortized debt issuance costs 28.6 414
Other assets 11.2 11.9
Total other assets 2,719.2 2,589.8
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $362.4 and $299.8 686.7 680.5
Total assets $ 47791 $ 45250

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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KAR Auction Services, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued)

(In millions, except share and per share data)

December 31,

2011 2010
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 3678 $ 287.7
Accrued employee benefits and compensation expenses 57.7 57.2
Accrued interest 2.3 10.1
Other accrued expenses 71.7 88.8
Income taxes payable 0.5 2.9
Obligations collateralized by finance receivables 610.3 520.1
Current maturities of long-term debt 85.9 0
Total current liabilities 1,196.2 966.8
Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt 1,816.9 1,875.7
Deferred income tax liabilities 3239 326.3
Other liabilities 98.9 111.6
Total non-current liabilities 2,239.7 2,313.6
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: Authorized shares: 100,000,000 Issued shares: none 0 0
Common stock, $0.01 par value: Authorized shares: 400,000,000 Issued and outstanding shares: 136,271,358
(2011) 135,493,537 (2010) 1.4 1.4
Additional paid-in capital 1,406.4 1,381.6
Accumulated deficit (92.7) (164.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 28.1 26.5
Total stockholders' equity 1,343.2 1,244.6
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 47791 $ 45250

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Balance at December 31, 2008

Comprehensive income:

KAR Auction Services, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

(In millions)

Accumulated
Other
Common Common Additional Comprehensive
Stock Stock Paid-In  Accumulated Income
Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Loss) Total

1069 $ 1.1 $ 10288 $ (257.7) § (215) $  750.7

Net income 23.2 23.2
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Unrealized gain on interest rate

derivatives 4.6 4.6
Foreign currency translation 36.4 36.4
Unrealized loss on postretirement benefit

obligation 0.1) 0.1
Comprehensive income 64.1
Issuance of common stock 27.6 0.3 310.0 310.3
Stock-based compensation expense 16.4 16.4
Balance at December 31, 2009 1345 $ 14 $ 13552 $ (2345) $ 194 $ 1,141.5
Comprehensive income:

Net income 69.6 69.6
Other comprehensive income (loss), net

of tax:

Unrealized loss on interest rate

derivatives 4.8) 4.8)
Foreign currency translation 12.0 12.0
Unrealized loss on postretirement benefit

obligation 0.1) 0.1
Comprehensive income 76.7
Issuance of common stock under stock

plans 1.0 4.9 4.9
Stock-based compensation expense 19.8 19.8
Excess tax benefits from stock-based

compensation 1.7 1.7
Balance at December 31, 2010 1355 $ 14 $ 1,381.6 $ (1649) $ 26.5 $ 1,244.6
Comprehensive income:

Net income 72.2 72.2
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Unrealized gain on interest rate

derivatives 1.6 1.6
Early termination of swap agreement 9.0 9.0
Foreign currency translation 9.0) 9.0)
Comprehensive income 73.8
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Issuance of common stock under stock

plans 0.8 6.0 6.0
Stock-based compensation expense 17.0 17.0
Excess tax benefits from stock-based

compensation 1.8 1.8
Balance at December 31, 2011 1363 $ 14 $ 14064 $ 92.7) $ 28.1 $ 1,343.2

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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KAR Auction Services, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In millions)

Operating activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Provision for credit losses

Deferred income taxes

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Stock-based compensation

Contingent consideration adjustment

(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Other non-cash, net

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Finance receivables held for sale

Retained interests in finance receivables sold
Trade receivables and other assets

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities

Net increase in finance receivables held for investment
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property, equipment and computer software
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment
Decrease in restricted cash

Net cash used by investing activities

Financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in book overdrafts

Net (decrease) increase in borrowings from lines of credit

Net increase in obligations collateralized by finance receivables
Proceeds from long-term debt

Payments for debt issuance costs/amendments

Payments on long-term debt

Payment for early extinguishment of debt

Payments on capital leases

Payments of contingent consideration and deferred acquisition costs
Initial net investment for interest rate caps

Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of costs

Issuance of common stock under stock plans

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation

Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

722 $ 69.6 $ 232

179.8 171.3 172.4
8.3 13.8 32
3.5) (2.3) (8.8)
10.1 13.7 13.5
17.0 19.8 16.4
(4.6) 0 0
0.2) 1.3 (0.3)
53.5 32.7 0
9.8 11.1 15.7
0 50.2 26.1
0 89.8 (46.4)
1.5 (33.6) 38.5
(38.1) 30.2 2.7
305.8 467.6 250.8
(120.1) (669.0) (10.6)
(214.6) (48.7) (5.5)
(85.8) (78.9) (65.6)
0.3 2.0 7.9
0.4 0.7 6.6
(419.8) (793.9) (67.2)
32.5 (16.7) (23.0)
68.9 0 (4.5)
90.2 520.1 0
1,691.5 0 0
(30.6) (1.3) (5.7
(1,153.1) (103.3) (250.0)
(600.7) (317.4) 0
8.5) (5.0) (3.0)
3.9) (2.0) (1.6)
(1.1) 0 (1.3)
0 0 310.3
6.0 4.9 0
1.8 1.7 0
93.0 81.0 21.2
0.7) 0.5 0.7
(21.7) (244.8) 205.5
119.1 363.9 158.4
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 974 $ 119.1 $ 363.9
Cash paid for interest $ 136.8 $ 1294 § 157.8
Cash paid for taxes, net of refunds $ 365 $ 363 $ 18.8

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Note 1 Organization and Other Matters

KAR Auction Services, Inc. was organized in the State of Delaware on November 9, 2006. We are a holding company that was organized
for the purpose of consummating a merger with ADESA, Inc. and related transactions that resulted in ADESA and Insurance Auto Auction, Inc.
becoming, directly or indirectly, subsidiaries of the Company. We had no operations prior to the merger transactions on April 20, 2007.

Defined Terms

Unless otherwise indicated, the following terms used herein shall have the following meanings:

"we," "us," "our," "KAR Auction Services" and "the Company" refer, collectively, to KAR Auction Services, Inc. and all of
its subsidiaries unless the context otherwise requires;

"ADESA" refers, collectively, to ADESA, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of KAR Auction Services, and its subsidiaries,
including OPENLANE, Inc. ("OPENLANE", a wholly owned subsidiary of ADESA and its subsidiaries);

"AFC" refers, collectively, to Automotive Finance Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of ADESA and its related
subsidiaries;

"Axle LLC" refers to Axle Holdings II, LLC, which is owned by affiliates of certain of the Equity Sponsors (Kelso &
Company and Parthenon), certain members or former members of IAA management and certain co-investors in connection
with the acquisition of IAA in 2005. Axle LLC is the former ultimate parent company of IAA and is a holder of common

equity interests in KAR LLC;

"Credit Agreement" refers to the Credit Agreement, dated May 19, 2011, among KAR Auction Services, as the borrower,
the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto and the administrative agent;

"2007 Credit Agreement" refers to the previous Credit Agreement, dated April 20, 2007, among KAR Auction Services, as
the borrower, KAR LLC, as guarantor, the several lenders from time to time parties thereto and the administrative agent, the
joint bookrunners, the co-documentation agents, the syndication agent and the joint lead arrangers named therein, as
amended on June 10, 2009, October 23, 2009 and November 11, 2010. The 2007 Credit Agreement was terminated
concurrently with our entry into the Credit Agreement described above;

"Credit Facility" refers to the $1.7 billion, six-year senior secured term loan facility and the $250 million, five-year senior
secured revolving credit facility, the terms of which are set forth in the Credit Agreement;

"Equity Sponsors" refers, collectively, to Kelso Investment Associates VII, L.P., GS Capital Partners VI, L.P., ValueAct
Capital Master Fund, L.P. and Parthenon Investors II, L.P., which collectively own through their respective affiliates a

majority of the equity of KAR Auction Services;
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"IAA" refers, collectively, to Insurance Auto Auctions, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of KAR Auction Services, and its
subsidiaries; and
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Note 1 Organization and Other Matters (Continued)

"KAR LLC" refers to KAR Holdings II, LLC, which is owned by affiliates of the Equity Sponsors and management of the
Company.

Initial Public Offering

KAR Auction Services' sold 25,000,000 shares of common stock in an initial public offering in December 2009. The offering resulted in
gross proceeds of $300 million, before underwriters' discounts and offering expenses. In addition, in December 2009, the underwriters' exercised
a portion of their overallotment option, and as a result an additional 2,656,050 shares of common stock were sold for gross proceeds of
$31.9 million, before underwriters' discounts. As a result of the initial public offering and the underwriters' partial exercise of the overallotment
option, we received net proceeds of $310.3 million, after deducting underwriter discounts of $19.1 million and additional offering-related
expenses of $2.5 million.

We used the $310.3 million of net proceeds from the initial public offering and overallotment option, together with $199.0 million of cash
on hand, to (i) repay $250.0 million of our former senior secured term loan (Old Term Loan B) in December 2009, (ii) to repay $225.6 million of
our 10% senior subordinated notes in January 2010, (iii) to pay $18.0 million of net premiums payable related to the notes repurchase in January
2010, (iv) to pay $5.2 million of amendment fees related to Old Term Loan B in December 2009, and (v) to pay $10.5 million of termination
fees in December 2009 to our Equity Sponsors in connection with the termination of our financial advisory agreements with each of them.

Business and Nature of Operations

As of December 31, 2011, we have a network of online whole car auctions and 69 ADESA whole car auction sites and 159 IAA salvage
vehicle auction sites. Our auctions facilitate the sale of used and salvage vehicles through physical, online or hybrid auctions, and which permit
internet buyers to participate in physical auctions. ADESA Auctions and IAA are leading, national providers of wholesale and salvage vehicle
auctions and related vehicle remarketing services for the automotive industry in North America. Our online service offerings include
OPENLANE, a leader in internet-based remarketing solutions, and allow us to offer vehicles for sale from any location. Remarketing services
include a variety of activities designed to transfer used and salvage vehicles between sellers and buyers throughout the vehicle life cycle.
ADESA Auctions and TAA facilitate the exchange of these vehicles through an auction marketplace, which aligns sellers and buyers. As an
agent for customers, the Company generally does not take title to or ownership to vehicles sold at the auctions. Generally fees are earned from
the seller and buyer on each successful auction transaction in addition to fees earned for ancillary services.

ADESA has the second largest used vehicle auction network in North America, based upon the number of used vehicles sold through
auctions annually, and also provides services such as inbound and outbound logistics, reconditioning, vehicle inspection and certification, titling,
administrative and salvage recovery services. ADESA is able to serve the diverse and multi-faceted needs of its customers through the wide
range of services offered.
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IAA is one of the two largest providers of salvage vehicle auctions and related services in North America. The salvage auctions facilitate
the remarketing of damaged vehicles that are designated as total losses by insurance companies, recovered stolen vehicles for which an
insurance settlement with the vehicle owner has already been made and older model vehicles donated to charity or sold by dealers in salvage
auctions. The salvage auction business specializes in providing services such as inbound and outbound logistics, inspections, evaluations, titling
and settlement administrative services.

AFC is a leading provider of floorplan financing to independent used vehicle dealers and this financing was provided through 103 locations
throughout North America at December 31, 2011. Floorplan financing supports independent used vehicle dealers in North America who
purchase vehicles at ADESA, IAA, independent auctions and auctions affiliated with other auction networks.

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of KAR Auction Services and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries. Significant
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires
management to make estimates based in part on assumptions about current, and for some estimates, future economic and market conditions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Although the current estimates contemplate current conditions and expected
future changes, as appropriate, it is reasonably possible that future conditions could differ from these estimates, which could materially affect
our results of operations and financial position. Among other effects, such changes could result in future impairments of goodwill, intangible
assets and long-lived assets, incremental losses on finance receivables, additional allowances on accounts receivable and deferred tax assets and
changes in self insurance reserves.

Business Segments

Our operations are grouped into three operating segments: ADESA Auctions, IAA and AFC. The three operating segments also serve as our
reportable business segments. Operations are measured through detailed budgeting and monitoring of contributions to consolidated income by
each business segment.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity

We recognize all derivative financial instruments in the consolidated financial statements at fair value in accordance with ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedging. We currently use three interest rate caps that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges to manage the variability
of cash flows to be paid due to interest rate movements on our variable rate debt. We do not, however, enter into hedging contracts for trading or

speculative purposes. The fair values of the interest rate derivatives are based on quoted
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market prices for similar instruments from commercial banks. The fair value of the derivatives is recorded in "Other assets" or "Other liabilities"
on the consolidated balance sheet based on the gain or loss position of the contracts and their remaining term. Changes in the fair value of the
interest rate derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are recorded net of tax in "Other comprehensive income." Gains and losses on the
interest rate derivatives are subsequently included in earnings as an adjustment to interest expense in the same periods in which the related
interest payment being hedged is recognized in earnings. We use the change in variable cash flows method to assess hedge effectiveness in
accordance with ASC 815.

Foreign Currency Translation

Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at average exchange rates in effect during the
year. Assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated using the exchange rates in effect at year end. Foreign currency transaction gains
and losses are included in the consolidated statements of income within "Other (income) expense, net" and resulted in a loss of $0.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2011 and a gain of $1.1 million and $9.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Adjustments arising from the translation of net assets located outside the U.S. (gains and losses) are shown as a component of "Accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss)."

Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less are considered to be cash equivalents. These investments are
valued at cost, which approximates fair value.

Restricted Cash

AFC Funding Corporation, a wholly owned, bankruptcy remote, consolidated, special purpose subsidiary of AFC, is required to maintain a
cash reserve of 1 percent of total receivables sold to the bank conduit facility as security for the receivables sold. Automotive Finance
Canada, Inc. ("AFCI") is also required to maintain a cash reserve of 1 percent of total receivables sold to its securitization facility. The amount
of the cash reserve depends on circumstances which are set forth in the securitization agreements. AFC also maintains other cash reserves from
time to time associated with its banking relationships. In addition, ADESA has cash reserves with a bank related to vendor purchases.

Receivables

Trade receivables include the unremitted purchase price of vehicles purchased by third parties at the auctions, fees to be collected from
those buyers and amounts for services provided by us related to certain consigned vehicles in our possession. These amounts due with respect to
the consigned vehicles are generally deducted from the sales proceeds upon the eventual auction or other disposition of the related vehicles.

Finance receivables include floorplan receivables created by financing dealer purchases of vehicles in exchange for a security interest in
those vehicles and special purpose loans. Floorplan receivables become due at the earlier of the dealer subsequently selling the vehicle or a
predetermined time period
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(generally 30 to 60 days). Special purpose loans relate to loans that are either line of credit loans or working capital loans that can be either
secured or unsecured based on the facts and circumstances of the specific loans.

Due to the nature of our business, substantially all trade and finance receivables are due from vehicle dealers, salvage buyers, institutional
sellers and insurance companies. We have possession of vehicles or vehicle titles collateralizing a significant portion of the trade and finance
receivables.

Trade receivables and finance receivables are reported net of an allowance for doubtful accounts and credit losses. The allowances for
doubtful accounts and credit losses are based on management's evaluation of the receivables portfolio under current conditions, the volume of
the portfolio, overall portfolio credit quality, review of specific collection issues and such other factors which in management's judgment deserve
recognition in estimating losses. Prior to January 1, 2010, finance receivables held for sale were carried at lower of cost or fair value. Fair value
was based upon estimates of future cash flows including estimates of anticipated credit losses. Estimated losses for receivables sold by AFC
Funding Corporation to the bank conduit facility with recourse to AFC Funding Corporation (see Note 6) were recorded as an accrued expense.

Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of inventories, prepaid expenses, taxes receivable and notes receivable. The inventories, which consist of
vehicles, supplies, and parts are accounted for on the specific identification method, and are stated at the lower of cost or market.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually in the second quarter, or more frequently as impairment indicators arise. The goodwill impairment test is a two-step test. Under the first
step, the fair value of each reporting unit is compared with its carrying value (including goodwill). If the fair value of the reporting unit is less
than its carrying value, an indication of goodwill impairment exists for the reporting unit and we must perform step two of the impairment test
(measurement). Under step two, an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit's goodwill over the
implied fair value of that goodwill. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit in a manner
similar to a purchase price allocation, in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations. The residual fair value after this allocation is the
implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill. Fair value of the reporting unit is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis. If the fair
value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, step two does not need to be performed.

Customer Relationships and Other Intangible Assets

Customer relationships are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life determined in the valuation of the particular acquisition. Other
intangible assets generally consist of tradenames, computer software and non-compete agreements, and if amortized, are amortized using the
straight-line method. Tradenames with indefinite lives are not amortized and tradenames that have been assigned a
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useful life are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Costs incurred related to software developed or obtained for internal use are
capitalized during the application development stage of software development and amortized over their estimated useful lives. The non-compete
agreements are amortized over the life of the agreements. The lives of other intangible assets are re-evaluated periodically when facts and
circumstances indicate that revised estimates of useful lives may be warranted.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
at rates intended to depreciate the costs of assets over their estimated useful lives. Upon retirement or sale of property and equipment, the cost of
the disposed assets and related accumulated depreciation is removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited or charged to
selling, general and administrative expenses. Expenditures for normal repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Additions and
expenditures for improving or rebuilding existing assets that extend the useful life are capitalized. Leasehold improvements made either at the
inception of the lease or during the lease term are amortized over the shorter of their economic lives or the lease term including any renewals
that are reasonably assured.

Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs reflect the expenditures incurred in conjunction with Term Loan B, the senior notes, the senior subordinated notes, the
bank credit facility and the U.S. and Canadian receivables purchase agreements. The debt issuance costs are being amortized under the effective
interest method over their respective lives to interest expense.

Other Assets
Other assets consist of below market leases, deposits and other long-term assets.
Long-Lived Assets

Management reviews our property and equipment, customer relationships and other intangible assets for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. The determination includes evaluation of factors such as
current market value, future asset utilization, business climate, and future cash flows expected to result from the use of the related assets. If the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds the total amount of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows from that asset, a loss is
recognized in the period to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the asset. The impairment analysis is based on our
current business strategy, expected growth rates and estimated future economic and regulatory conditions.

Accounts Payable

Accounts payable include amounts due sellers from the proceeds of the sale of their consigned vehicles less any fees, as well as outstanding
checks to sellers and vendors. Book overdrafts,
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representing outstanding checks in excess of funds on deposit, are recorded in "Accounts payable" and amounted to $136.5 million and
$104.0 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Environmental Liabilities

Accruals for environmental matters are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be
reasonably estimated, based on current law and existing technologies. These accruals are adjusted periodically as assessment and remediation
efforts progress, or as additional technical or legal information becomes available. Accruals for environmental liabilities are included in "Other
accrued expenses" at undiscounted amounts and exclude claims for recoveries from insurance or other third parties.

Revenue Recognition
ADESA Auction Services

Revenues and the related costs are recognized when the services are performed. Auction fees from sellers and buyers are recognized upon
the sale of the vehicle through the auction process. Most of the vehicles that are sold through auctions are consigned to ADESA by the seller and
held at ADESA's facilities or third party locations. ADESA does not take title to these consigned vehicles and recognizes revenue when a service
is performed as requested by the owner of the vehicle. ADESA does not record the gross selling price of the consigned vehicles sold at auction
as revenue. Instead, ADESA records only its auction fees as revenue because it does not take title to the consigned vehicles, has no influence on
the vehicle auction selling price agreed to by the seller and buyer at the auction and the fees that ADESA receives for its services are generally a
fixed amount. Revenues from reconditioning, logistics, vehicle inspection and certification, titling, evaluation and salvage recovery services are
generally recognized when the services are performed.

IAA Salvage Services

Revenues (including vehicle sales and fee income) are generally recognized at the date the vehicles are sold at auction. Revenue not
recognized at the date the vehicles are sold at auction includes annual buyer registration fees, which are recognized on a straight-line basis, and
certain buyer-related fees, which are recognized when payment is received.

AFC

AFC's revenue is comprised of interest and fee income, provision for credit losses and other revenues associated with our finance
receivables. Prior to January 1, 2010, AFC's net revenue was
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comprised primarily of securitization income and interest and fee income less provisions for credit losses. The following table summarizes the
primary components of AFC's revenue:

Year Ended December 31,
AFC Revenue (In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Securitization income $ $ $ 417
Interest and fee income 163.7 137.9 48.1
Other revenue 11.2 9.6 6.2
Provision for credit losses (6.1) (11.2) 2.1

$ 1688 $ 1363 $ 939
Securitization income

AFC generally sells its U.S. dollar denominated finance receivables through a revolving private securitization structure. As of January 1,
2010, our consolidated statement of income no longer reflects securitization income as a result of adopting Accounting Standards Update
2009-16. Additionally, we no longer record a gain on sale for securitization activity since finance receivables securitized no longer receive gain
on sale treatment. Prior to January 1, 2010, securitization income was primarily comprised of the gain on sale of finance receivables sold, but
also included servicing income, discount accretion, and any change in the fair value of the retained interest in finance receivables sold. Gains
and losses on the sale of receivables were recognized upon transfer to the bank conduit facility. Interest expense related to the revolving sale
agreement which was included in securitization income prior to January 1, 2010, is now included in "Interest expense" on the consolidated
statement of income.

Interest and fee income

Interest on finance receivables is recognized based on the number of days the vehicle remains financed. AFC ceases recognition of interest
on finance receivables when the loans become delinquent, which is generally 31 days past due. Dealers are also charged a fee to floorplan a
vehicle ("floorplan fee") and extend the terms of the receivable ("curtailment fee"). AFC fee income including floorplan and curtailment fees is
recognized over the life of the finance receivable.

Other revenue

Previously, certain AFC fees collected from customers were netted against cost of services as well as certain selling, general and
administrative expenses. Such fees included lot check fees, filing fees and postage fees, each of which are charged to and collected from AFC's
customers. Beginning in 2011, these fees were included in revenue with the corresponding costs reflected in their respective expense categories
resulting in an increase to "Other revenue" as well as the related expenses for all periods
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presented. As a result, AFC's revenue, cost of services and selling, general and administrative expenses were revised as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009
As Previously As Previously
Reported Revised Reported Revised
Revenue $ 128.7 $ 1363 $ 880 $ 939
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 28.5 34.1 29.8 34.0
Selling, general and administrative 18.6 20.6 11.6 13.3

Loan origination costs

Loan origination costs incurred by AFC in originating floorplan receivables are capitalized at the origination of the customer contract. Such
costs for receivables retained are amortized over the estimated life of the customer contract. Costs associated with receivables sold prior to
January 1, 2010 were included as a reduction in revenue.

Income Taxes

We file federal, state and foreign income tax returns in accordance with the applicable rules of each jurisdiction. We account for income

taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes includes federal, foreign,
state and local income taxes currently payable, as well as deferred taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable amounts in years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. If it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not
be realized, a valuation allowance is recognized.

In accordance with ASC 740, we recognize the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being
sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in
recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.

Net Income per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted net income per share represents net income divided by the sum of the weighted average common shares outstanding plus potential
dilutive instruments such as stock options. The effect of stock options on net income per share-diluted is determined through the application of
the treasury stock method, whereby net proceeds received by the Company based on assumed exercises are hypothetically used to repurchase
our common stock at the average market price during the period. Stock options that would have an anti-dilutive effect on net income per share
are excluded from the calculations.
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Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under ASC 718, Compensation Stock Compensation. We recognize all stock-based
compensation as expense in the financial statements and that cost is measured as the fair value of the award at the grant date for equity-classified
awards, while liability-classified awards are remeasured each reporting period at fair value. We also consider estimated forfeitures in
determining compensation expense. Additionally, in accordance with ASC 718, cash flows resulting from tax deductions from the exercise of
stock options in excess of recognized compensation cost (excess tax benefits) are classified as financing cash flows.

New Accounting Standards

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2011-05, Comprehensive
Income (Topic 220) Presentation of Comprehensive Income. The new guidance requires an entity to present the total of comprehensive income,
the components of net income and the components of other comprehensive income, either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive
income or in two separate but consecutive statements. ASU 2011-05 eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive
income as part of the statement of equity. In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-12, Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to
the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in ASU 2011-05, to defer the effective date of
the specific requirement to present items that are reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income to net income alongside their
respective components of net income and other comprehensive income. All other provisions of ASU 2011-05 are effective for the first annual
reporting period, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011, and should be applied retrospectively. We do not
expect the adoption of ASU 2011-05 will have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Reclassifications and Revisions

Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified or revised to conform to the current year
presentation.

Note 3 Acquisitions
2011 Acquisitions

In August 2011, ADESA entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") with OPENLANE. In October 2011, we
completed the acquisition of OPENLANE, which became a wholly owned subsidiary of ADESA. OPENLANE is a North American online
automotive auction company that provides a market for online buyers and sellers of wholesale vehicles. OPENLANE offers its comprehensive
remarketing solutions to auto manufacturers, captive finance companies, lease and daily rental companies, used vehicle dealers, financial
institutions and wholesale auto auctions throughout the United States and Canada.

As aresult of the merger and pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, each outstanding share of OPENLANE common stock and
preferred stock (other than those shares of common stock or preferred stock held by OPENLANE) was converted into the right to receive an
amount in cash as set
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forth in the Merger Agreement. The value of the cash consideration payable in the merger was $208.4 million plus approximately $35 million
for excess cash on OPENLANE's balance sheet at the closing of the merger. We funded the cash consideration paid at closing with a
combination of approximately $98.4 million of existing cash on-hand and borrowings of approximately $145 million from our revolving credit
facility. We utilized approximately $35 million of acquired cash to immediately repay a portion of the borrowings on the revolving credit
facility. In addition, we entered into operating lease obligations related to various facilities through 2017. Initial annual lease payments for the
various facilities are approximately $1.6 million per year. Financial results for the acquisition have been included in our consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. In the fourth quarter of 2011, OPENLANE contributed revenue of $16.4 million and had a net loss of
$2.7 million, or $0.02 per diluted share.

During 2011, we completed the acquisitions of a company that auctions heavy machinery, a company that develops satellite-based, GPS
technology for advanced vehicle tracking and a salvage facility. The purchase agreements included contingent payments related to financial
results and business deployments subsequent to the purchase date. The purchased assets included fixed assets, software, inventory, accounts
receivable and other intangible assets. Financial results for each acquisition have been included in our consolidated financial statements from the
date of acquisition.

The aggregate purchase price for the businesses acquired in 2011, net of cash, was approximately $214.0 million, which includes estimated
contingent payments with a present value of $0.4 million. The maximum amount of undiscounted contingent payments related to these
acquisitions could approximate $0.4 million. The purchase price for the acquired businesses was allocated to acquired assets and liabilities based
upon fair values, including $94.7 million to intangible assets, representing the fair value of acquired customer relationships, tradenames,
software and noncompete agreements, which are being amortized over their expected useful lives. The acquisitions resulted in aggregate
goodwill of $123.6 million. The financial impact of these acquisitions, including pro forma financial results, was immaterial to the Company's
statement of operations.

Some of our acquisitions from prior years include contingent payments related to revenues or unit volumes of certain vehicles sold
subsequent to the purchase dates. We made contingent payments in 2011, 2010 and 2009 totaling approximately $1.8 million, $2.0 million and
$1.6 million, respectively, pursuant to these agreements, which resulted in additional goodwill. In addition, in 2011, we reversed contingent
consideration of approximately $4.6 million related to certain prior year acquisitions based on revised forecasts which indicated the unit volumes
required during the measurement period in order for the contingent consideration to become payable would not be met. The net $4.6 million of
contingent consideration adjustments were recorded to "Other (income) expense, net" in the consolidated statement of income.

2010 Acquisitions
During the fourth quarter of 2010 the Company completed the acquisition of six used vehicle auctions, two processors of charity donation
vehicles which are primarily sold through salvage operations, a loan servicing company focused on servicing loans made by automobile lenders

and a company focused on remarketing repossessed vehicles for credit unions. The various purchase agreements included contingent payments
related to revenues or unit volumes subsequent to the
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purchase dates. The purchased assets included land, buildings, accounts receivable, operating equipment, customer relationships and other
intangible assets. In addition, we entered into operating lease obligations related to certain facilities with initial annual lease payments
aggregating approximately $0.8 million. Financial results for each acquisition have been included in our consolidated financial statements from
the date of acquisition.

The aggregate purchase price for the businesses acquired in 2010 was approximately $59.4 million, which includes estimated contingent
payments with a present value of $10.7 million. The maximum amount of undiscounted contingent payments related to these acquisitions could
approximate $11.1 million. The purchase price for the acquired businesses was allocated to acquired assets and liabilities based upon fair values,
including $27.9 million to intangible assets, representing the fair value of acquired customer relationships, tradenames and noncompete
agreements which are being amortized over their expected useful lives. The acquisitions resulted in aggregate goodwill of $26.2 million. The
financial impact of these acquisitions, including pro forma financial results, was immaterial to the Company's balance sheet and statement of
income.

Note 4 Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Our stock-based compensation expense includes expense associated with KAR Auction Services, Inc. service and exit option awards,
KAR LLC operating unit awards and Axle LLC operating unit awards. We have classified the KAR LLC and Axle LLC operating units as
liability awards. In February 2009, our board took certain actions related to our stock-based compensation plans which resulted in all outstanding
option awards being classified as liability awards prospectively. On December 10, 2009, in conjunction with the initial public offering, our board
rescinded its actions from February 2009 which resulted in all service options being classified as equity awards. In addition, the exit options
were modified which resulted in all exit options becoming equity classified. The main difference between a liability-classified award and an
equity-classified award is that liability-classified awards are remeasured each reporting period at fair value. The modifications are discussed in
more detail below.

The compensation cost that was charged against income for all stock-based compensation plans was $17.0 million, $19.8 million and
$16.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and the total income tax benefit recognized in the
consolidated statement of income for options was approximately $6.1 million, $6.6 million and $3.0 million for the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We did not capitalize any stock-based compensation cost in the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 or

2009. The following table summarizes our stock-based compensation expense by type of award (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Service options $ 12 $ 03 $ 78
Exit options 15.9 18.0 0.2
KAR LLC profit interests 0.3 1.6 42
Axle LLC profit interests 0.4) 0.1) 4.2
Total $ 170 $ 198 $ 164
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Axle Holdings, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan

Prior to the merger transactions, IAA was a subsidiary of Axle Holdings, Inc. ("Axle Holdings"), which in turn was a subsidiary of
Axle LLC. Axle Holdings maintained the Axle Holdings, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan to provide equity incentive benefits to the IAA employees.
Under the Axle Holdings plan, service options and exit options were awarded. The service options vested in three equal annual installments from
the grant date based upon service with Axle Holdings and its subsidiaries. The exit options vested upon a change in equity control of Axle LLC.
In connection with the completion of the merger transactions, approximately 5.8 million options (service and exit) to purchase shares of Axle
Holdings, Inc. stock were converted into approximately 2.3 million options (service and exit) to purchase shares of KAR Auction Services; these
converted options have the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the options to purchase shares of Axle Holdings, Inc. The fair value
of the exchanged options for which service had been provided approximated $8.9 million and was included as part of the merger price. The
converted options are included in the KAR Auction Services, Inc. service option table and exit option table below.

Prior to December 10, 2009, compensation cost was recognized using the straight-line attribution method over the requisite service period
for the unvested service options exchanged at the date of the merger. As the ultimate exercisability of the exit options exchanged was contingent
upon an event (specifically, a change of control), the compensation expense related to the exchanged exit options was not expected to be
recognized until such an event was consummated. However, on December 10, 2009, in conjunction with the initial public offering, all
outstanding service options became fully vested and exercisable. In addition, the vesting criteria and exercisability of the exit options were
modified. Our board amended the terms of all exit options to substitute the existing criteria governing the exercisability of the exit options with
criteria governing exercisability based on the price per share of our common stock. Accordingly, rather than vest upon the achievement of
certain specified
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performance goals at the time of an exit event, the exit options originally granted under the Axle Holdings, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan vest as
follows:

Amount Vested Conditions to Vesting

25% of exit options shall vest and become exercisable if (i) the fair market value of Company common stock exceeds $16.01*
An additional 25% of exit options shall vest and become exercisable

if (i) the fair market value of Company common stock exceeds $19.21*
An additional 25% of exit options shall vest and become exercisable

if (i) the fair market value of Company common stock exceeds $22.41*
An additional 25% of exit options shall vest and become exercisable

if (i) the fair market value of Company common stock exceeds $25.62*

Additional conditions to vesting: (ii) the price of the Company's common stock on the last trading day of a 90 consecutive trading day
period must be greater than or equal to 85% of $16.01, $19.21, $22.41 or $25.62, respectively; and (iii) the option holder is a director,
officer, employee, consultant or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries on the date on which the conditions set forth in (i) and
(ii) above are satisfied.

For purposes of determining the conditions to vesting, the "fair market value" of any share of Company common stock, on any date of
determination, shall be the average for 90 consecutive trading days prior to such date of determination of the last sales price for a share
of Company common stock on the principal securities exchange on which the Company common stock is then listed.

In May 2011, the vesting criteria for the first 25% of the exit options was met and as such 25% of the outstanding exit options became
exercisable.

Axle LLC Profit Interests

Axle LLC also maintained two types of profit interests, operating units and value units, which are held by certain designated employees of
IAA. Upon an exit event as defined by the Axle LLC operating agreement, holders of the profit interests will receive a cash distribution from
Axle LLC. The service requirement for the operating units was fulfilled during 2008 and as such the operating units are fully vested. The value
units vest upon a change in equity control of Axle LLC. The number of value units eligible for distribution will be determined based on the
strike price and certain performance hurdles based on the Equity Sponsors and other investors' achievement of certain multiples on their original
indirect equity investment in Axle Holdings subject to a minimum internal rate of return at the time of distribution. A total of 191,152 operating
units and 382,304 value units are maintained by
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Axle LLC and there were no changes to the terms and conditions of the units as a result of the merger transactions.

The operating units are accounted for as liability awards and as such, compensation expense related to the operating units is recognized
using the graded-vesting attribution method. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, $0.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of
compensation expense for the Axle LLC operating units was reversed as the fair value of the operating units declined. Compensation expense for
the year ended December 31, 2009 was $4.2 million. As of December 31, 2011, the Axle LLC operating units were fully vested.

The Company has not recorded compensation expense related to the value units and none will be recognized on the value units until it
becomes probable that an exit event (specifically, a change in control) will occur.

KAR Auction Services, Inc. 2009 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan

We adopted the KAR Auction Services, Inc. 2009 Omnibus and Stock Incentive Plan ("Omnibus Plan") in December 2009. The Omnibus
Plan is intended to provide equity or cash based awards to our employees. The maximum number of shares that may be issued pursuant to
awards under the Omnibus Plan is approximately 6.5 million. The Omnibus Plan provides for the grant of options, restricted stock, stock
appreciation rights, other stock-based awards and cash based awards.

In 2011, we granted approximately 1.3 million service options with a weighted average exercise price of $15.05 per share under the
Omnibus Plan, and in 2010 we granted approximately 0.5 million service options with a weighted average exercise price of $12.90 per share. In
addition, in 2010 we granted approximately 0.7 million exit options with an exercise price per share of $13.46 under the Omnibus Plan. The
service and exit options have a ten year life and the service options vest in four equal annual installments, commencing on the first anniversary
of the respective grant dates. The exit options contain the same vesting criteria as those noted below under the KAR Auctions Services, Inc.
Stock Incentive Plan.

KAR Auction Services, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan

The Company adopted the KAR Auction Services, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan ("the Plan") in May 2007. The Plan was intended to provide
equity incentive benefits to the Company's employees. The maximum number of shares that were to be issued pursuant to awards under the Plan
was approximately 7.9 million. The Plan provided for the grant of incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options and restricted stock.
Awards granted since the adoption of the Plan were non-qualified stock options, and no further grants will be awarded under the Plan.

The Plan provided two types of stock options: service-related options, which were to vest ratably in four annual installments from the date
of grant based upon the passage of time, and performance-related "exit" options, which were generally to become exercisable upon a change in
equity control of KAR LLC. Under the exit options, in addition to the change in equity control requirement, the number of options that vest were
to be determined based on the strike price and certain performance hurdles based on the Equity Sponsors and other investors' achievement of
certain multiples on their original indirect equity investment in KAR Auction Services subject to a minimum internal rate of return at the
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time of change in equity control. All vesting criteria was subject to continued employment with KAR LLC or affiliates thereof. Options were to
be granted under the Plan at an exercise price of not less than the fair market value of a share of KAR Auction Services common stock on the
date of grant and have a contractual life of ten years. In the event of a change in control, any unvested options were to become fully vested and
cashed out. In August 2007, we granted approximately 1.6 million service options and 4.9 million exit options, with an exercise price of $10 per
share, under the Plan. In 2008, we granted approximately 0.2 million service options and 0.6 million exit options, with a weighted average
exercise price of $16.47 per share. In 2009, we granted 0.2 million service options and 0.5 million exit options, with an exercise price of $10 per
share.

On December 10, 2009, in conjunction with the initial public offering, all outstanding service options became fully vested and exercisable.
In addition, the vesting criteria and exercisability of the exit options was modified. The board amended the terms of all exit options to substitute
the existing criteria governing the exercisability of the exit options with criteria governing exercisability based on the price per share of our
common stock. Accordingly, rather than vest upon the achievement of certain specified performance goals at the time of an exit event, the exit
options granted under the KAR Auction Services, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan vest as follows:

Amount Vested Conditions to Vesting

25% of exit options shall vest and become exercisable if (i) the fair market value of Company common stock exceeds $20.00*
An additional 25% of exit options shall vest and become exercisable

if (i) the fair market value of Company common stock exceeds $25.00*
An additional 25% of exit options shall vest and become exercisable

if (i) the fair market value of Company common stock exceeds $30.00*
An additional 25% of exit options shall vest and become exercisable

if (i) the fair market value of Company common stock exceeds $35.00*

Additional conditions to vesting: (ii) the price of the Company's common stock on the last trading day of a 90 consecutive trading day
period must be greater than or equal to 85% of $20.00, $25.00, $30.00 or $35.00, respectively; and (iii) the option holder is a director,
officer, employee, consultant or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries on the date on which the conditions set forth in (i) and
(ii) above are satisfied.

For purposes of determining the conditions to vesting, the "fair market value" of any share of Company common stock, on any date of
determination, shall be the average for 90 consecutive trading days prior to such date of determination of the last sales price for a share

of Company common stock on the principal securities exchange on which the Company common stock is then listed.
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The following table summarizes service option activity under the Omnibus Plan and the Plan for the year ended December 31, 2011:

Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Exercise Contractual Value
Service Options Number Price Term (in millions)
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 2,736,473 $ 9.61
Granted 1,263,676 15.05
Exercised (729,273) 7.56
Forfeited (12,042) 12.34
Cancelled (1,241) 13.32
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 3257593 $ 12.17 7.4 years $ 7.0
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 1,632,301 $ 9.78 5.5 years $ 6.5

The intrinsic value presented in the table above represents the amount by which the market value of the underlying stock exceeds the
exercise price of the option at December 31, 2011. The intrinsic value changes continuously based on the fair value of our stock. The market
value is based on KAR Auction Services' closing stock price of $13.50 on December 30, 2011. The total intrinsic value of service options
exercised during the year ended December 31, 2011 was $7.2 million. The fair value of all vested and exercisable service options at
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $22.0 million, $30.9 million and $44.5 million, respectively.

We recognized compensation expense for the service options of approximately $1.2 million and $0.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. In accordance with ASC 718, we determined the fair value of all outstanding service options in
2009, at the date of the modification (December 10, 2009), using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of the modified service
options was approximately $19.6 million. We recognized compensation expense for the service options of approximately $7.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2009. Since the service options became fully vested in December 2009, we recorded the difference between the
modified fair value of the awards and the cumulative compensation expense previously recognized. As of December 31, 2011, there was
approximately $6.4 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested service options.

With the exception of the period of time between February 2009 and December 10, 2009, service options have been accounted for as equity
awards and, as such, compensation expense was measured based on the fair value of the award at the date of grant and recognized over the four
year service period, using the straight-line attribution method. The weighted average fair value of the service options granted was $4.69 per
share, $4.07 per share and $3.22 per share for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The weighted average fair value
of all service options modified on December 10, 2009 was $6.09 per share. The fair value of service options granted, as well
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as service options modified on December 10, 2009, was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the
following assumptions:

Assumptions 2011 2010 2009
Risk-free interest rate 0.625% -1.69%  0.805% -1.81%  0.32% - 2.205%
Expected life 4 years 4 years 1 -5 years
Expected volatility 38.0% 38.0% 38.0%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rate This is the yield on U.S. Treasury Securities posted at the date of grant (or date of modification) having a term equal
to the expected life of the option. An increase in the risk-free interest rate will increase compensation expense.

Expected life years This is the period of time over which the options granted are expected to remain outstanding. Options granted by KAR
Auction Services had a maximum term of ten years. An increase in the expected life will increase compensation expense.

Expected volatility Actual changes in the market value of stock are used to calculate the volatility assumption. Based on the Company's
limited time as a publicly traded company, the expected volatility used was determined based on a combination of historical volatility, the
volatility of selected comparable companies and other relevant factors. An increase in the expected volatility will increase compensation
expense.

Dividend yield This is the annual rate of dividends per share over the exercise price of the option. An increase in the dividend yield will
decrease compensation expense.

The following table summarizes exit option activity under the Omnibus Plan and the Plan for the year ended December 31, 2011:

Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Exercise Contractual Value
Exit Options Number Price Term (in millions)
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 6,490,207 $ 10.50
Granted N/A
Exercised (33,671) 6.79
Forfeited (153,150) 11.80
Cancelled N/A
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 6,303,386 $ 10.49 6.0 years $ 20.1
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 117,381 $ 6.69 3.9 years $ 0.8

The intrinsic value presented in the table above represents the amount by which the market value of the underlying stock exceeds the
exercise price of the option at December 31, 2011. The intrinsic value changes continuously based on the fair value of our stock. The market
value is based on KAR Auction Services' closing stock price of $13.50 on December 30, 2011. The total intrinsic value of exit
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options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2011 was $0.4 million. The fair value of all vested and exercisable exit options at
December 31, 2011 was $1.6 million.

The requisite service period and the fair value of the exit options granted in 2010 and at the date of the modification were developed in
consultation with independent valuation specialists. The weighted average fair value of exit options granted in 2010 was $7.89 per share. The
weighted average fair value of all exit options modified on December 10, 2009 was $6.96 per share, and the fair value of the modified exit
options was approximately $10.4 million. The time horizons over which our stock price is projected to achieve the market conditions noted in
the above tables ranges from 1.2 years to 3.9 years. As a result, compensation expense will be recognized over the derived service periods
ranging from 1.2 years to 3.9 years. We recognized compensation expense for these exit options of approximately $15.9 million, $18.0 million
and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. As of December 31, 2011, there was approximately
$10.7 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to the nonvested exit options.

KAR LLC Profit Interests

Prior to December 10, 2009, KAR LLC owned 100% of the outstanding shares of KAR Auction Services. The KAR LLC operating
agreement provides for profit interests in KAR LLC to be granted and held by certain designated employees of the Company. Upon an exit event
as defined by the KAR LLC operating agreement, and at any other time determined by the board, holders of the profit interests will receive a
cash distribution from KAR LLC.

Two types of profit interests were created by the KAR LLC operating agreement: (1) operating units, which vest in four equal installments
commencing on the first anniversary of the grant date based upon service, and (2) value units, which are eligible for distributions upon attaining
certain performance hurdles. The service requirement for the operating units was fulfilled during 2011 and as such the operating units are fully
vested. The number of value units eligible for distributions will be determined based on the strike price and certain performance hurdles based
on the Equity Sponsors and other investors' achievement of certain multiples on their original indirect equity investment in KAR Auction
Services subject to an internal rate of return minimum at the time of distribution.

There were approximately 0.1 million operating units awarded and 0.4 million value units awarded to employees of the Company in June
2007 with a strike price equal to $100 for the profit interests. The following table summarizes the KAR LLC profit interests activity for the year
ended December 31, 2011:

Profit Interests: Operating Units Value Units
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 121,046 363,139
Granted

Forfeited

Outstanding at December 31, 2011 121,046 363,139

The grant date fair value of the operating units and value units was $36.90 and $45.21, respectively. The fair value of each operating unit
was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
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Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of each value unit was estimated on the date of grant using a lattice-based valuation model.

The compensation expense of KAR LLC, which is for the benefit of Company employees, will result in a capital contribution from
KAR LLC to the Company and compensation expense for the Company. Compensation expense related to the operating units is recognized
using the straight-line attribution method and resulted in $0.3 million, $1.6 million and $4.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009, respectively. As of December 31, 2011, the KAR LLC operating units were fully vested.

The Company has not recorded compensation expense related to the value units and none will be recognized until it becomes probable that
the performance conditions associated with the value units will be achieved.

KAR Auction Services, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Our board of directors and stockholders adopted the KAR Auction Services, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP") in December
2009 and the ESPP was implemented in the second quarter of 2010. A maximum of 1,000,000 shares of our common stock have been reserved
for issuance under the ESPP and at December 31, 2011, 883,656 shares remain available for purchase under the ESPP. The ESPP provides for
one month offering periods with a 15% discount from the fair market value of a share on the date of purchase. In accordance with ASC 718,
Compensation Stock Compensation, the entire 15% purchase discount is recorded as compensation expense. A participant's combined payroll
deductions and cash payments in the ESPP may not exceed $25,000 per year.

Note 5 Net Income Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of net income per share (in millions except per share amounts):

Year Ended
December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Net income $ 722 $ 69.6 $ 23.2
Weighted average common shares outstanding 136.0 134.9 108.0
Effect of dilutive stock options 1.8 1.0 0.1
Weighted average common shares outstanding and potential common shares 137.8 135.9 108.1
Net income per share
Basic $ 053 $§ 052 $ 021
Diluted $ 052 $ 051 $ 0.21
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Basic net income per share was calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of outstanding common shares for the
period. Diluted net income per share was calculated consistent with basic net income per share including the effect of dilutive unissued common
shares related to our stock-based employee compensation program. The effect of stock options on net income per share-diluted is determined
through the application of the treasury stock method, whereby proceeds received by the Company based on assumed exercises are hypothetically
used to repurchase our common stock at the average market price during the period. Stock options that would have an anti-dilutive effect on net
income per share are excluded from the calculations. Approximately 0.9 million, 0.6 million and 0.6 million options were excluded from the
calculation of diluted net income per share for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Total options outstanding at
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were 9.6 million, 9.2 million and 9.2 million, respectively.

Note 6 Allowance for Credit Losses and Doubtful Accounts

The following is a summary of the changes in the allowance for credit losses related to finance receivables (in millions):

Year Ended
December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Allowance for Credit Losses

Balance at beginning of period $ 97 $ 59 $ 63
Provision for credit losses 6.1 11.2 1.8
Recoveries 4.5 4.0 0.4
Less charge-offs (11.3) (11.4) (2.8)
Other 0.2
Balance at end of period $ 920 $ 97 $ 59

AFC's allowance for credit losses includes estimated losses for finance receivables currently held on the balance sheet of AFC and its
subsidiaries as well as an allowance for any further deterioration in the finance receivables after they were repurchased from the bank conduit
facility in 2009. Additionally, an accrued liability of $2.4 million for the estimated losses for loans sold by AFC Funding was recorded at
December 31, 2009. These loans were sold to a bank conduit facility with recourse to AFC Funding and came back on the balance sheet of AFC
Funding at fair value when they became ineligible under the terms of the collateral arrangement with the bank conduit facility. The allowance
for credit loss activity for 2009 does not include the losses incurred when receivables repurchased from the bank conduit facility were recorded
at fair value as they came back on our balance sheet, which is discussed further in Note 7.
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The following is a summary of changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts related to trade receivables (in millions):

Year Ended
December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Balance at beginning of period $ 63 $ 69 $ 1038
Provision for credit losses 2.2 2.6 1.1
Less net charge-offs 2.1) (3.2) 5.0
Balance at end of period $ 64 $ 63 $ 69

Recoveries of trade receivables were netted with charge-offs, as they were not material. Changes in the Canadian exchange rate did not
have a material effect on the allowance for doubtful accounts.

Note 7 Finance Receivables and Obligations Collateralized by Finance Receivables

AFC sells the majority of its U.S. dollar denominated finance receivables on a revolving basis and without recourse to a wholly owned,
bankruptcy remote, consolidated, special purpose subsidiary ("AFC Funding Corporation"), established for the purpose of purchasing AFC's
finance receivables. A securitization agreement allows for the revolving sale by AFC Funding Corporation to a bank conduit facility of
undivided interests in certain eligible finance receivables subject to committed liquidity.

On April 26, 2011, AFC and AFC Funding Corporation entered into the Fourth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement
(the "Receivables Purchase Agreement"). The Receivables Purchase Agreement increased AFC Funding's U.S. committed liquidity from
$450 million to $650 million and extended the facility's maturity date from April 20, 2012 to June 30, 2014. In addition, the interest costs for
amounts borrowed increased approximately 0.5% and certain of the covenants and termination events in the Receivables Purchase Agreement
that are tied to the performance of the finance receivables portfolio were modified.

On May 24, 2011, Automotive Finance Canada, Inc. ("AFCI") entered into an Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement
(the "Canadian Receivables Purchase Agreement"). The Canadian Receivables Purchase Agreement increased AFCI's Canadian committed
liquidity from C$75 million to C$100 million and extended the facility's maturity date from April 20, 2012 to June 30, 2014. AFCI's committed
liquidity is provided through a third party conduit (separate from the U.S. conduit). The receivables sold pursuant to both the U.S. and Canadian
securitization agreements are accounted for as secured borrowings.

The following tables present quantitative information about delinquencies, credit losses less recoveries ("net credit losses") and components
of securitized financial assets and other related assets
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managed. For purposes of this illustration, delinquent receivables are defined as receivables 31 days or more past due.

December 31, 2011

Principal Amount of:
Receivables Net Credit Losses

(in millions) Receivables Delinquent During 2011
Floorplan receivables $ 8776 $ 33 §$ 6.8
Special purpose loans 5.6 0.3

Total receivables managed $ 8832 $ 36 $ 6.8

December 31, 2010

Principal Amount of:

Receivables Net Credit Losses
(in millions) Receivables Delinquent During 2010
Floorplan receivables $ 7650 $ 48 §$ 7.4
Special purpose loans 6.6 0.8
Total receivables managed $ 7716 $ 56 $ 7.4

The net credit losses for receivables held and sold approximated $25.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009.
AFC's allowance for losses was $9.0 million and $9.7 million at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, $877.6 million and $763.9 million, respectively, of finance receivables and a cash reserve of 1 percent
of finance receivables securitized served as security for the $610.3 million and $520.1 million of obligations collateralized by finance
receivables at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The amount of the cash reserve depends on circumstances which are set forth in the
securitization agreements.

Proceeds from the revolving sale of receivables to the bank conduit facility are used to fund new loans to customers. AFC, AFC Funding
Corporation and AFCI must maintain certain financial covenants including, among others, limits on the amount of debt AFC and AFCI can
incur, minimum levels of tangible net worth, and other covenants tied to the performance of the finance receivables portfolio. The securitization
agreements also incorporate the financial covenants of our credit facility. At December 31, 2011, we were in compliance with the covenants in
the securitization agreements.
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The following table summarizes certain cash flows received from and paid to the special purpose subsidiaries (in millions):

Year Ended
December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Proceeds from sales of finance receivables N/A NA $ 32151
Servicing fees received N/A N/A 10.4
Proceeds received on retained interests in finance receivables sold N/A $ 89.8 84.5

Prior to January 1, 2010, retained interests in finance receivables sold were classified as trading securities pursuant to ASC 320,
Investments Debt and Equity Securities, and carried at estimated fair value with gains and losses recognized in the consolidated statement of
income. Fair value was based upon estimates of future cash flows, using assumptions that market participants would use to value such
investments, including estimates of anticipated credit losses over the life of the finance receivables sold. The cash flows were discounted using a
market discount rate. Our retained interests in finance receivables sold included a nominal interest only strip and amounted to $89.8 million at
December 31, 2009. Sensitivities associated with our retained interests were insignificant at all periods presented due to the short-term nature of
the asset.

Accounting Standards Update 2009-16 amended ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing, and we adopted the guidance on January 1, 2010. The
guidance specifies that the finance receivable transactions on or subsequent to January 1, 2010 under our revolving sale agreement be included
in our balance sheet. This resulted in an increase in assets and related obligations in 2010. Obligations collateralized by finance receivables were
$520.1 million at December 31, 2010. In addition, the guidance eliminated securitization income accounting and resulted in the recording of fee
and interest income and interest expense for the finance receivable transactions under the revolving sale agreement.

Note 8 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill consisted of the following (in millions):

ADESA

Auctions IAA AFC Total
Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 8266 $ 5052 $ 1963 § 1,528.1
Increase for acquisition activity 8.8 16.4 0.6 25.8
Other 0.2 0.2
Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 8356 $ 5216 $ 1969 $ 1,554.1
Increase for acquisition activity 123.6 1.8 1254
Other
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 9592 $ 5234 $ 1969 $ 1,679.5

Goodwill represents the excess cost over fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired. At December 31, 2010, there was
$1,554.1 million of goodwill recorded on our consolidated balance
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sheet that was recorded as a result of the merger transactions, post merger acquisitions and contingent consideration related to prior year
acquisitions. Goodwill increased in 2010 primarily as a result of current year acquisitions and contingent consideration related to prior year
acquisitions. The goodwill resulting from the businesses acquired in 2010 is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill increased in
2011 primarily as a result of current year acquisitions and contingent consideration related to prior year acquisitions. Most of the goodwill
resulting from the businesses acquired in 2011 is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

A summary of customer relationships is as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Useful Gross Gross
Lives Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(in years) Amount Amortization Value Amount Amortization Value
Customer
relationships 11-19 $ 1,0198 $ (325.8) % 694.0 $ 9669 $ (2543)$ 7126

The decrease in customer relationships in 2011 was primarily related to the amortization of existing customer relationships and changes in
the Canadian exchange rate, partially offset by an increase in customer relationships recorded in conjunction with 2011 acquisitions.

A summary of other intangibles is as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Gross Gross
Useful Lives Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(in years) Amount Amortization Value Amount Amortization Value

Tradenames 2 - Indefinite $ 197.1 $ 25 % 1946 $ 189.6 $ $ 189.6
Computer software &
technology 3-7 2239 (118.8) 105.1 159.9 (81.7) 78.2
Covenants not to
compete 1-5 24.4 (18.2) 6.2 18.3 (16.3) 2.0
Total $ 4454 $ (139.5)$ 3059 $ 3678 $ (98.0) $ 269.8

Other intangibles increased in 2011 primarily as a result of computer software additions and acquisitions.

We have acquired software by undertaking capital lease obligations. The software under the capital leases is amortized in a manner
consistent with our policy for owned intangibles. The assets included above under the capital leases are summarized below (in millions):

December 31,
Classes of Property 2011 2010
Computer software $ 27 $
Accumulated amortization 0.5)
Capital lease assets $ 22 $

Amortization expense for customer relationships and other intangibles was $108.1 million, $100.3 million and $90.1 million for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for the next five years is $114.0 million for 2012,
$100.0 million for 2013, $94.5 million for 2014, $85.4 million for 2015 and $80.3 million for 2016.
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Property and equipment consisted of the following (in millions):

Useful Lives December 31,
(in years) 2011 2010

Land $ 260.7 $ 262.3
Buildings 3-40 224.8 220.3
Land improvements 1-20 1304 126.2
Building and leasehold improvements 1-33 193.1 171.0
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 1-10 199.8 169.7
Vehicles 1-6 6.8 7.5
Construction in progress 33.5 233

1,049.1 980.3
Accumulated depreciation (362.4) (299.8)
Property and equipment, net $ 686.7 $  680.5

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $71.7 million, $71.0 million and $82.3 million,
respectively.

We have acquired furniture, fixtures and equipment by undertaking capital lease obligations. Assets held under the capital leases are
depreciated in a manner consistent with our depreciation policy for owned assets. The assets included above under the capital leases are
summarized below (in millions):

December 31,
Classes of Property 2011 2010
Furniture, fixtures and equipment $ 380 $ 233
Accumulated depreciation (13.4) (8.6)
Capital lease assets $ 246 $ 147

Note 10 Self Insurance and Retained Loss Reserves

We self-insure our employee medical benefits, as well as a portion of our automobile, general liability and workers' compensation claims.
We have insurance coverage that limits the exposure on individual claims. We also have insurance coverage that limits the total exposure to
overall automobile, general liability and workers' compensation claims. The cost of the insurance is expensed over the contract periods. We
record an accrual for the claims expense related to our employee medical benefits, automobile, general liability and workers' compensation
claims based upon the expected amount of all such claims. Accrued medical benefits and workers' compensation expenses are included in
"Accrued employee benefits and compensation expenses" while accrued automobile and general liability expenses are included in "Other
accrued expenses."

104

102



Edgar Filing: SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

KAR Auction Services, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Note 10 Self Insurance and Retained Loss Reserves (Continued)

The following is a summary of the changes in the reserves for self-insurance and the retained losses (in millions):

Year Ended
December 31,
2011 2010
Balance at beginning of period $ 271 $ 261
Net payments (49.2) (46.9)
Expense 46.1 47.9
Balance at end of period $ 240 $ 271

Individual stop-loss coverage for medical benefits was $0.3 million in 2011 and $0.2 million in 2010. There was no aggregate policy limit
for medical benefits for the Company in either year. The retention for automobile, general liability and workers' compensation claims was $0.5

million for both the 2011 and 2010 policy years. The aggregate policy limits for the combined automobile, general liability and workers'

compensation program was $20.0 million for both the 2011and 2010 policy years.

Note 11 Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following (in millions):

December 31,

Interest Rate Maturity 2011 2010
Old Term Loan B LIBOR + 2.75% October 19,2013 $ $ [1,144.6
New Term Loan B Adjusted LIBOR + 3.75% May 18, 2017 1,691.5
0Old $250 million revolving credit
facility LIBOR + 2.75% April 19, 2013
New $250 million revolving credit
facility Adjusted LIBOR +3.50%  May 18, 2016 68.9
Floating rate senior notes LIBOR + 4.00% May 01, 2014 150.0 150.0
Senior notes 8.75% May 01, 2014 450.0
Senior subordinated notes 10% May 01, 2015 131.1
Canadian line of credit CAD Prime + 1.5%
Total debt 1,9104 1,875.7
Unamortized debt discount (7.6)
Current portion of long-term debt (85.9)
Long-term debt $ 1,8169 $ 18757

The weighted average interest rate on our variable rate debt was 4.9% and 3.2% at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and the

weighted average interest rate on all borrowings was 4.9% and 5.0% at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Credit Facilities

On May 19, 2011, we established a new $1.7 billion, six-year senior secured term loan facility (New Term Loan B in the table above) and a
new $250 million, five-year senior secured revolving credit facility (New $250 million revolving credit facility in the table above), the terms of
which are set forth in the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2011. Concurrently with our entry into the Credit Agreement, we terminated
our previous credit facility, dated as of April 20, 2007 (as amended, the "2007 Credit Agreement"). On May 19, 2011, we paid all principal
outstanding and interest due under the 2007 Credit Agreement. No early termination penalties were incurred by the Company in connection with
the termination of the 2007 Credit Agreement; however, we incurred a non-cash loss on the extinguishment of the term loan under the 2007
Credit Agreement (Old Term Loan B in the table above) of $24.5 million representative of the write-off of certain unamortized debt issuance
costs.

The new Credit Facility is available for letters of credit, working capital and general corporate purposes (including refinancing certain
Existing Indebtedness (as defined in the Credit Agreement)). The Credit Agreement provides that with respect to the new revolving Credit
Facility, up to $75 million is available for letters of credit and up to $75 million is available for swing line loans. The Credit Agreement also
permits up to $300 million of additional revolving or term loan commitments from one or more of the existing lenders or other lenders (with the
consent of the administrative agent).

New Term Loan B was issued at a discount of $8.5 million. The discount is being amortized to interest expense over the six-year term of
the loan. New Term Loan B is payable in quarterly installments equal to 0.25% of the original aggregate principal amount. Payments
commenced on September 30, 2011, and the balance is payable at maturity. The Credit Facility is subject to mandatory prepayments and
reduction in an amount equal to (i) the net proceeds of certain debt offerings, asset sales and certain insurance recovery events; and (ii) for any
fiscal year ending on or after December 31, 2011, any Excess Cash Flow, as defined in the Credit Agreement.

The obligations of the Company under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by certain of our domestic subsidiaries (the "Subsidiary
Guarantors") and are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors, including but not limited to:
(a) pledges of and perfected first-priority security interests in 100% of the equity interests of certain of the Company's and the Subsidiary
Guarantors' domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the equity interests of certain of the Company's and the Subsidiary Guarantors' first-tier foreign
subsidiaries and (b) perfected first-priority security interests in substantially all other tangible and intangible assets of the Company and each
Subsidiary Guarantor, subject to certain exceptions. The Credit Agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants that we believe are usual
and customary for a senior secured credit agreement. The negative covenants include, among other things, limitations on capital expenditures,
asset sales, mergers and acquisitions, indebtedness, liens, dividends, investments and transactions with our affiliates. The Credit Agreement also
requires us to maintain a maximum leverage ratio, provided there are revolving loans outstanding. We were in compliance with the covenants in
the Credit Agreement at December 31, 2011.

New Term Loan B bears interest at an adjusted LIBOR rate plus 3.75% (with an adjusted LIBOR rate floor of 1.25% per annum) and
revolving loan borrowings at an adjusted LIBOR rate plus 3.50%; however, for specified types of borrowings, the Company may elect to make

term loan borrowings at a
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Base Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 2.75% and revolving loan borrowings at a Base Rate plus 2.50%. The rate on New Term
Loan B was 5.0% at December 31, 2011. In addition, if the Company reduces its Consolidated Senior Secured Leverage Ratio (as defined in the
Credit Agreement), which is based on a net debt calculation, to levels specified in the Credit Agreement, the applicable interest rate will step
down by 25 basis points. The Company will also pay a commitment fee of 50 basis points, payable quarterly, on the average daily unused
amount of the Credit Facility. The fee may step down to 37.5 basis points based on the Company's Consolidated Senior Secured Leverage Ratio
as described above.

On December 31, 2011, $68.9 million was drawn on the new revolving credit facility, leaving $181.1 million available under the credit
facility. There were no borrowings under the old revolving credit facility at December 31, 2010. In addition, we had related outstanding letters of
credit in the aggregate amount of $28.5 million and $29.4 million at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, which reduce the
amount available for borrowings under the respective credit facilities. The $68.9 million of outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit
facility have been classified as current debt as the Company intends to repay the outstanding borrowings within the next twelve months.

Senior Notes

In 2007 we issued $450.0 million of 83/4% senior notes and $150.0 million of floating rate senior notes, both of which were due May 1,
2014. In addition, we issued $425.0 million of 10% senior subordinated notes due May 1, 2015. The floating rate notes were non-callable for
two years, after which they became callable at a premium declining ratably to par at the end of year four. Interest on the floating rate notes is
payable quarterly in arrears and commenced on August 1, 2007. The fixed rate notes were non-callable for three years, after which they were
callable at a premium declining ratably to par at the end of year six. Interest on both the fixed rate notes and the senior subordinated notes was
payable semi-annually in arrears, and commenced on November 1, 2007.

In connection with our initial public offering, we conducted a cash tender offer for certain of the notes described above. The tender offer
was oversubscribed and as such, in accordance with the identified priority levels, only a portion of the 10% senior subordinated notes were
accepted for prepayment. In January 2010, we prepaid $225.6 million principal amount of the 10% senior subordinated notes with proceeds
received from our initial public offering and the underwriters option to purchase additional shares. We incurred a loss on the extinguishment of
the notes of $25.3 million in the first quarter of 2010.

In the fourth quarter of 2010, we conducted another cash tender offer for certain of the notes described above. The tender offer was
oversubscribed and as such, in accordance with the identified priority levels, only a portion of the 10% senior subordinated notes were accepted
for prepayment. In December 2010, we prepaid $68.3 million principal amount of the 10% senior subordinated notes with available cash. We
incurred a loss on the extinguishment of the notes of $7.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2010.

In June 2011, we prepaid $450.0 million principal amount of the 8%/4% senior notes and the remaining $131.1 million principal balance of
the 10% senior subordinated notes with proceeds received from New Term Loan B and cash on hand. We incurred a loss on the extinguishment
of the
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notes of $29.0 million in the second quarter of 2011 representative of the net premiums payable related to the repurchase of the notes and the
write-off of certain unamortized debt issuance costs.

The remaining $150.0 million floating rate senior notes contain covenants that among other things, limit the issuance of additional
indebtedness, the incurrence of liens, the repurchase of stock, making certain investments, the payment of dividends or other distributions,
distributions from certain subsidiaries, the sale of assets and subsidiary stock, transactions with affiliates and consolidations, mergers and
transfers of assets. All of these limitations and prohibitions, however, are subject to a number of important qualifications set forth in the
indenture.

Canadian Line of Credit

In 2010, we increased the line of credit available to ADESA Canada from C$4 million to C$8 million. The line of credit bears interest at a
rate equal to the Canadian prime rate plus 150 basis points. There were no borrowings under the Canadian line of credit at December 31, 2011 or
2010. There were related letters of credit outstanding totaling approximately C$2.2 million at December 31, 2011 and C$1.8 million at
December 31, 2010, which reduce credit available under the Canadian line of credit, but do not affect amounts available for borrowings under
our revolving credit facility. The line of credit is guaranteed by certain ADESA Canada companies.

Future Principal Payments

At December 31, 2011 aggregate future principal payments on long-term debt are as follows (in millions):

2012 $ 85.9
2013 17.0
2014 167.0
2015 17.0
2016 17.0
Thereafter 1,606.5

$ 19104

Note 12 Financial Instruments

Our derivative activities are initiated within the guidelines of documented corporate risk management policies. We do not enter into any
derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk Management

We are exposed to interest rate risk on our variable rate borrowings. Accordingly, interest rate fluctuations affect the amount of interest
expense we are obligated to pay. In August 2011, we purchased three interest rate caps for an aggregate amount of approximately $1.1 million
with an aggregate notional amount of $925 million to manage our exposure to interest rate movements on our
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variable rate New Term Loan B credit facility when one-month LIBOR exceeds 1.25%. The interest rate cap agreements each had an effective
date of August 16, 2011 and each mature on August 16, 2013. The unamortized portion of the $1.1 million investment is recorded in "Other
assets" on the consolidated balance sheet and is being amortized over the remaining life of the interest rate caps to interest expense. We are
exposed to credit loss in the event of non-performance by the counterparties; however, non-performance is not anticipated.

In May 2009, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $650 million to manage our exposure to interest
rate movements on our variable rate Old Term Loan B credit facility. The interest rate swap agreement had an effective date of June 30, 2009,
was scheduled to mature on June 30, 2012 and effectively resulted in a fixed LIBOR interest rate of 2.19% on $650 million of the Old Term
Loan B credit facility. In connection with the extinguishment of Old Term Loan B in May 2011, we de-designated our interest rate swap and
entered into a swap termination agreement. We paid $14.5 million to settle and terminate the swap. As a result, the $14.5 million was
reclassified from other comprehensive income to interest expense.

In May 2009, we also purchased an interest rate cap for $1.3 million with a notional amount of $250 million to manage our exposure to
interest rate movements on our variable rate Old Term Loan B credit facility when one-month LIBOR exceeded 2.5%. The interest rate cap
related to a portion of the old variable rate debt that was not covered by our interest rate swap agreement. The interest rate cap agreement had an
effective date of June 30, 2009 and matured on June 30, 2011. The $1.3 million investment was amortized over the life of the interest rate cap to
interest expense.

ASC 815 requires companies to recognize all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value in the balance sheet. In
accordance with ASC 815, we designated our interest rate derivatives as cash flow hedges. The fair values of the interest rate derivatives are
based on quoted market prices for similar instruments from a commercial bank. The following table presents the fair value of our interest rate
derivatives included in the consolidated balance sheets for the periods presented (in millions):

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
December 31,

December 31, 2011 2010 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Derivatives Designated as Balance Balance Balance Balance
Hedging Instruments Under Sheet Fair Sheet Fair Sheet Fair Sheet Fair
ASC 815 Location Value Location Value Location Value Location Value
Aggregate $925 million notional interest Other Other Other accrued Other accrued
rate caps (new) assets $ 1.0 assets N/A expenses $ expenses N/A
$650 million notional interest rate swap Other Other Other accrued Other accrued

assets N/A assets $ expenses N/A expenses $ 16.6
$250 million notional interest rate cap (old) Other Other

current current Other accrued Other accrued

assets N/A assets $ expenses N/A expenses $

The earnings impact of the interest rate derivatives designated as cash flow hedges is recorded upon the recognition of the interest related to
the hedged debt. Any ineffectiveness in the hedging relationships is recognized in current earnings. There was no significant ineffectiveness in
2011, 2010 or 2009. Unrealized gains or losses on the interest rate derivatives are included as a component of "Accumulated other
comprehensive income." At December 31, 2011, there was a net unrealized gain totaling $0.1 million, net of tax benefits of less than $0.1
million. At December 31, 2010, there was a
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net unrealized loss totaling $10.5 million, net of tax benefits of $6.4 million. The following table presents the effect of the interest rate
derivatives on our statement of equity and consolidated statements of income for the periods presented (in millions):

Amount of Gain /
(Loss) Recognized

Amount of Gain /
(Loss) Reclassified

in OCI on from Accumulated
Derivative OCI into Income
(Effective Portion) (Effective Portion)
Year Ended X . Year Ended
December 31, Location of Gain / December 31,
(Loss)
Reclassified from
Accumulated OCI into
Derivatives in ASC 815 Income (Effective
Cash Flow Hedging Relationships 2011 2010 Portion) 2011 2010
Aggregate $925 million notional interest rate caps
(new) $ 0.1 N/A Interest expense $ N/A
$650 million notional interest rate swap $ 21 $ 79 Interest expense $ (18.6) $ (12.6)
$250 million notional interest rate cap (old) $ 03 $ 0.1 N/A $ $

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to credit risk consist principally of interest-bearing investments, finance receivables, trade
receivables and interest rate derivatives. We maintain cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and certain other financial instruments
with various major financial institutions. We perform periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of these financial institutions and
companies and limit the amount of credit exposure with any one institution. Cash and cash equivalents include interest-bearing investments with
maturities of three months or less. Due to the nature of our business, substantially all trade and finance receivables are due from vehicle dealers,
salvage buyers, institutional sellers and insurance companies. We have possession of vehicles or vehicle titles collateralizing a significant
portion of the trade and finance receivables. The risk associated with this concentration is limited due to the large number of accounts and their
geographic dispersion. We monitor the creditworthiness of customers to which we grant credit terms in the normal course of business. In the
event of nonperformance by counterparties to financial instruments we are exposed to credit-related losses, but management believes this credit
risk is limited by periodically reviewing the creditworthiness of the counterparties to the transactions.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, finance receivables, other current assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses and borrowings
under our short-term revolving line of credit facilities approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of those instruments.

The fair value of our notes receivable is determined by calculating the present value of expected future cash receipts associated with these
instruments. The discount rate used is equivalent to the current rate offered to us for notes of similar maturities. As of December 31, 2011, the
fair value of our notes receivable approximated the carrying value.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the estimated fair value of our long-term debt amounted to $1,831.0 million and $1,885.4 million,
respectively. The estimates of fair value are based on the market prices for our publicly-traded debt as of December 31, 2011 and 2010. The
estimates presented on long-term financial instruments are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would be realized in a current market
exchange.
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We lease property, computer equipment and software, automobiles, trucks and trailers, pursuant to operating lease agreements with terms
expiring through 2031. Some of the leases contain renewal provisions upon the expiration of the initial lease term, as well as fair market value
purchase provisions. In accordance with ASC 840, Leases, rental expense is being recognized ratably over the lease period, including those
leases containing escalation clauses. The deferred portion of the rent, for the leases containing escalation clauses, is included in "Other
liabilities" on the consolidated balance sheet.

We also lease furniture, fixtures and equipment under capital leases. The economic substance of the leases is that we are financing the
purchase of furniture, fixtures and equipment through leases and, accordingly, they are recorded as assets and liabilities. The capital lease
liabilities are included in "Other accrued expenses" and "Other liabilities" on the consolidated balance sheet. Depreciation expense includes the
amortization of assets held under capital leases. Total future minimum lease payments for non-cancellable operating and capital leases with
terms in excess of one year (excluding renewal periods) as of December 31, 2011 are as follows (in millions):

Operating Capital

Leases Leases
2012 $ 82.1 §$§ 12.1
2013 76.4 10.0
2014 73.2 6.7
2015 68.2 1.1
2016 62.8 0.3
Thereafter 520.1

$ 8828 $ 302
Less: interest portion of capital leases 2.9
Total $ 273

Total lease expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $90.0 million, $88.0 million and $86.5 million,
respectively.
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The components of our income before income taxes and the provision for income taxes are as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Income (loss) before income taxes:
Domestic $ 260 $ 318 $ (11.7)
Foreign 64.0 65.0 46.0
Total $ 9.0 $ 968 $ 343
Income tax expense (benefit):
Current:
Federal $ (@135 $ (03) $ (2.8)
Foreign 26.4 24.6 20.0
State 8.4 5.2 2.7
Total current provision 21.3 29.5 19.9
Deferred:
Federal 4.3 7.8 2.2)
Foreign 4.4) 4.5) (6.3)
State 3.4) (5.6) 0.3)
Total deferred provision 3.5) 2.3) (8.8)
Income tax expense $ 178 $ 272 $ 11.1

The provision for income taxes was different from the U.S. federal statutory rate applied to income before taxes, and is reconciled as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State and local income taxes, net 1.2% 2.6% 6.9%
Reserves for tax exposures (18.5)% (0.7)% (13.8)%
State NOL valuation allowance reversal 3.9%
International operations 0.5% G.1)% 5.6)%
Stock-based compensation 0.5% 8.6%
Meals and entertainment 0.9% 0.9% 2.1%
Other, net 0.7% (1.2)% 0.8)%
Effective rate 198% 28.1% 32.4%

During 2011, the effective rate benefited from the reversal of $18.6 million in tax reserves for uncertain tax positions due to the expiration
of certain statute of limitations. During 2010, the effective rate benefited from lower tax rates in state and foreign jurisdictions, the release of tax
reserves for uncertain tax positions due to the expiration of certain statute of limitations and the recognition of
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KAR Auction Services, Inc.

December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

previously unrecognized deferred tax assets. During 2009, the effective tax rate benefited from lower tax rates in foreign jurisdictions and the
release of tax reserves for uncertain tax positions due to the expiration of certain statute of limitations. The benefit was partially offset by the

impact of nondeductible stock compensation expense.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. We believe that it is more likely than not that results of future operations will
generate sufficient taxable income to realize the deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following at December 31 (in millions):

Gross deferred tax assets:

Allowances for trade and finance receivables
Accruals and liabilities

Employee benefits and compensation
Interest rate swap

Net operating loss carryforwards

Investment basis difference

Foreign tax credit

Other

Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance

Total

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
Goodwill and intangible assets
Other

Total

Net deferred tax liabilities

The gross tax benefit from state and federal net operating loss carryforwards expire as follows (in millions):

2012 $ 04
2013 0.7
2014 0.7
2015 1.5
2016 0.6
2017 to 2031 439

$ 47.8

2011

$ 59 §

32.2
321
(0.1)
47.8

2.1

2.0

2.7

124.7
13.2)

111.5

(31.0)
(365.8)
(1.1)

(397.9)

$ (286.4) $

2010

6.0
31.8
26.4

6.4
18.7

3.0

2.7

3.6

98.6

9.1

89.5

(21.3)
(353.7)

(375.0)

(285.5)
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Note 14 Income Taxes (Continued)

Undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries were approximately $154.5 million at December 31, 2011. Because these amounts have
been or will be permanently reinvested in properties and working capital, we have not recorded the deferred taxes associated with these earnings.
If the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries were to be remitted, tax expense would need to be recognized at the U.S. statutory rate, net
of any applicable foreign tax credits. It is not practical for us to determine the additional tax that would be incurred upon remittance of these
earnings.

We made federal income tax payments, net of federal income tax refunds, of $0.3 million and $5.3 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively.
We received federal income tax refunds, net of federal income tax payments, of $2.8 million in 2009. State and foreign income taxes paid by us,
net of refunds, totaled $36.2 million, $31.0 million and $21.6 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

We apply the provisions of ASC 740, Income Taxes. ASC 740 clarifies the accounting and reporting for uncertainty in income taxes
recognized in an enterprise's financial statements. These provisions prescribe a comprehensive model for the financial statement recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken on income tax returns.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in millions):

December 31,

2011 2010

Balance at beginning of period $ 259 $§ 264
Increase in tax positions related to acquisitions 8.6

Increase in prior year tax positions 1.1 1.4
Decrease in prior year tax positions 0.2) 0.7)
Increase in current year tax positions 1.3 1.3
Settlements 0.7) 0.2)
Lapse in statute of limitations (18.6) 2.3)
Balance at end of period $ 174 $ 259

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate was $9.5 million and $25.9 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

We record interest and penalties associated with the uncertain tax positions within our provision for income taxes on the income statement.
We had reserves totaling $4.2 million, $3.4 million and $3.4 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, associated with interest and penalties,
net of tax.

The provision for income taxes involves management judgment regarding interpretation of relevant facts and laws in the jurisdictions in
which the Company operates. Future changes in applicable laws, projected levels of taxable income and tax planning could change the effective
tax rate and tax balances recorded by us. In addition, U.S. and non-U.S. tax authorities periodically review income tax returns filed by us and can
raise issues regarding our filing positions, timing and amount of income or deductions and the allocation of income among the jurisdictions in
which we operate. A significant period of time may elapse between the filing of an income tax return and the ultimate resolution of an issue
raised by a revenue authority with respect to that return. In the normal course of business we are
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Note 14 Income Taxes (Continued)

subject to examination by taxing authorities in the U.S., Canada, Australia and Mexico. In general, the examination of our material tax returns is
completed for the years prior to 2005.

Based on the potential outcome of the Company's tax examinations and the expiration of the statute of limitations for specific jurisdictions,
it is reasonably possible that the currently remaining unrecognized tax benefits will change within the next 12 months. The associated net tax
impact on the reserve balance is estimated to be in the range of a $0 to $1 million decrease.

Note 15 Employee Benefit Plans
401(k) Plan

We maintain a defined contribution 401(k) plan that covers substantially all U.S. employees. Participants are generally allowed to make
non-forfeitable contributions up to the annual IRS limits. Throughout 2009 we matched 100 percent of the amounts contributed by each
individual participant up to 4 percent of the participant's compensation. Effective January 1, 2010, the matching policy was amended, and as a
result the Company matched 50 percent of participant contributions up to 4%. Effective January 1, 2012, we will begin to match 100 percent of
the amounts contributed by each individual participant up to 4 percent of the participant's compensation. Participants are 100 percent vested in
the Company's contributions. For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 we contributed $3.4 million, $3.2 million and
$6.6 million, respectively.

Postretirement Benefits

IAA assumed the obligation for certain health care and death benefits for the retired employees of Underwriters Salvage Company ("USC")
in connection with the acquisition of the capital stock of USC in 1994.

We apply the applicable provisions of ASC 715, Compensation Retirement Benefits. The guidance requires employers to recognize the over
funded or under funded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to
recognize changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income. ASC 715 also requires an
employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its year-end statement of financial position, with limited exceptions.

The net liability recognized in the balance sheet at December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $0.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively. The
amounts recognized as a charge against accumulated other comprehensive income in 2011 and 2010 were $0.3 million and $0.4 million,

respectively.

Effective January 20, 1994, the date of the USC acquisition, IAA discontinued future participation for active employees. The contribution
for 2012 is not expected to exceed $0.1 million.

Note 16 Commitments and Contingencies

We are involved in litigation and disputes arising in the ordinary course of business, such as actions related to injuries; property damage;
handling, storage or disposal of vehicles; environmental laws and regulations; and other litigation incidental to the business such as employment
matters and dealer disputes. Management considers the likelihood of loss or the incurrence of a liability, as well as the
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ability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss, in determining loss contingencies. We accrue an estimated loss contingency when it is
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss (or range of possible losses) can be reasonably estimated. Management
regularly evaluates current information available to determine whether accrual amounts should be adjusted. Accruals for contingencies including
litigation and environmental matters are included in "Other accrued expenses" at undiscounted amounts and exclude claims for recoveries from
insurance or other third parties. These accruals are adjusted periodically as assessment and remediation efforts progress, or as additional
technical or legal information becomes available. If the amount of an actual loss is greater than the amount accrued, this could have an adverse
impact on our operating results in that period. Legal fees are expensed as incurred.

We have accrued, as appropriate, for environmental remediation costs anticipated to be incurred at certain of our auction facilities.
Liabilities for environmental matters included in "Other accrued expenses" were $0.1 million and $0.8 million at December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, respectively. No amounts have been accrued as receivables for potential reimbursement or recoveries to offset this liability.

We store a significant number of vehicles owned by various customers that are consigned to us to be auctioned. We are contingently liable
for each consigned vehicle until the eventual sale or other disposition, subject to certain natural disaster exceptions. Individual stop loss and
aggregate insurance coverage is maintained on the consigned vehicles. These consigned vehicles are not included in the consolidated balance
sheets.

In the normal course of business, we also enter into various other guarantees and indemnities in our relationships with suppliers, service
providers, customers and others. These guarantees and indemnifications do not materially impact our financial condition or results of operations,
but indemnifications associated with our actions generally have no dollar limitations and currently cannot be quantified.

As noted above, we are involved in litigation and disputes arising in the ordinary course of business, such as actions related to injuries;
property damage; handling, storage or disposal of vehicles; environmental laws and regulations; and other litigation incidental to the business
such as employment matters and dealer disputes. Such litigation is generally not, in the opinion of management, likely to have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. Legal and regulatory proceedings which could be material are discussed
below.

IAA Lower Duwamish Waterway

On March 25, 2008, the United States Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, issued a General Notice of Potential Liability (the
"General Notice") pursuant to Section 107(a), and a Request for Information pursuant to Section 104(e) of the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, or "CERCLA" to IAA for a Superfund site known as the Lower Duwamish Waterway ("LDW")
Superfund Site in Seattle, Washington. IAA operates a branch on property it leases in Tukwila, Washington, which is located adjacent to the
LDW. At this time, the EPA has not demanded that IAA pay any funds or take any action apart from responding to the Section 104(e)
Information Request. The EPA has advised IAA that, to date, it has sent out approximately 60 general notice letters
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to other parties, and has sent Section 104(e) Requests to more than 250 other parties. A remedial investigation has been conducted for this site by
some of the potentially responsible parties, who have also commenced a feasibility study pursuant to CERCLA. IAA is aware that certain
authorities plan to bring Natural Resource Damage claims against potentially responsible parties. In the General Notice, the EPA informed IAA
that it may be a potentially responsible party based on presently available information. At this time, the Company does not have adequate
information to determine IAA's responsibility for contamination at this site, if any, or to estimate IAA's loss as a result of this potential liability.

In addition, the Washington State Department of Ecology is working with the EPA in relation to the LDW, primarily to investigate and
address sources of potential contamination contributing to the LDW. IAA, the current Tukwila property owner and the former Tukwila property
owner are currently in discussion with the Washington State Department of Ecology concerning possible source control obligations, including an
investigation of the water and soils entering the stormwater system, an analysis of the source of any contamination identified within the system
and possible repairs and upgrades to the stormwater capture and filtration system. In 2011, IAA submitted results of its stormwater system
investigation to comply with the Washington State Department of Ecology source control requirements. Additional source control obligations, if
any, are not expected to have a material impact on future recurring operating costs.

Note 17 Comprehensive Income

The components of comprehensive income are as follows (in millions):

Year Ended
December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Net income $ 722 $ 696 $ 232
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Foreign currency translation gain (loss) 9.0) 12.0 36.4
Unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate derivatives 1.6 (4.8) 4.6
Early termination of swap agreement 9.0
Unrealized loss on postretirement benefit obligation (0.1) 0.1
Comprehensive income $ 738 $ 767 $ 64.1

The composition of "Accumulated other comprehensive income" at December 31, 2011, net of related tax effects, consisted of the net
unrealized gain on the interest rate derivatives of $0.1 million, a $0.2 million unrealized gain on post-retirement benefit obligation and a foreign
currency translation gain of $27.8 million. The composition of "Accumulated other comprehensive income" at December 31, 2010, net of related
tax effects, consisted of the net unrealized loss on the interest rate derivatives of $10.5 million, a $0.2 million unrealized gain on post-retirement
benefit obligation and a foreign currency translation gain of $36.8 million.
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Note 18 Fair Value Measurements

We apply ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, to our financial assets and liabilities. ASC 820 defines fair value as the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The standard establishes a fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the
inputs used in measuring fair value into three broad levels:

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs
include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other
inputs that are observable or can be derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data for substantially the

full term of the assets or liabilities, such as models or other valuation methodologies.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are based on our assumptions, are supported by little or no market activity and are
significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Unobservable inputs reflect our own assumptions about the
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Level 3 assets and liabilities include
instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.

The following tables summarize our financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in accordance with ASC 820
(in millions):

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Interest rate caps $ 1.0 $ $ 1.0 $
Liabilities:
Interest rate swap N/A N/A N/A N/A
Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Liabilities:
Interest rate swap $ 16.6 $ $ 16.6 $

Interest Rate Caps Under the three interest rate cap agreements purchased in August 2011, we receive interest on a notional amount when
one-month LIBOR exceeds 1.25%. These agreements effectively hedge a portion of the New Term Loan B credit facility. The fair value of the
interest rate caps is based on quoted market prices for similar instruments from commercial banks.

Interest Rate Swap Under the interest rate swap agreement, we paid a fixed LIBOR rate on a notional amount and received a variable
LIBOR rate which effectively hedged a portion of the Old
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Term Loan B credit facility. The fair value of the interest rate swap was based on quoted market prices for similar instruments from a
commercial bank.

Note 19 Related Party Transactions
Financial Advisory Agreements

The Equity Sponsors own the controlling interest in KAR LLC. Under the terms of the financial advisory agreements between the Equity
Sponsors and KAR Auction Services, upon completion of the merger and contribution, we (1) paid the Equity Sponsors a total fee of
$34.7 million and (2) commenced paying an annual financial advisory fee of $3.5 million, payable quarterly in advance to the Equity Sponsors
(with the first such fee, prorated for the remainder of the then current quarter, paid at the closing of the merger), for services to be provided by
each of the Equity Sponsors to us. In addition, we pay the Equity Sponsors travel expenses related to KAR Auction Services, pursuant to the
terms contained in the financial advisory agreements. In connection with our initial public offering, we entered into a termination letter
agreement with each of our Equity Sponsors (or their affiliates) pursuant to which the parties agreed to terminate the ongoing financial advisory
fees described above. Pursuant to the terms of each such termination agreement, we paid the Equity Sponsors (or their affiliates) an aggregate
fee of $10.5 million at the consummation of the initial public offering in December 2009. We paid the Equity Sponsors approximately
$0.1 million and $0.2 million for travel expenses for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and $14.2 million related to the
financial advisory fee and travel expenses for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Additionally, the financial advisory agreements provide that KAR Auction Services indemnify the Equity Sponsors and their respective
officers, directors, partners, employees, agents and control persons (as such term is used in the Securities Act and the rules and regulations
thereunder) against any and all claims, losses and expenses as incurred arising in connection with the merger and the transactions contemplated
by the merger agreement (including the financing of the merger).

Towing and Transportation Services

In the ordinary course of business, we have received towing, transportation and recovery services from companies which are controlled by
our chairman. Amounts paid to these companies were approximately $0.1 million, $1.1 million and $1.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The transportation services were provided at terms consistent with those of other providers of
similar services.

Note 20 Segment Information

ASC 280, Segment Reporting, requires reporting of segment information that is consistent with the manner in which the chief operating
decision maker operates and views the Company. Our operations are grouped into three operating segments: ADESA Auctions, IAA and AFC,
which also serve as our reportable business segments. None of our operating segments have been aggregated in our segment reporting. These
reportable business segments offer different services and have fundamental differences in their operations.
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ADESA Auctions encompasses all physical and online wholesale auctions throughout North America (U.S., Canada and Mexico). ADESA
Auctions relates to used vehicle remarketing, including auction services, remarketing, or make ready services and all are interrelated, synergistic
elements along the auto remarketing chain.

IAA encompasses all salvage auctions throughout North America (U.S. and Canada). IAA provides insurance companies and other vehicle
suppliers cost-effective salvage processing solutions, including selling total loss and recovered theft vehicles. As such, IAA relates to total loss
vehicle remarketing, including auction services, remarketing, or make ready services. All are interrelated, synergistic elements along the total
loss vehicle remarketing chain.

AFC is primarily engaged in the business of providing short-term, inventory-secured financing to independent, used vehicle dealers. AFC
also includes other businesses and ventures that AFC may enter into, focusing on providing independent used vehicle dealer customers with
other related services and products. AFC conducts business primarily at or near wholesale used vehicle auctions in the U.S. and Canada.

The holding company is maintained separately from the three reportable segments and includes expenses associated with the corporate
office, such as salaries, benefits, and travel costs for the corporate management team, certain human resources, information technology and
accounting costs, and certain insurance, treasury, legal and risk management costs. Holding company interest expense includes the interest
expense incurred on the corporate debt structure. Intercompany charges relate primarily to interest on intercompany debt or receivables and
certain information technology costs allocated by the holding company.
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Financial information regarding our reportable segments is set forth below for the year ended December 31, 2011 (in millions):

ADESA Holding

Auctions IAA AFC Company Consolidated
Operating revenues $ 10174 $ 700.1 $ 168.8 $ $ 1,886.3
Operating expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 582.3 415.3 37.6 1,035.2
Selling, general and administrative 219.6 82.3 22.1 65.4 389.4
Depreciation and amortization 88.1 65.8 24.7 1.2 179.8
Total operating expenses 890.0 563.4 84.4 66.6 1,604.4
Operating profit (loss) 127.4 136.7 84.4 (66.6) 281.9
Interest expense 1.0 2.1 12.0 128.0 143.1
Other (income) expense, net 0.3 5.3) 0.3 4.7)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 53.5 53.5
Intercompany expense (income) 52.4 38.3 (14.4) (76.3)
Income (loss) before income taxes 73.7 101.6 86.8 172.1) 90.0
Income taxes 17.9 36.1 29.6 (65.8) 17.8
Net income (loss) $ 558 $ 655 $ 572 $ (106.3) $ 72.2
Assets $ 22811 $ 1,177.7 $ 12824 § 379 % 4,779.1
Capital expenditures $ 455  $ 346 $ 57 $ $ 85.8
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Financial information regarding our reportable segments is set forth below for the year ended December 31, 2010 (in millions):

ADESA Holding

Auctions IAA AFC Company Consolidated
Operating revenues $ 10759 $ 6104 $ 136.3*% § $ 1,822.6
Operating expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 611.2 362.0 34.1* 1,007.3
Selling, general and administrative 211.9 78.9 20.6* 63.8 375.2
Depreciation and amortization 86.9 58.9 25.0 0.5 171.3
Total operating expenses 910.0 499.8 79.7 64.3 1,553.8
Operating profit (loss) 165.9 110.6 56.6 (64.3) 268.8
Interest expense 0.9 2.3 7.2 131.0 141.4
Other (income) expense, net (1.0) (1.3) 1.6 (1.4) 2.1)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 32.7 32.7
Intercompany expense (income) 42.3 38.2 (11.7) (68.8)
Income (loss) before income taxes 123.7 71.4 59.5 (157.8) 96.8
Income taxes 43.6 26.7 21.1 (64.2) 27.2
Net income (loss) $ 80.1 §$ 447 % 384 $ 93.6) $ 69.6
Assets $ 20364 $ 1,189 $ 1,171.7 $ 1280 $ 4,525.0
Capital expenditures $ 443 $ 343 % 03 $ $ 78.9

AFC's revenues, cost of services and selling general and administrative expenses have been revised in the above table. For a
description of the changes, reference the "Other Revenue" section in Note 2.
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Financial information regarding our reportable segments is set forth below for the year ended December 31, 2009 (in millions):

ADESA Holding

Auctions TIAA AFC Company Consolidated
Operating revenues $ 10885 $ 553.1 $ 939* § $ 1,735.5
Operating expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 615.4 352.1 34.0* 1,001.5
Selling, general and administrative 207.1 65.5 13.3% 80.4 366.3
Depreciation and amortization 88.4 58.3 24.7 1.0 172.4
Total operating expenses 910.9 475.9 72.0 81.4 1,540.2
Operating profit (loss) 177.6 772 21.9 (81.4) 195.3
Interest expense 0.7 14 170.5 172.6
Other (income) expense, net 2.4) 2.4) 1.2 (8.0) (11.6)
Intercompany expense (income) 28.9 36.2 (6.8) (58.3)
Income (loss) before income taxes 150.4 42.0 27.5 (185.6) 343
Income taxes 56.0 16.2 8.4 (69.5) 11.1
Net income (loss) $ 944 $ 258 $ 191 $ (116.1) $ 23.2
Assets $ 19896 $ 11,1707 $ 6541 $ 4369 $ 4,251.3
Capital expenditures $ 434 $ 206 $ 1.6 $ $ 65.6

AFC's revenues, cost of services and selling general and administrative expenses have been revised in the above table. For a
description of the changes, reference the "Other Revenue" section in Note 2.

Geographic Information

Most of our operations outside the U.S. are in Canada. Information regarding the geographic areas of our operations is set forth below (in

millions) :

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Operating revenues
uU.S. $ 15639 $ 1,500.3 $ 1,4485
Foreign 3224 3223 287.0
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December 31,

2011
Long-lived assets
U.S. $ 31584 $
Foreign 247.5
$ 34059 $

December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

3,008.3
262.0

3,270.3

No single customer accounted for more than ten percent of our total revenues.

Note 21 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Information for any one quarterly period is not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year.

2011 Quarter Ended
Operating revenues®

Operating expenses

March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
$ 4847 $ 4727 $ 449.1 $ 4798

Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)* 264.5 254.4 247.3 269.0

Selling, general, and administrative expenses*
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses

Operating profit

Interest expense
Other (income) expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes

Net income (loss)
Basic net income (loss) per share of common stock

Diluted net income (loss) per share of common stock

102.7 99.4 80.4 106.9
44.1 43.6 43.8 48.3
411.3 397.4 371.5 424.2
73.4 75.3 77.6 55.6
332 49.7 29.4 30.8
(0.6) 6.7) 1.3 1.3
53.5

40.8 (21.2) 46.9 23.5
1.0 (6.9) 14.7 9.0

$ 398 $ (143) $§ 322 $ 145
$ 029 $ (011) $ 024 $ 0.11
$ 029 $ (0.11) $ 023 $ 0.11
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Note 21 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) (Continued)

2010 Quarter Ended March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
Operating revenues® $ 4603 $ 4719 § 4472 $ 4432

Operating expenses

Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)* 257.4 253.1 243.0 253.8
Selling, general, and administrative expenses* 95.5 91.3 90.9 97.5
Depreciation and amortization 43.3 41.8 42.2 44.0
Total operating expenses 396.2 386.2 376.1 395.3
Operating profit 64.1 85.7 71.1 47.9
Interest expense 34.9 35.9 35.5 35.1
Other (income) expense, net 2.9) 1.3 (1.1) 0.6
Loss on extinguishment of debt 25.3 7.4
Income before income taxes 6.8 48.5 36.7 4.8
Income taxes (1.3) 19.9 11.1 2.5)
Net income $ 81 $ 286 $ 256 $ 7.3
Basic and diluted net income per share of common stock $ 006 $ 021 $ 019 $ 005

Revenues, cost of services and selling general and administrative expenses have been adjusted in the above table. For a description of

the changes, reference the "Other Revenue" section in Note 2. Revenue, cost of services and selling, general and administrative
expenses increased by the following amounts for each of the quarterly periods noted:

2011 Quarter Ended March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
Operating revenues $ 20 $ 21 $ 2.1 N/A
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 1.4 1.6 1.6 N/A
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 0.6 0.5 0.5 N/A
2010 Quarter Ended

Operating revenues $ 19 §$ 19 $ 19 §$ 1.9
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 1.4 14 1.4 1.4
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information

Our obligations related to the floating rate senior notes are guaranteed on a full, unconditional, joint and several basis by certain direct and
indirect present and future domestic subsidiaries (the "Guarantor Subsidiaries"). AFC Funding Corporation and all of our foreign subsidiaries are
not guarantors (the "Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries"). The following financial information sets forth, on a condensed consolidating basis, the
balance sheets, statements of income and statements of cash flows for the periods indicated for KAR Auction Services, the Guarantor
Subsidiaries, the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries and the eliminations to arrive at KAR Auction Services on a consolidated basis.

The condensed consolidating financial statements are provided as an alternative to filing separate financial statements of the Guarantor
Subsidiaries. The condensed consolidating financial statements should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information (Continued)
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011
(In millions)

Non- Eliminations
Guarantor Guarantor and
Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries  Adjustments Total
Operating revenues $ $ 14238 $ 4625 $ $ 1,886.3
Operating expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization) 876.0 159.2 1,035.2
Selling, general and administrative 4.3 330.1 55.0 389.4
Depreciation and amortization 155.3 24.5 179.8
Total operating expenses 4.3 1,361.4 238.7 1,604.4
Operating profit (loss) 4.3) 62.4 223.8 281.9
Interest expense 69.5 59.4 14.2 143.1
Other (income) expense, net 3.0) (1.7) 4.7)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 53.5 53.5
Intercompany expense (income) (17.1) 17.1
Income (loss) before income taxes (127.3) 23.1 194.2 90.0
Income taxes (48.8) (1.5) 68.1 17.8
Net income (loss) $ (785 $ 246 $ 1261  $ $ 72.2
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information (Continued)
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010
(In millions)

Non- Eliminations
Guarantor Guarantor and
Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries = Adjustments Total
Operating revenues® $ $ 13898 $ 4328 $ $ 1,822.6
Operating expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization)* 847.0 160.3 1,007.3
Selling, general and administrative* 5.1 3219 48.2 375.2
Depreciation and amortization 147.7 23.6 171.3
Total operating expenses 5.1 1,316.6 232.1 1,553.8
Operating profit (loss) 6D 73.2 200.7 268.8
Interest expense 70.7 58.6 12.1 141.4
Other (income) expense, net (1.2) 0.9 2.1)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 32.7 32.7
Intercompany expense (income) (17.9) 17.9
Income (loss) before income taxes (108.5) 33.7 171.6 96.8
Income taxes (44.1) 10.5 60.8 27.2
Net income (loss) $ (644 $ 232 $ 110.8 $ $ 69.6

Revenues, cost of services and selling general and administrative expenses have been adjusted in the above table. For a description of
the changes, reference the "Other Revenue" section in Note 2.
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December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information (Continued)
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009
(In millions)

Non- Eliminations
Guarantor Guarantor and
Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries = Adjustments Total
Operating revenues® $ $ 13846 $ 3509 $ $ 11,7355
Operating expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization)* 852.3 149.2 1,001.5
Selling, general and administrative* 26.5 294.0 45.8 366.3
Depreciation and amortization 149.9 22.5 172.4
Total operating expenses 26.5 1,296.2 217.5 1,540.2
Operating profit (loss) (26.5) 88.4 133.4 195.3
Interest expense 113.1 55.0 4.5 172.6
Other (income) expense, net (10.5) (1.1) (11.6)
Intercompany expense (income) (16.0) 16.0
Income (loss) before income taxes (139.6) 59.9 114.0 343
Income taxes (49.6) 22.3 38.4 11.1
Net income (loss) $ (90.0) $ 376 $ 756 $ $ 23.2

Revenues, cost of services and selling general and administrative expenses have been adjusted in the above table. For a description of
the changes, reference the "Other Revenue" section in Note 2.
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KAR Auction Services, Inc.

December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

As of December 31, 2011
(In millions)

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ $ 683 $ 29.1
Restricted cash 8.2
Trade receivables, net of allowances 256.8 59.4
Finance receivables, net of allowances 5.5 127.2
Finance receivables securitized, net of allowances 741.5
Deferred income tax assets 37.5
Other current assets 1.5 49.9 7.1
Total current assets 1.5 418.0 972.5
Other assets
Investments in and advances to affiliates, net 2,475.5 285.5 130.8
Goodwill 1,674.8 4.7
Customer relationships, net of accumulated
amortization 588.6 105.4
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated
amortization 301.4 4.5
Unamortized debt issuance costs 23.5 5.1
Other assets 1.0 9.6 0.6
Total other assets 2,500.0 2,859.9 251.1
Property and equipment, net of accumulated
depreciation 555.4 131.3
Total assets $ 25015 $ 38333 $ 1,354.9
130

Eliminations
and
Adjustments
$ $
(18.8)
(18.8)
(2,891.8)
(2,891.8)
$ (2,910.6) $

Total

97.4
8.2
297.4
132.7
741.5
37.5
58.5

1,373.2

1,679.5
694.0
305.9

28.6
11.2

2,719.2

686.7

4,779.1
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information (Continued)
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2011
(In millions)

Non- Eliminations
Guarantor Guarantor and
Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries = Adjustments Total
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ $ 3517 $ 349 $ (18.8) $  367.8
Accrued employee benefits and compensation
expenses 52.8 4.9 57.7
Accrued interest 2.1 0.2 2.3
Other accrued expenses 0.4 61.5 9.8 71.7
Income taxes payable 0.5 0.5
Obligations collateralized by finance receivables 610.3 610.3
Current maturities of long-term debt 85.9 85.9
Total current liabilities 88.4 466.5 660.1 (18.8) 1,196.2
Non-current liabilities
Investments by and advances from affiliates, net 119.9 (119.9)
Long-term debt 995.4 821.5 1,816.9
Deferred income tax liabilities 300.2 23.7 3239
Other liabilities 82.4 16.5 98.9
Total non-current liabilities 1,115.3 1,204.1 40.2 (119.9) 2,239.7
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity
Total stockholders' equity 1,297.8 2,162.7 654.6 (2,771.9) 1,343.2
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 25015 $ 38333 $  1,3549 $ (2,910.6) $ 4,779.1
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KAR Auction Services, Inc.

December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

As of December 31, 2010
(In millions)

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ $ 993 $ 19.8
Restricted cash 8.6
Trade receivables, net of allowances 233.6 51.6
Finance receivables, net of allowances 7.6 118.6
Finance receivables securitized, net of allowances 635.7
Deferred income tax assets 1.5 39.3
Other current assets 1.2 47.5 3.7
Total current assets 2.7 427.3 838.0
Other assets
Investments in and advances to affiliates, net 2,472.6 292.2 82.3
Goodwill 1,550.1 4.0
Customer relationships, net of accumulated
amortization 605.2 107.4
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated
amortization 261.6 8.2
Unamortized debt issuance costs 41.4
Other assets 10.9 1.0
Total other assets 2,514.0 2,720.0 202.9
Property and equipment, net of accumulated
depreciation 539.1 141.4
Total assets $ 25167 $ 36864 $ 11823
132

Eliminations
and
Adjustments
$ $
(13.3)
(13.3)
(2,847.1)
(2,847.1)
$ (2,860.4) $

Total

119.1
8.6
271.9
126.2
635.7
40.8
524

1,254.7

1,554.1
712.6
269.8

41.4
11.9

2,589.8

680.5

4,525.0
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December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information (Continued)
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet (Continued)

As of December 31, 2010
(In millions)

Non- Eliminations
Guarantor Guarantor and
Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries = Adjustments Total
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ $ 2833 § 177§ (13.3) $ 2877
Accrued employee benefits and compensation
expenses 52.5 4.7 57.2
Accrued interest 9.9 0.2 10.1
Other accrued expenses 3.2 76.4 9.2 88.8
Income taxes payable 0.9 2.0 2.9
Obligations collateralized by finance receivables 520.1 520.1
Total current liabilities 13.1 413.1 553.9 (13.3) 966.8
Non-current liabilities
Investments by and advances from affiliates, net 75.2 (75.2)
Long-term debt 1,054.2 821.5 1,875.7
Deferred income tax liabilities “4.9) 304.2 27.0 326.3
Other liabilities 16.6 88.4 6.6 111.6
Total non-current liabilities 1,141.1 1,214.1 33.6 (75.2) 2,313.6
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity
Total stockholders' equity 1,362.5 2,059.2 594.8 (2,771.9) 1,244.6
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 25167 $ 36864 $ 1,1823 $ (2,860.4) $ 4,525.0

133

135



Edgar Filing: SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

KAR Auction Services, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011
(In millions)

Non- Eliminations
Guarantor Guarantor and
Parent Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
Net cash (used by) provided by operating activities $ 128 $ 2519 $ 41.1  $ $ 3058
Investing activities
Net decrease (increase) in finance receivables held for
investment 2.2 (122.3) (120.1)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (214.6) (214.6)
Purchases of property, equipment and computer software (83.6) 2.2) (85.8)
Proceeds from the sale of property, equipment and computer
software 0.3 0.3
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 0.4 0.4
Net cash (used by) provided by investing activities (295.7) (124.1) (419.8)
Financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in book overdrafts 28.1 4.4 32.5
Net (decrease) increase in borrowings from lines of credit 68.9 68.9
Net increase in obligations collateralized by finance receivables 90.2 90.2
Proceeds from long-term debt 1,691.5 1,691.5
Payments for debt issuance costs/amendments (24.3) 5.2) (1.1) (30.6)
Payments on long-term debt (1,153.1) (1,153.1)
Payments for early extinguishment of debt (600.7) (600.7)
Payments on capital leases (8.0) 0.5) (8.5)
Payments of contingent consideration and deferred acquisition
costs 3.9 3.9
Initial net investment for interest rate caps (1.1) (1.1)
Issuance of common stock under stock plans 6.0 6.0
Excess tax benefits from stock- based compensation 1.8 1.8
Net cash (used by) provided by financing activities (12.8) 12.8 93.0 93.0
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 0.7) 0.7)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (31.0) 9.3 21.7)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 99.3 19.8 119.1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ $ 683 $ 291§ $ 97.4
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Net cash (used by) provided by operating activities

Investing activities

Net decrease (increase) in finance receivables held for investment

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired

Purchases of property, equipment and computer software
Proceeds from the sale of property, equipment and computer
software

Decrease (increase) in restricted cash

Net cash (used by) provided by investing activities
Financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in book overdrafts

Net increase in obligations collateralized by finance receivables
Payments for debt issuance costs/amendments
Payments on long-term debt

Payments for early extinguishment of debt

Payments on capital leases

Payments of contingent consideration

Issuance of common stock under stock plans

Excess tax benefits from stock- based compensation

Net cash (used by) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

(In millions)

135

Non- Eliminations
Guarantor Guarantor and

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
$ 4171 $ (105.5) $ 156.0 $ $ 4676
5.6 (674.6) (669.0)
(48.7) (48.7)
(75.6) 3.3) (78.9)
2.0 2.0
3.7 3.0) 0.7
(113.0) (680.9) (793.9)
(17.1) 0.4 (16.7)
520.1 520.1
(1.3) (1.3)
(103.3) (103.3)
(317.4) (317.4)
(4.6) 0.4) 5.0)
(2.0) 2.0)
4.9 49
1.7 1.7
417.1) (22.0) 520.1 81.0
0.5 0.5
(240.5) 4.3) (244.8)
339.8 24.1 363.9
$ $ 99.3 $ 19.8 $ $ 119.1
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December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Note 22 Supplemental Guarantor Information (Continued)

Net cash (used by) provided by operating activities

Investing activities

(In millions)

Parent

Net decrease (increase) in finance receivables held for investment

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property, equipment and computer software
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash

Net cash (used by) provided by investing activities

Financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in book overdrafts

Net increase (decrease) in borrowings from lines of credit
Payments for debt issuance costs/amendments

Payments on long-term debt

Payments on capital leases

Payments of contingent consideration

Initial net investment for interest rate cap

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock

Net cash provided by (used by) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

5.7
(250.0)

(1.3)

310.3

53.3
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$ (533) $

Non- Eliminations
Guarantor and
Subsidiaries Adjustments
2864 $ 177  $
8.0 (18.6)
(5.5)
(62.6) 3.0)
79
(0.1) 6.7
(52.3) (14.9)
(19.7) 3.3)
4.5)
(2.5) 0.5)
(1.6)
(23.8) (8.3)
0.7
210.3 4.8)
129.5 28.9
3398 $ 241 $

Total
$ 2508

(10.6)

(5.5)

(65.6)
7.9
6.6

(67.2)

(23.0)
4.5)
(5.7)

(250.0)
(3.0)
(1.6)
(1.3)

310.3

21.2
0.7

205.5
158.4

$ 3639
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e). Based upon that evaluation, the
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management's report on our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) and the related report of KPMG LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, are included in Item 8, Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data under the headings Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, respectively, and are incorporated herein by reference.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2011, that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
Employment Agreement with James P. Hallett

On February 27, 2012, KAR Auction Services, Inc. (the "Company") approved the terms of an employment agreement with James P.
Hallett (the "Employment Agreement"), the Company's Chief Executive Officer. The employment period will continue until terminated pursuant
to the terms of the Employment Agreement.

Pursuant to the Employment Agreement, Mr. Hallett is entitled to an annual base salary of $816,000, and will be eligible to participate in
The KAR Auction Services, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan and any other incentive programs (including equity-based incentive programs) available
to executives of the Company. Mr. Hallett will also be entitled to an automobile allowance of at least $25,000 a year and will also receive
standard benefits available to executives of the Company.

In the event of Mr. Hallett's termination of employment by the Company without "cause" or by Mr. Hallett for "good reason," (each as
defined in the Employment Agreement), Mr. Hallett will be entitled to receive, in addition to accrued benefits, cash severance equal to two times
the sum of his (i) base salary and (ii) target bonus for the year in which termination occurs (which, for this purpose, will not be less than 100% of
Mr. Hallett's base salary), payable in a lump sum. Mr. Hallett will also be entitled to a pro-rata bonus and payment of premiums attributable to
maintaining his insurance coverage under COBRA for 18 months (subject to offset for subsequent employment). In addition, Mr. Hallett will be
able to retain all of his Operating Units and Value Units. If any excise tax would be due under Section 4999 of the Code for any payments to
Mr. Hallett, he will be entitled to a gross-up payment for the amount of such excise tax; provided, however, that if a reduction in the payments to
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Mr. Hallett of less 10% of the original amount of such payments would avoid such an excise tax, the payments shall be so reduced.

In the event that Mr. Hallett retires and provided such retirement is announced at least 12 months prior to his termination date and takes
effect no earlier than the third anniversary of the effective date of the Employment Agreement, Mr. Hallett will be entitled to a pro-rata bonus
and will be able to retain all of his Operating Units and Value Units.

Mr. Hallett will be subject to post-termination non-competition and non-solicitation covenants and standard confidentiality provisions. The
non-competition and non-solicitation provisions will expire 24 months following termination and shall not be applicable upon a termination due
to retirement.

A copy of the Employment Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.15 and is incorporated herein by reference. The foregoing
description is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of such exhibit.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information relating to our directors and nominees will be included in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and such information will be incorporated by reference herein. Our executive officers as of February 17, 2012, are as follows:

Brian T. Clingen, 52, Chairman of the Board. Mr. Clingen has been our Chairman of the Board since April 2007. Mr. Clingen also
served as our Chief Executive Officer between April 2007 and September 2009. Mr. Clingen has served as a managing partner of BP Capital
Management since 1998. Established in 1998, BP Capital Management manages private equity investments principally in the service and finance
sectors. Prior to founding BP Capital Management, Mr. Clingen was Chief Financial Officer of Universal Outdoor between 1988 and 1996.
Kelso invested in Universal Outdoor in 1993.

James P. Hallett, 58, Chief Executive Officer and Director. Mr. Hallett has been our Chief Executive Officer since September 2009.
Mr. Hallett was President and Chief Executive Officer of ADESA between April 2007 and September 2009. Mr. Hallett previously served in the
following positions between August 1996 and May 2005: Executive Vice President of ADESA, Inc. from May 2004 to May 2005; President of
ADESA Corporation, LLC from March 2004 to May 2005; President of ADESA Corporation between August 1996 and October 2001 and again
between January 2003 and March 2004; Chief Executive Officer of ADESA Corporation from August 1996 to July 2003; ADESA Corporation's
Chairman from October 2001 to July 2003; Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of ALLETE Automotive Services, Inc. from
January 2001 to January 2003 and Executive Vice President from August 1996 to May 2004. Mr. Hallett left ADESA in May 2005 and
thereafter served as President of the Columbus Fair Auto Auction.

Thomas J. Caruso, 52, President and Chief Executive Officer of ADESA. Mr. Caruso has been President and Chief Executive Officer
of ADESA since September 2009. Mr. Caruso was Chief Operating Officer of ADESA from May 2008 to September 2009. Mr. Caruso also
served as Executive Vice President of ADESA from April 2007 to May 2008 and Regional Vice President of ADESA from January 2000 to
April 2007. From November 1992 to January 2000 Mr. Caruso served as General Manager of ADESA Boston.

Thomas C. O'Brien, 58, Chief Executive Officer of IAA and Director. Mr. O'Brien became Chief Executive Officer of IAA in
November 2000. Mr. O'Brien also served as President of IAA from November 2000 to June 2011. Prior to joining IAA, Mr. O'Brien served as
President of Thomas O'Brien & Associates from 1999 to 2000, Executive Vice President of Safelite Glass
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Corporation from 1998 to 1999, Executive Vice President of Vistar, Inc. from 1996 to 1997 and President of U.S.A. Glass, Inc. from 1992 to
1996. Mr. O'Brien is also a director of the Core Logic Corporation.

Donald S. Gottwald, 45, President and Chief Executive Officer of AFC. Mr. Gottwald has been President and Chief Executive Officer
of AFC since January 2009. Previously, Mr. Gottwald served in the role of Executive Vice President of Dealer Business for HSBC Auto Finance
from December 2005 to October 2008. Prior to working at HSBC Auto Finance, Mr. Gottwald served in several roles of increased responsibility
with GMAC Financial Services from June 1993 to December 2005, including Managing Director of Saab Financial Services Corp. and
Managing Director of American Suzuki Financial Services. Mr. Gottwald has been active in the American Financial Services Association and
has served on the association's board of directors.

Peter J. Kelly, 43, President and Chief Executive Officer of OPENLANE. Mr. Kelly has been President and Chief Executive Officer
of OPENLANE since February 2011. Previously, Mr. Kelly was President and Chief Financial Officer of OPENLANE from February 2010 to
February 2011. Prior to that, Mr. Kelly was Chief Financial Officer of OPENLANE from May 2008 to February 2010. Mr. Kelly was a
co-founder of OPENLANE in 1999 and served in a number of executive roles at OPENLANE from 1999 to 2008.

Eric M. Loughmiller, 52, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Loughmiller has been Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer since April 2007. Previously, from 2001 to 2006, Mr. Loughmiller was the Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of ThoughtWorks, Inc., an information technology consulting firm. Prior to that, Mr. Loughmiller served as Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of May & Speh, Inc. from 1996 to 1998 until May & Speh was acquired by Acxiom Corporation. Mr. Loughmiller
was the finance leader of the Outsourcing Division of Acxiom Corporation from 1998 to 2000. Prior to joining May & Speh, Mr. Loughmiller
was an audit partner with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. Mr. Loughmiller is a certified public
accountant.

Rebecca C. Polak, 41, Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. Ms. Polak has been Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary since April 2007. Ms. Polak previously served as the Assistant General Counsel and Assistant Secretary of
ADESA from February 2005 to April 2007. Prior to joining ADESA, Ms. Polak practiced corporate and securities law with Krieg DeVault in
Indianapolis from 2000 to 2005 and with Haynes and Boone in Dallas from 1995 to 1999.

Benjamin Skuy, 49, Executive Vice President of International Markets and Strategic Initiatives. Mr. Skuy has been Executive Vice
President of International Markets and Strategic Initiatives since September 2009. Mr. Skuy previously served in the following positions
between July 1999 and September 2009: Executive Vice President of International Markets and Managing Director of ADESA Canada from
January 2008 to September 2009; Managing Director and Chief Operating Officer of ADESA Canada from July 2006 to January 2008; Chief
Operating Officer of ADESA Canada from January 2002 to July 2006; and Chief Financial Officer of ADESA Canada from July 1999 to
January 2002. Prior to joining ADESA, Mr. Skuy served as Assistant Vice President at Manulife Financial from June 1998 to July 1999. From
August 1990 to May 1998 he served as Senior Manager at The Bank of Nova Scotia.

David Vignes, 49, Executive Vice President of Enterprise Optimization. Mr. Vignes has been Executive Vice President of Enterprise
Optimization since September 2009. Previously, Mr. Vignes served as Senior Vice President of Operations and Strategic Improvement of
ADESA from July 2007 to August 2009. Prior to joining ADESA, Mr. Vignes served as Senior Vice President at Steiner + Associates, a real
estate development company, from April 2004 to June 2007. From 1991 to
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2004, Mr. Vignes held several executive positions in finance and operations with Disney Corporation companies, such as Disneyland Paris, Walt
Disney World Orlando and the Disney cruise line.

Warren W. Byrd, 49, Executive Vice President of Corporate Development and Real Estate. Mr. Byrd has been Executive Vice
President of Corporate Development and Real Estate since June 2010. Mr. Byrd previously served as the Executive Vice President of Corporate
Development of ADESA from April 2007 to June 2010. From April 2004 to April 2007, Mr. Byrd was the Chief Operating Officer of ServNet
Auction Group, a trade co-operative of over 20 independent auto auctions in the U.S. Mr. Byrd previously served in the following positions
between September 1994 and November 2003: President of ADESA Impact, a salvage auction subsidiary of ADESA, between February 2002
and November 2003; Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer of ADESA between May 2001 and February 2002; Vice President of
Corporate Development of ADESA between January 1999 and May 2001; General Counsel of ADESA between August 1996 and January 1999;
and Legal Counsel of ADESA between September 1994 and August 1996. Prior to joining ADESA, Mr. Byrd practiced law with McHale, Cook
and Welch in Indianapolis from May 1989 to September 1994.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference herein from our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC as set forth under the caption "Documents Incorporated by Reference."

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including those
officers responsible for financial reporting. In addition, we have adopted the Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and Senior Financial
Officers that applies to the Company's principal executive officer, principal financial and accounting officer and such other persons who are
designated by our board of directors. Both codes are available on our Web site at www.karauctionservices.com and available in print to any
stockholder who requests it. Information on, or accessible through, our Web site is not part of this Form 10-K. We expect that any amendments
to these codes, or any waivers of their requirements, will be disclosed on our website.

Controlled Company Exception

KAR LLC controls a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock. The Equity Sponsors and management indirectly own
through their investment in KAR LLC approximately 78% of our common stock. As a result, we are a "controlled company" within the meaning
of the NYSE corporate governance standards. Under the NYSE rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an

individual, group or another company is a "controlled company" and may elect not to comply with certain NYSE corporate governance
standards, including:

the requirement that a majority of the Board of Directors consist of independent directors;

the requirement that we have a nominating/corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent
directors with a written charter addressing the committee's purpose and responsibilities;

the requirement that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written
charter addressing the committee's purpose and responsibilities; and

the requirement for an annual performance evaluation of the nominating/corporate governance and compensation
committees.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated by reference herein from our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC as set forth under the caption "Documents Incorporated by Reference."

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K will be included in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting
and such information will be incorporated by reference herein.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth the aggregate information of our equity compensation plans in effect as of December 31, 2011.

Number of securities

Number of Weighted-average remaining available for
securities to be exercise price of future issuance under
issued upon exercise outstanding equity
of outstanding options, compensation
options, warrants warrants and plans (excluding securities

Plan Category and rights(1) rights(2) reflected in first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holder(s) 9,560,979 $ 11.08 4,046,979
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total 9,560,979 $ 11.08 4,046,979

(1
Includes (a) service and exit options issued under the KAR Auction Services, Inc. 2009 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan, (b) service
and exit options issued under the KAR Auction Services, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan and (c) service and exit options carried over from
the Axle Holdings, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan at the time of the merger on April 20, 2007.

@3
Awards issued post-merger by KAR Auction Services, Inc. have exercise prices ranging from $10.00 to $18.80. Axle Holdings, Inc.
options that were carried over at the merger date have exercise prices ranging from $3.14 to $8.52.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated by reference herein from our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC as set forth under the caption "Documents Incorporated by Reference."

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated by reference herein from our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2012 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC as set forth under the caption "Documents Incorporated by Reference."

141

143



Edgar Filing: SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

a)

The following documents have been filed as part of this report or, where noted, incorporated by reference:

1y

2)

3)

Financial Statements the consolidated financial statements of KAR Auction Services, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries
are filed as part of this report under Item 8.

Financial Statement Schedules all schedules have been omitted because the matter or conditions are not present or the
information required to be set forth therein is included in the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto.

Exhibits the exhibit list in the Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference as the list of exhibits required as part of this
report.

In reviewing the agreements included as exhibits to this Form 10-K, please remember they are included to provide you with
information regarding their terms and are not intended to provide any other factual or disclosure information about KAR
Auction Services, ADESA, IAA or other parties to the agreements.

The agreements included or incorporated by reference as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K contain
representations and warranties by each of the parties to the applicable agreement. These representations and warranties were
made solely for the benefit of the other parties to the applicable agreement and (i) were not intended to be treated as
categorical statements of fact, but rather as a way of allocating the risk to one of the parties if those statements prove to be
inaccurate; (ii) may have been qualified in such agreement by disclosures that were made to the other party in connection
with the negotiation of the applicable agreement; (iii) may apply contract standards of "materiality" that are different from
"materiality" under the applicable securities laws; and (iv) were made only as of the date of the applicable agreement or such
other date or dates as may be specified in the agreement.

The Company acknowledges that, notwithstanding the inclusion of the foregoing cautionary statements, it is responsible for
considering whether additional specific disclosures of material information regarding material contractual provisions are
required to make the statements in this Annual Report not misleading. Additional information about KAR Auction Services
may be found elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and KAR Auction Services' other public filings, which are
available without charge through the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov. See Item 1, "Business Available Information."
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

KAR Auction Services, Inc.

By: /s/ JAMES P. HALLETT

James P. Hallett
Chief Executive Officer
February 28, 2012
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ JAMES P. HALLETT . . i . L
Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal

Executive Officer)

February 28, 2012
James P. Hallett

/s/ ERIC M. LOUGHMILLER Lo . . L . .
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

February 28, 2012
Eric M. Loughmiller

/s DAVID J. AMENT

Director February 28, 2012
David J. Ament
/s/ KELLY J. BARLOW
Director February 28, 2012
Kelly J. Barlow
/s THOMAS J. CARELLA
Director February 28, 2012
Thomas J. Carella
/s/ BRIAN T. CLINGEN
Chairman of the Board and Director February 28, 2012
Brian T. Clingen
/s/ ROBERT M. FINLAYSON
Director February 28, 2012
Robert M. Finlayson
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Signature

/s/ PETER R. FORMANEK

Peter R. Formanek

/sf MICHAEL B. GOLDBERG

Michael B. Goldberg

/s/ SANJEEV MEHRA

Sanjeev Mehra

/s CHURCH M. MOORE

Church M. Moore

/st THOMAS C. O'BRIEN

Thomas C. O'Brien

/sl GREGORY P. SPIVY

Gregory P. Spivy

/s JONATHAN P. WARD

Jonathan P. Ward

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Title

Date

February 28, 2012

February 28, 2012

February 28, 2012

February 28, 2012

February 28, 2012

February 28, 2012

February 28, 2012
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Exhibit
No.
3.1

32

4.1a

4.1b

4.1c

4.1d

4.1e

4.1f

4.1g

4.1h

4.1i

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of KAR Auction
Services, Inc.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of KAR Auction Services, Inc.

Indenture, dated April 20, 2007 (the "Floating Senior Indenture"),
among KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.),
the guarantors from time to time parties thereto and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as Trustee, for $150,000,000 Floating
Rate Senior Notes due 2014

Supplemental Indenture, dated December 26, 2007, to the Floating
Senior Indenture

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated January 22, 2008, to the
Floating Senior Indenture

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated May 6, 2008, to the Floating
Senior Indenture

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated September 30, 2008, to the
Floating Senior Indenture

Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated March 26, 2009, to the Floating
Senior Indenture

Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated February 23, 2010, to the
Floating Senior Indenture

Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated July 27, 2010, to the
Floating Senior Indenture

Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated November 23, 2010, to the
Floating Senior Indenture
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Form

S-1/A

S-1/A

S-4

S-4

S-1/A

S-1/A

S-1/A

S-1

10-K

10-K
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Incorporated by Reference

File No.
333-161907

333-161907

333-148847

333-148847

333-148847

333-158666

333-158666

333-158666

333-166047

001-34568

001-34568

Exhibit

3.1

32

4.1

4.4

4.9

4.12a

4.13a

4.14a

4.9a

4.1h

4.1i

Filing Date
12/10/2009

12/10/2009

1/25/2008

1/25/2008

1/25/2008

6/17/2009

6/17/2009

6/17/2009

4/13/2010

2/24/2011

2/24/2011

Filed
Herewith
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit  Filing Date = Herewith
4.2 Exchange and Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 20, 2007, S-4 333-148847 4.7 1/25/2008
between KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR
Holdings, Inc.), the guarantors as named in the respective Floating
Senior Indenture, the Fixed Senior Indenture and Senior
Subordinated Indenture, and Goldman, Sachs & Co., Bear
Stearns & Co. Inc., UBS Securities LLC, and Deutsche Bank
Securities Inc., as representatives of the several initial purchasers, for
$150,000,000 Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2014, $450,000,000
83/4% Senior Notes due 2014 and $425,000,000 10% Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2015

4.3 Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 20, 2007, among KAR S-4 333-148847 4.8 1/25/2008
Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.), KAR
Holdings II, LLC, certain employees of KAR Auction Services, Inc.
or its subsidiaries and each of their respective Permitted Transferees

4.4 Form of common stock certificate S-1/A 333-161907 4.15 12/10/2009

10.1 Credit Agreement, dated May 19, 2011, among KAR Auction 10-Q 001-34568 10.1 8/9/2011
Services, Inc., as borrower, the lenders party thereto, JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC, as sole lead arranger, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC,
Goldman Sachs Lending Partners LLC, Barclays Capital and
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., as joint bookrunners, Goldman Sachs
Lending Partners LLC, as syndication agent, and Barclays Bank PLC
and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., as co-documentation agents

10.2 Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated May 19, 2011, made by 10-Q 001-34568 10.2 8/9/2011
KAR Auction Services, Inc. and certain of its Subsidiaries in favor
of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent under the
Credit Agreement
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Exhibit
No.
10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6a"

10.6b™

10.6¢c*

10.7

Exhibit Description
Intellectual Property Security Agreement, dated May 19, 2011,
made by KAR Auction Services, Inc., ADESA, Inc., Automotive
Finance Corporation, Automotive Finance Consumer Division, LLC
and Insurance Auto Auctions, Inc., in favor of JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for the secured parties (as
defined in the Credit Agreement)

Letter Agreement, dated February 24, 2010, between KAR LLC and
Thomas C. O'Brien, David R. Montgomery, Donald J. Hermanek,
Scott P. Pettit, John Kett, John Nordin and Sidney Kerley

Conversion Option Plan of KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly
KAR Holdings, Inc.)

Form of Conversion Stock Option Agreement, dated April 20, 2007,
between KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.)
and each of Thoma C. O'Brien, David R. Montgomery, Donald J.
Hermanek, Scott P. Pettit, John Kett, John Nordin and Sidney
Kerley

Form of Amendment to Conversion Stock Option Agreement, dated
October 30, 2007, between KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly
KAR Holdings, Inc.) and each of Thomas C. O'Brien, David R.
Montgomery, Donald J. Hermanek and Scott P. Pettit

Form of Amendment to Conversion Stock Option Agreements,
dated February 19, 2009, between KAR Auction Services, Inc.
(formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and each of Thomas C. O'Brien,
David R. Montgomery, Donald J. Hermanek and Scott P. Pettit

Form of Rollover Stock Option Agreement, dated April 20, 2007,
between KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.)
and certain executive officers and employees of IAA

147

Form

10-Q

10-K

S-1/A

S-4

10-K

S-4

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit

File No.
001-34568

001-34568

333-158666

333-148847

333-148847

333-148847

333-148847

10.3

10.5

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.10

10.12

Filing Date
8/9/2011

2/25/2010

6/17/2009

1/25/2008

1/25/2008

3/11/2009

1/25/2008

Filed
Herewith
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Exhibit
No.
10.8*

10.9

10.10*

10.11a*

10.11b™

10.11c*

10.12*

10.132"

10.13b*

10.14™

10.15%

Exhibit Description Form
Form of Conversion Agreement, dated April 20, 2007, between S-1/A
KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and
certain executive officers and employees of IAA

KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) Stock S-8
Incentive Plan

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement of KAR Auction S-4
Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) pursuant to the Stock
Incentive Plan

Employment Agreement, dated July 13, 2007, between KAR S-4
Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and John
Nordin

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated August 14, 2007, S-4
between KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR
Holdings, Inc.) and John Nordin

Severance, Release and Waiver Agreement, dated February 18, 10-K
2011, between KAR Auction Services, Inc. and John Nordin

Letter Agreement dated December 3, 2008, between KAR Auction 10-K
Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.), Automotive Finance
Corporation and Donald S. Gottwald

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated April 2, S-4
2001, between Thomas C. O'Brien and Insurance Auto
Auctions, Inc.

Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, 10-K
dated December 1, 2008, between Thomas C. O'Brien and
Insurance Auto Auctions, Inc.

Severance and Consulting Agreement, dated August 15, 2011,
between Peter Kelly and ADESA, Inc.

Employment Agreement, dated February 27, 2012, between KAR
Auction Services, Inc. and James P. Hallett
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Incorporated by Reference Filed
File No. Exhibit  Filing Date  Herewith
333-158666 10.13 6/17/2009

333-164032 10.1 12/24/2009

333-148847  10.15 1/25/2008

333-148847  10.16 1/25/2008

333-148847  10.17 1/25/2008

001-34568  10.12c  2/24/2011

001-34568 10.15 2/25/2010

333-148847  10.22 1/25/2008

333-148847  10.31 3/11/2009
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Exhibit
No.
10.16a"

10.16b

10.16¢

10.16d

10.17a

10.17b

10.17¢c

10.18™*

10.192"

10.19b

10.19¢

10.194"

Exhibit Description Form
Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company S-1/A
Agreement of KAR Holdings II, LLC, dated April 20, 2007

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Limited
Liability Company Agreement of KAR Holdings II, LLC, dated
December 10, 2009

Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Limited
Liability Company Agreement of KAR Holdings II, LLC, dated
December 15, 2009

Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Limited
Liability Company Agreement of KAR Holdings II, LLC, dated
February 27, 2012

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of S-1/A
Axle Holdings II, LLC, dated May 25, 2005

Amendment to the Amended and Restated Limited Liability S-4
Company Agreement of Axle Holdings II, LLC, dated November 2,
2006

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Limited Liability S-4
Company Agreement of Axle Holdings II, LLC, dated April 20,
2007

KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) Annual 10-K
Incentive Program

Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated May 31, S-4
2002, between AFC Funding Corporation and Automotive Finance
Corporation

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale S-4
Agreement, dated June 15, 2004

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale S-4
Agreement, dated January 18, 2007

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale S-4
Agreement, dated April 20, 2007
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File No.
333-158666

333-158666

333-148847

333-148847

333-148847

333-148847

333-148847

333-148847

333-148847

Exhibit
10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.29

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

Filing Date
7/2/2009

6/17/2009

1/25/2008

1/25/2008

3/11/2009

1/25/2008

1/25/2008

1/25/2008

1/25/2008

Filed
Herewith
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Exhibit
No.
10.19¢

10.19f

10.20a"

10.20b

10.20¢"

10.21"

10.22a

10.22b

10.23a

Exhibit Description
Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale
Agreement, dated January 30, 2009

Amendment No. 5 to Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale
Agreement, dated April 25, 2011

Fourth Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement,
dated April 26, 2011, among AFC Funding Corporation,
Automotive Finance Corporation, Fairway Finance Company, LLC,
Monterey Funding LLC, Salisbury Receivables Company LLC,
Deutsche Bank AG, New York Branch, Barclays Bank PLC and
BMO Capital Markets Corp.

Amendment No. 1 to Fourth Amended and Restated Receivables
Purchase Agreement, dated May 20, 2011

Amendment No. 2 to Fourth Amended and Restated Receivables
Purchase Agreement, dated October 12, 2011

Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated
May 24, 2011, among KAR Auction Services, Inc., Automotive
Finance Canada Inc. and BNY Trust Company of Canada

Ground Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between ADESA San
Diego, LLC and First Industrial L.P. (East 39 Acres at Otay Mesa,
California)

Guaranty of Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between KAR
Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and First
Industrial L.P. (East 39 Acres at Otay Mesa, California)

Ground Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between ADESA San
Diego, LLC and First Industrial L.P. (West 39 Acres at Otay Mesa,
California)
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Exhibit
No.
10.23b

10.24a

10.24b

10.25a

10.25b

10.26a

10.26b

10.27a

10.27b

10.28a

Exhibit Description
Guaranty of Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between KAR Auction
Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and First
Industrial L.P. (West 39 Acres at Otay Mesa, California)

Ground Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between ADESA
California, LLC and ADESA San Diego, LLC and First Industrial
Pennsylvania, L.P. (Sacramento, California)

Guaranty of Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between KAR Auction
Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and First Industrial
Pennsylvania, L.P. (Sacramento, California)

Ground Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between ADESA
California, LLC and First Industrial Pennsylvania, L.P. (Tracy,
California)

Guaranty of Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between KAR Auction
Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and First Industrial
Pennsylvania, L.P. (Tracy, California)

Ground Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between ADESA
Washington, LL.C and First Industrial, L.P. (Auburn, Washington)

Guaranty of Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between KAR Auction
Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and First
Industrial, L.P. (Auburn, Washington)

Ground Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between ADESA
Texas, Inc. and First Industrial, L.P. (Houston, Texas)

Guaranty of Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between KAR Auction
Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and First
Industrial, L.P. (Houston, Texas)

Ground Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between ADESA
Florida, LLC and First Industrial Financing Partnership, L.P.
(Bradenton, Florida)
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10.32a*

10.32b"

10.32¢*

10.33*

10.34"
10.35"
10.36"

10.37

Exhibit Description
Guaranty of Lease, dated September 4, 2008, between KAR
Auction Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and First
Industrial Financing Partnership, L.P. (Bradenton, Florida)

Ground Sublease, dated October 3, 2008, between ADESA
Atlanta, LLC and First Industrial, L.P. (Fairburn, Georgia)

Guaranty of Lease, dated October 3, 2008, between KAR Auction
Services, Inc. (formerly KAR Holdings, Inc.) and First
Industrial, L.P. (Fairburn, Georgia)

Director Designation Agreement, dated December 10, 2009, among
KAR Auction Services, Inc. (formerly known as KAR
Holdings, Inc.) and KAR Holdings II, LLC

Form of KAR Auction Services, Inc. 2009 Omnibus Stock and
Incentive Plan

Form of KAR Auction Services, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Amendment No. 1 to KAR Auction Services, Inc. Employee Stock
Purchase Plan dated March 31, 2010

Amendment No. 2 to KAR Auction Services, Inc. Employee Stock
Purchase Plan dated April 1, 2010

KAR Auction Services, Inc. Directors Deferred Compensation Plan,
effective December 10, 2009

Form of Director Restricted Share Agreement
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement
Form of Restricted Share Agreement

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of August 15, 2011 by and
among ADESA, Inc., Riley Acquisition, Inc., KAR Auction
Services, Inc., OPENLANE, Inc. and Shareholder Representative
Services LLC, as the securityholders representative
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Exhibit Description
Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Subsidiaries of KAR Auction Services, Inc.

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
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Portions of this exhibit have been redacted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed separately with the Secretary of the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Denotes management contract or compensation plan, contract or arrangement.

Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed furnished and not filed or part
of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed

furnished and not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject
to liability under those sections.
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